

# THE NATIONAL RESEARCH CENTER ON THE GIFTED AND TALENTED

University of Connecticut University of Virginia Yale University







Middle School Classrooms: Teachers' Reported Practices and Student Perceptions

> Tonya R. Moon Carolyn M. Callahan Carol A. Tomlinson Erin M. Miller University of Virginia Charlottesville, Virginia

> > December 2002 RM02164

# Middle School Classrooms: Teachers' Reported Practices and Student Perceptions

Tonya R. Moon Carolyn M. Callahan Carol A. Tomlinson Erin M. Miller University of Virginia Charlottesville, Virginia

> December 2002 RM02164

# THE NATIONAL RESEARCH CENTER ON THE GIFTED AND TALENTED

The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented (NRC/GT) is funded under the Jacob K. Javits Gifted and Talented Students Education Act, Institute of Education Sciences, United States Department of Education.

The Directorate of the NRC/GT serves as an administrative and a research unit and is located at the University of Connecticut.

The participating universities include the University of Virginia and Yale University, as well as a research unit at the University of Connecticut.

University of Connecticut Dr. Joseph S. Renzulli, Director Dr. E. Jean Gubbins, Associate Director Dr. Sally M. Reis, Associate Director

University of Virginia Dr. Carolyn M. Callahan, Associate Director

Yale University Dr. Robert J. Sternberg, Associate Director

Copies of this report are available from: NRC/GT University of Connecticut 2131 Hillside Road Unit 3007 Storrs, CT 06269-3007

> Visit us on the web at: www.gifted.uconn.edu

The work reported herein was supported under the Educational Research and Development Centers Program, PR/Award Number R206R000001, as administered by the Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. The findings and opinions expressed in this report do not reflect the position or policies of the Institute of Education Sciences or the U.S. Department of Education.

### Note to Readers...

All papers by The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented may be reproduced in their entirety or in sections. All reproductions, whether in part or whole, should include the following statement:

> The work reported herein was supported under the Educational Research and Development Centers Program, PR/Award Number R206R000001, as administered by the Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. The findings and opinions expressed in this report do not reflect the position or policies of the Institute of Education Sciences or the U.S. Department of Education.

This document has been reproduced with the permission of The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented.

If sections of the papers are printed in other publications, please forward a copy to:

The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented University of Connecticut 2131 Hillside Road Unit 3007 Storrs, CT 06269-3007

Please Note: Papers may not be reproduced by means of electronic media.

## Middle School Classrooms: Teachers' Reported Practices and Student Perceptions

Tonya R. Moon Carolyn M. Callahan Carol A. Tomlinson Erin M. Miller University of Virginia Charlottesville, Virginia

### ABSTRACT

Middle school teachers' reported classroom practices, middle school students' perceptions of classroom practice, and the alignment of reported practices and perceptions with the middle school movement's orientation towards student achievement form the foci of this study. As part of a larger study looking at two different interventions for addressing the academic diversity of middle school learners (Callahan, Tomlinson, Moon, Brighton, & Hertberg, in preparation), teachers in participating schools were asked to complete a middle school practices survey. Students completed a parallel survey on their perceptions of their classrooms. In addition to reporting teacher and student responses to the surveys, comparisons between teacher reported practices and student perceptions as well as comparisons with the 1995 national study of middle school teacher practices (Moon, Tomlinson, & Callahan, 1995) are provided in this monograph. Examination of teacher practices and student perceptions in addressing academic diversity in middle school classrooms evolved from examining the literature on: (a) characteristics of middle school students, (b) student achievement goals in the middle school, (c) middle school curriculum, instruction and assessment practices, (d) accommodating academic diversity in the middle school classroom, and (e) student grouping.

Findings replicate what was previously found in the 1995 NRC/GT study as well as provide unique findings relative to the particular interventions implemented as part of the larger NRC/GT study. Consistent with the 1995 study findings, teachers report that learning contracts, tiered assignments, advanced organizers, computer programs focusing on basic skills or advanced understanding, curriculum compacting, learning centers, flexible grouping, or interest centers are rarely used in their middle school classrooms. In contrast to the 1995 study findings, state curriculum standards, local curriculum guides, and key concepts and principles of core disciplines are considered the three most important factors in determining instructional content taught by teachers.

Findings unique to the study indicate the majority of teachers report using example activities and observations to modify the content of activities, types of products required of students, and student grouping arrangements; yet a large portion of teachers also indicate never tailoring an assignment for students or varying materials based on student readiness levels. Instead, lecture, direct instruction to the whole class using the state standards and local curriculum guides, is the predominant reported modality of teaching.

Students indicated, consistent with teachers' responses, that the instructional content of their classes was textbook driven and focused on student success for more formal assessments (e.g., end-of-unit tests, standardized tests). Students also indicated whole group instruction supported by note taking and all students working on the same assignment as the predominant format of their classrooms.

## Middle School Classrooms: Teachers' Reported Practices and Student Perceptions

Tonya R. Moon Carolyn M. Callahan Carol A. Tomlinson Erin M. Miller University of Virginia Charlottesville, Virginia

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

# **Review of the Literature**

One of the most pivotal concerns voiced in the literature on the middle school is the lack of academic rigor (Beane, 1999; Gallagher, Harradine, & Coleman, 1997; Tucker, & Codding, 1998; Williamson, Johnston, & Kanthak, 1995). Tucker and Codding (1998) recently called middle schools "the wasteland of our primary and secondary landscape" (p. 153). Specific criticisms concerning the lack of academic progress of middle school students include:

- a lack of curricular focus on core academic courses and analytical skills leading students to focus away from school and even become alienated from it;
- a lack of preparation for either high school or meaningful employment;
- a dramatic increase in inflexible ability grouping as children enter middle school, restricting at-risk students' access to challenging curricula and contributing to subsequent low achievement (Ames, 1998; Argetsinger, 1999; Carnegie Council on Adolescent Development, 1989; McEwin, Dickinson, & Jenkins, 1996).

Some critics have suggested that overemphasizing social, psychological, physical, and emotional needs of middle school students has contributed to schools that do not academically challenge students. In apparent response to these criticisms, the most significant change in the 2000 edition of *Turning Points* is the designation of student success and achievement as the primary goal, and as a more important goal than any other recommendation made. Jackson and Davis (2000) explicitly stated, "Let us be clear. The main purpose of middle grades education is to promote young adolescents' intellectual development" (p. 10). All other recommendations in *Turning Points 2000*, including those related to social and emotional development, are designed to lead to the goal of student intellectual development.

### **Student Achievement Goals**

Middle school programs are faced with criticism due to the perception that they have improved students' sense of emotional well-being but have yet to emphasize academic understanding and challenge (Beane, 1999; Clark & Clark, 2000; Lipsitz, Jackson, & Austin, 1997; Lipsitz, Mizell, Jackson, & Austin, 1997; Midgley & Edelin, 1998; Williamson et al., 1995). These criticisms have become more prevalent due to the recent movement towards accountability and high-stakes testing, as well as recent international reports of student achievement (Callahan, Tomlinson, Reis, & Kaplan, 2000).

It becomes critical that the middle school movement finds ways where the principles of affective development and the need for achievement results can co-exist (Midgley & Edelin, 1998). However, in negotiating this balance it is important that middle schools do not abandon the gains made in creating healthy social and emotional environments. Schools with high levels of academic rigor and high levels of social support have been found to achieve greater reading and math gains than schools that are focused only on one or the other dimension (Lee, Smith, Perry, & Smylie, 1999).

### Middle School Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment

Quality curriculum in the middle school articulates a clear set of goals for learning that reflect both deep, conceptual understanding of the subject area and mastery of skills needed for increasingly expert performance (Goldsmith & Kantrov, 2000). A rigorous curriculum offers students a coherent view of the subject area by providing connections that help students see and appreciate the recurring themes, ideas, and methodologies of the discipline instead of only isolated pieces (Goldsmith & Kantrov, 2000). It provides opportunities for connections between classroom study and real-world applications, helping students to recognize the practical utility of their developing knowledge (Goldsmith & Kantrov, 2000). A rigorous curriculum requires products that are useful and applicable to the real world that arise from a variety of assessment techniques including performance tasks, projects, and portfolios (Beane, 1999; Brandt, 1998; Erickson, 1998; Jackson & Davis, 2000; Maker & Neilson, 1995; Manning, 2000; National Middle School Association, 1995; Stix, 2000; Tomlinson, 2001; Wiggins & McTighe, 1998).

Research suggests that classroom practices are characterized by one general curriculum with teachers relying on traditional teacher-directed, whole class instruction (George, 2001; Moon, Tomlinson, & Callahan, 1995). Presentation, question-and-answer opportunities, practice drills and re-teaching compose the most common instructional sequence in middle school classrooms (George, 2001; Moon et al., 1995). Studies of schools across the nation find very little differentiation of instruction or flexible grouping taking place, despite the predominant use of heterogeneous classes (Moon, et al., 1995; Plucker & McIntire, 1996; Westberg, Archambault, Dobyns, & Salvin, 1993). These findings are in direct contrast with school organizational structures (e.g., interdisciplinary teams) that have been deliberately implemented in the middle school to support

collaboration among school faculty, for focusing on individual students' differences, and for the sharing and pooling of expertise (Moon et al., 1995).

### Academic Diversity in the Middle School

Despite recommendations from national organizations and scholars that teachers work to accommodate student academic diversity within their classrooms through curriculum and instructional modifications (Jackson, & Davis, 2000; Manning, 2000; National Middle School Association, 1995), they do not appear to be using strategies that could benefit diverse learners on a regular basis in the classroom (Moon et al., 1995). This disregard of academic diversity affects students on both ends of the ability spectrum. While students with learning difficulties and other differently-abled students require modifications of curriculum and instruction to achieve success, advanced learners also require curricular modifications to reach their potential. Middle schools have been justifiably criticized for not providing services for the gifted (Tomlinson, 1994).

In a study of high achieving middle schools, Peterson (2001) found frequent use of tracking, with all schools tracking in math and many in language arts. George (2001), in a recent study of Florida middle schools, found that the vast majority of middle schools provided advanced classes in at least math and language arts, if not also social studies and science, for gifted and high-ability students. The use of special classes is also supported by findings that middle school teachers and principals continue to believe that special classes are appropriate for remedial, special education, and advanced learners (Moon et al., 1995). However, the use of tracked classes is counter to one of the key principles of the middle school movement, heterogeneously grouped classes.

### **Student Grouping in Middle Schools**

Heterogeneous grouping of students is one of the hallmarks of the middle school movement as a consequence of the rejection of tracking students by ability (Jackson & Davis, 2000; National Middle School Association, 1995). Advocates for eliminating tracking are concerned about the effect of lowered expectations on homogenously grouped struggling students and the disruption caused by grouping gifted students together for portions of the day (Sapon-Shevin, 1996), despite evidence that gifted students benefit from being grouped together (Kulik & Kulik, 1997; Lando & Schneider, 1997; Rogers, 1998).

Although structural changes have occurred within middle schools, such as the use of heterogeneous home groups within the school, it seems that little has changed in the ways students are taught. Changes in structure without changes in curricula have been implicated as part of the reasons that middle schools have not accomplished their achievement goals (Beane, 2001; Dickenson, 2001; Midgley & Edelin, 1998).

### Key Questions Related to Academic Diversity in the Middle School

As indicated earlier, this study is part of a larger study on addressing academic diversity as well as an update to a national study reported in 1995 on educators' beliefs and practices in addressing academic diversity in the middle school by The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented (NRC/GT) at the University of Virginia. Key questions for the current study include:

### **Teacher Questions**

- To what degree do middle school classrooms appear to engage in developmentally appropriate structures and practices likely to address the wide range of academic readiness, interests, and learning profiles inevitable in middle level populations?
- What is the nature of the curriculum and instruction at the middle level and to what degree does it seem appropriately responsive to academic diversity?
- How do middle school teachers enact the concept of differentiating or modifying curriculum and instruction based on learner readiness, interest, and learning profile?

### **Student Questions**

• Are students' response patterns of their perceptions about their classrooms consistent with what is reported by teachers?

### **Study Design**

### Sample

### States

Middle schools (grades 6-8) were invited to participate from the Collaborative School District Database of the NRC/GT based on the state testing programs in place at the time the study was planned. Schools that participated in the study represented three states with two states located on the East Coast and one in the Southwest. Information reported by each state's chief school officer (state superintendent) in the annual Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO) state assessment program survey (CCSSO, 2000) was used to create the overviews of these states' testing programs which follow. While the original intent of the study was to classify each state according to the type of accountability tied to student outcomes, it became apparent early on in the study that regardless of the type of accountability reported by the CCSSO, teachers in all states considered the assessment programs in their states to be high-stakes. Therefore, we could not clearly control for differences in the testing environments across the three states.

### Schools

Nine middle schools participated in the project representing four school districts in the three states described above. Schools were located in two small urban school districts, a large suburban school district, and a large urban school district.

Each school was designated as a treatment site: differentiation and assessment, differentiated authentic assessment only, or comparison. Within each school, one interdisciplinary team of teachers at each grade level participated. Students who were assigned to the participating team served as the student sample. State One contained three schools, each representing a treatment (differentiation, assessment, and comparison); State Two contained four schools representing each treatment, with the assessment treatment having two schools; and State Three contained two schools, with only the differentiation and comparison treatments represented.

### Instrumentation

### **Middle School Teacher Questionnaire**

The middle school teacher questionnaire used in this study was a modification of a survey used previously in a nationwide sample of middle school teachers (Moon, et al., 1995). The questionnaire contained 13 pages of questions that solicited information on (a) the background of the teacher, (b) the teacher's beliefs about classroom issues, and (c) the teacher's curriculum, instructional, and assessment practices.

### Middle School Student Content Questionnaires

These questionnaires were developed to assess students' perceptions in each of their classrooms in each subject areas (Language Arts, Math, Science, and Social Studies). All questionnaires contained the same items with the only difference being the specific content area being inquired about. Several questions on these questionnaires mimicked questions on the teacher questionnaire. This was done to obtain the students' perceptions on the same issues that we had presented to the teachers.

### Attrition

The study was designed to follow the same set of teachers in each school over a 3year span across two treatment groups, differentiated instruction or differentiated authentic assessment, and a comparison group. However, the study experienced very high attrition rates among teachers. Due to high mobility of teachers and local redistricting efforts, some teachers were replaced each year of the study. In other cases, teachers self-transferred or were transferred out of the school, transferred or were transferred to another team within the school that was not participating in the study, or simply stopped participating. At the conclusion of the study there were a total of 76 teachers.

### **Student Demographics**

The actual implementation of the project in the schools occurred over a 3-year period. The study was designed to follow the same set of teachers in each school with three different cohorts of students across a 3-year span. Cohort one was those students who participated in the study for 2 years (n=724). Within this cohort were two different grade levels, students beginning in grade 6 (n=352) and students beginning in grade 7 (n=372). Cohort two was those students who participated in the study of those students who participated in the study for 3 years (n=314). This cohort was composed only of those students who entered the study as sixth graders and exited as eighth graders. Cohort three was those students who participated in the study for 1 year. This cohort was composed of 923 sixth graders and 74 eighth graders. One school requested that eighth grade students be tested in the first year of the project.

### **Data Collection**

Baseline data were collected in the fall of the second year of the study for students in grades 6 and 7; in Years 3, 4, and 5 students were re-assessed in the spring as they exited each participating middle school.

### **Data Analysis**

*Teacher questionnaire*. All teachers participating in the study were asked to complete the Middle School Teacher Questionnaire (MSTQ) prior to the project beginning or during their first year if they did not start the project in the first year. Teachers were also asked to complete the MSTQ at the end of the project.

Many teachers who completed the MSTQ prior to the larger project's implementation did not complete the MSTQ at the conclusion of the project due to attrition. Hence, pre-post project comparisons were not possible. However, using a two factor between subjects design (state and treatment), a series of analyses of variance procedures (ANOVAs), controlling for Type I error, were conducted to determine if statistically significant differences existed on the teachers' responses to the pre-project survey questions between states or treatments. No statistically significant differences were found. Because there were no statistical differences in responses, teachers' responses across states and treatments were aggregated and only descriptive statistics were computed. To avoid any misinterpretations of the data because of teacher attrition rates only the pre-project survey are presented.

*Student questionnaire*. Using a two-factor between subjects design (state and treatment), a series of ANOVAs, controlling for Type I error, were conducted to determine if statistically significant differences existed.

Because there were no differences in student responses within cohorts or within schools for any content area, all cohorts and schools were collapsed for each content area. For each content area survey, descriptive analyses were performed item-by-item. (Upon request individual cohort or school descriptive statistics can be obtained.)

### Results

Student responses to many of the questions were similar regardless of subject area considered. Teacher's responses sometimes confirmed and sometimes differed from the pattern of responses of the students.

The majority of students in all classrooms reported listening to the teacher lecture, working alone on drills, and working on the same assignment as other students daily. In addition, students reported working alone on individual contracts and participating in class discussions where the teacher seemed interested in new ways of solving problems at least weekly. The majority of students also reported never having individual conferences with the teachers.

Teachers' responses also reflected the student responses about typical instructional practice in all subject area classrooms. The majority of teachers reported using learning contracts less than once per year and using independent studies only twice a year or less. Teachers also indicated using lecture, whole group and small heterogeneous group working on the same assignment at least weekly, while individuals and small heterogeneous group working on the same assignment were used less often.

Students from all areas also reported teachers used example activities and performance on classroom activities to assess what they already knew prior to instruction at least weekly. However, the majority of students reported they were never allowed to skip an assignment because they already knew the material, never received different materials or assignments from other students, and were never allowed choices in selecting a project or class work. Teachers agreed with students on the type of preassessment strategies used and the frequency of their use. Teachers also reported they never or rarely used student choices with advanced learners or struggling learners. However, teachers indicated they used varying materials based on students reading level, and adjusted the time, length or depth of the assignment at least monthly for both groups of learners.

Students in all areas reported they were often or always able to keep up with the instruction and assignments. The majority of students reported the teacher often or always taught material so that the students could pass the end of chapter tests, and nearly half of the students reported lessons were often or always based directly on the textbook. Additionally, students indicated rarely or never were their interests considered in what they learned or activities they did, nor were they allowed choices about what they learn. Teachers agreed that the textbook was frequently used, however, in contrast to student responses, teachers believed students' interests were addressed. The majority of teachers indicated textbooks and student questions and interests were important or extremely important in determining the content they taught.

Most students agreed or strongly agreed they worked well independently, worked best for a grade honor or privilege, showed their best learning when they did a project or

took multiple-choice tests. In addition, students agreed or strongly agreed they preferred learning activities that would aid them in remembering information for later testing times, as well as activities where new, creative or very different ideas are encouraged, listened to, and discussed. Students in all content areas agreed or strongly agreed they were learning things that were important to them, they were working to their potential, and they preferred to work with students who shared similar interests. Furthermore, students agreed or strongly agreed they liked the opportunity to revise their work before the final grade, there was more to a subject than getting the right answer, but the teacher tended to think that there was a best way to answer a question. Teacher responses suggested there was not a match between the student's preferred learning style and the teaching style. In contrast to student preferences, teachers indicated rarely or never using flexible grouping based on student interest with advanced learners, and only sometimes with struggling learners. Teachers reported using projects to assess student achievement twice a month or less. Teachers also reported inconsistent use of multiple choice items, with 50% indicating using these items sometimes to never, while the other 50% used multiple choice items often or always.

The majority of students reported the teacher was often or always the decision maker when it came to grades. However, a large percentage of students indicated the teacher only sometimes clearly explained the grading criteria. Students from all areas indicated tests, assignments, projects, hard work, and individual improvement were all very important in determining their grade. In addition, students reported how they did compared to other students was not important. Teacher responses on grading issues tended to agree with the student responses. The majority of teachers reported the teacher was often or always the sole decision maker when it came to grades. Teachers also indicated tests, projects, homework, class participation, and individual improvement were all important or extremely important in determining grades. However, teachers reported effort was extremely important, while how the student did compared to the rest of the class was only somewhat important.

### Conclusions

Although this study provides only a glimpse into teachers' classrooms, several conclusions seem warranted.

- There appears to be room for improvement in developing teachers' skills in addressing academic diversity in middle school classrooms.
- Teachers' make little use of strategies (instructional or structural) that would enable the academic diversity of students to be better addressed.

The degree that teachers' practices are narrow in scope at the pre-assessment, instructional and summative phases of instruction have a strong hold and are persuasive in the school environment which may in fact be one of the biggest obstacles in moving teachers toward addressing academic diversity. Results from this study suggest that teachers practice traditional schooling that should be questioned and re-examined prior to them being able to consider an educational innovation such as differentiation of instruction and/or the use of differentiated authentic assessments for addressing the varying levels of student academic diversity in the middle school classroom.

### References

- Ames, N. L. (1998) *Middle-grades curriculum, instruction, and assessment*. Paper presented for the Office of Educational Research and Improvement on Early Adolescence, Washington, DC.
- Argetsinger, A. (1999, April 28). Maryland panel rethinks middle schools. *Washington Post*, p. B1.
- Beane, J. A. (2001). Reform and reinvention. In T. S. Dickenson (Ed.), *Reinventing the middle school* (pp. xiiv-xxii). New York: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Beane, J. A. (1999). Middle schools under siege: Points of attack. *Middle School Journal*, 30(4), 3-9.
- Brandt, R. (1998). *Powerful learning*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Callahan, C. M., Tomlinson, C. A., Moon, T. R., Brighton, C. M., & Hertberg, H. L. (in preparation). Feasibility of high-end learning in the diverse middle school.
- Callahan, C. M., Tomlinson, C. A., Reis, S. N., & Kaplan, S. N. (2000). TIMSS and high ability students: Message of doom or opportunity for reflection? *Phi Delta Kappan*, *81*, 787-790.
- Carnegie Council on Adolescent Development. (1989). *Turning points: Preparing American youth for the 21st century* (Abridged Version). Washington DC: Author.
- Clark, D. C., & Clark, S. N. (2000). Developmentally responsive curriculum and standards-based reform: Implications for middle level principals. *NASSP Bulletin*, 84(615), 1-13.
- Council of Chief State School Officers. (2000). State student assessment programs annual survey, Spring 2001. Washington, DC: Author.
- Dickenson, T. S. (2001). Reinventing the middle school. New York: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Erickson, H. L. (1998). Concept-based curriculum and instruction: Teaching beyond the facts. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.
- Gallagher, J., Harradine, C. C., & Coleman, M. R. (1997). Challenge or boredom? Gifted students' views on their schooling. *Roeper Review*, 19, 132-136.
- George, P. S. (2001). The evolution of middle schools. *Educational Leadership*, 58(4), 40-44.

- Goldsmith, L. T., & Kantrov, I. (2000). Evaluating middle grades curricula for high standards of learning and performance. *NASSP Bulletin*, 84(615), 30-39.
- Jackson, A. W., & Davis, G. A. (2000). *Turning Points 2000: Educating Adolescents in the 21st Century*. New York: Teachers Press.
- Kulik, J. A., & Kulik, C. C. (1997). Ability grouping. In N. Colangelo & G. A. Davis (Eds), *Handbook of gifted education* (pp. 54-66). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Lando, B. Z., & Schneider, B. H. (1997). Intellectual contributions and mutual support among developmentally advanced children in homogeneous and heterogeneous work/discussion groups. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 41, 44-57.
- Lee, V. E., Smith, J. B., Perry, T. E., & Smylie, M. A. (1999). Social support, academic press, and student achievement: A view from the middle grades in Chicago. Improving Chicago's schools. A report of the Chicago Annenberg Research Project. Chicago: Consortium on Chicago School Research.
- Lipsitz, J., Jackson, A. W., & Austin, L. M. (1997). What works on middle-grades school reform. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 78, 517-19.
- Lipsitz, J., Mizell, M. H., Jackson, A. W., & Austin, L. M. (1997). Speaking with one voice: A manifesto for middle-grades reform. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 78, 533-540.
- Maker, C. J., & Nielson, A. B. (1995). *Curriculum development and teaching strategies* for gifted learners (2nd ed.). Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.
- Manning, M. L. (2000). Child-centered middle schools: A position paper. Association for Childhood Education International, 76, 154-59.
- McEwin, K., Dickinson, T., & Jenkins, D. (1996). *America's middle schools: Practices and progress. A 25-year perspective.* Columbus, OH: National Middle School Association.
- Midgley, C., & Edelin, K. C. (1998). Middle school reform and early adolescent wellbeing: The good news and the bad. *Educational Psychologist*, *33*, 195-206.
- Moon, T. R., Tomlinson, C. A., & Callahan, C. M. (1995). Academic diversity in middle school: Results of a national survey of middle school administrators and teachers. (Research Monograph, No. 95124). Storrs, CT: The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented, University of Connecticut.
- National Middle School Association. (1995). *This we believe: Developmentally responsive middle schools*. Westerville, OH: Author.

- Peterson, D. W. (2001, January). *On the road: In search of excellence in middle level education*. Paper presented at the Annual Winter Workshop of the Minnesota Association of Secondary School Principals, Minneapolis, MN.
- Plucker, J. A., & McIntire, J. (1996). Academic survivability in high-potential, middle school students. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 40, 7-14.
- Rogers, K. B. (1998). Using current research to make "good" decisions about grouping. *NASSP Bulletin*, 82(595), 38-46.
- Sapon-Shevin, M. (1996). Beyond gifted education: Building a shared agenda for school reform. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 19, 194-213.
- Stix, A. (2000). Bridging standards across the curriculum with portfolios. *Middle School Journal*, *32*(1), 15-25.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2001). How to differentiate instruction in mixed-ability classrooms, (2nd ed.). Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (1994). Gifted learners: The boomerang kids of middle school? *Roeper Review*, 16, 177-182.
- Tucker, M. S., & Codding, J. B. (1998). Standards for our schools: How to set them, measure them, and reach them. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Westberg, K. L., Archambault, F. X., Dobyns, S. M., Salvin, T. J. (1993). The classroom practices observation study. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, *16*, 120-146.
- Wiggins, G., & McTighe, J. (1998). *Understanding by design*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Williamson, R. D., Johnston, J. H., & Kanthak, L. M. (1995). Agenda: The achievement agenda for middle level schools. *Schools in the Middle*, 5(2), 6-9.

# **Table of Contents**

ABSTRACT	v
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	vii
Introduction	1
Review of the Literature	2
Characteristics of Middle School Learners	3
Student Achievement Goals	3
Middle Level Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment	4
Academic Diversity in the Middle School	5
Student Grouping in Middle Schools	6
Key Questions Related to Academic Diversity in the Middle School	6
Teacher Questions	6
Student Questions	7
Study Design	7
Sample	7
States	7
Schools	8
Instrumentation	8
Middle School Teacher Questionnaire	8
Middle School Student Content Questionnaires	9
Teacher Attrition	9
Student Attrition	10
Teacher Demographics	10
State One	16
State Two	16
State Three	16
Student Demographics	17
Student Cohort 1	15
Data Collection	29
Data Analysis	29
Middle School Teacher Results	30
Instructional Practices	30
Factors in Determining Content to be Taught	30
Assessment of Student Outcomes	44
Grading Practices	49
Students' Perceptions of Classrooms	52
Middle School Language Arts Classrooms	54
Middle School Mathematics Classrooms	59
Middle School Science Classrooms	73

# Table of Contents (continued)

86
91
101
101
102
102
103
105

# List of Tables

Table 1	Teacher Attrition Rates for Each School Participating in the Study	10		
Table 2	Student Attrition Rates for Each School	11		
Table 3	Grade Level and Subject Area Assignment by School (Percentages)			
Table 4	Teaching Experience and Certification Credentials by Sc hool (Percentages)	13		
Table 5	Gender, Race, Teaching Satisfaction, and Student SES Levels by School (Percentages)	15		
Table 6	Subset A: Student Gender by Treatment Within State	18		
Table 7	Subset A: Student Racial/Ethnic Group by Treatment Within State	19		
Table 8	Subset A: Student Gifted Status by Treatment Within State	20		
Table 9	Breakdown by Student Gender by Treatment Within State	21		
Table 10	Breakdown by Student Racial/Ethnicity by Treatment Within School	22		
Table 11	Breakdown by Gifted Status by Treatment Within State	23		
Table 12	Breakdown by Student Gender by Treatment Within State	24		
Table 13	Breakdown by Student Race/Ethnicity by Treatment Within State	25		
Table 14	Breakdown by Gifted Status by Treatment Within State	25		
Table 15	Breakdown by Student Gender by Treatment Within State	26		
Table 16	Breakdown by Student Race/Ethnicity by Treatment Within State	27		
Table 17	Breakdown by Gifted Status by Treatment Within State	28		
Table 18	Use of Pre-Assessment Methods	31		
Table 19	Use of Pre-Assessment Information	32		
Table 20	Factors in Determining Instructional Content	33		
Table 21	Ratings and Rankings of Influence of Student Group on Instructional Decision-Making	35		

# List of Tables (continued)

Table 22	Percentage of Teachers' Reported Use of Particular Instructional Strategies		
Table 23	Percentage of Teachers Reporting Use of Particular Strategies to Accommodate Student Needs		
Table 24	4 Use of Student Groupings		
Table 25	Percentage of Teachers Reporting Willingness to Try Instructional Practices	41	
Table 26	Factors That Impact Differentiation	43	
Table 27	Receptiveness to New Practices	44	
Table 28	Use of Assessment Strategies	45	
Table 29	Percentage of Teachers Reporting Use of Item Formats in Tests	46	
Table 30	Competence in Assessment Techniques	47	
Table 31	Factors That Effect the Use of Authentic Assessment	48	
Table 32	Opportunities to Learn About Assessment	49	
Table 33	Importance of Factors in Grading	50	
Table 34	Importance of Assessment Methods	51	
Table 35	ble 35 Key Determinants of Grading Criteria		
Table 36	Variety of Academic Issues	53	
Table 37	Students' Perceptions of Opportunities in Language Arts Classrooms	55	
Table 38	Students Reporting the Use of Pre-Assessment Methods in Language Arts Classroom	56	
Table 39	Students' Perceptions of Opportunities Provided for Meeting Their Learning Needs in Language Arts Classrooms	57	
Table 40	Table 40Engagement in Instructional Activities Reported by Students in LanguageArts Classrooms		
Table 41	Students' Perceptions of Their Language Arts Classrooms	60	

# List of Tables (continued)

Table 42	2 Students' Perceptions of the Importance of Certain Factors in Determining Grades in Language Arts Classrooms	
Table 43	3 Individual Responsible for Grading Criteria in Language Arts Classrooms as Reported by Students	
Table 44	Students' Perceptions of Opportunities in Mathematics Classrooms	65
Table 45	Students' Reporting of the Use of Pre-Assessment Methods in Mathematics Classrooms	67
Table 46	Students' Perceptions of Opportunities Provided for Meeting Their Learning Needs in Mathematics Classrooms	68
Table 47	Engagement in Instructional Activities Reported by Students in Mathematics Classrooms	69
Table 48         Students' Perceptions of Their Mathematics Classrooms		70
Table 49	Students' Perceptions of the Importance of Certain Factors in Determining Grades in Mathematics Classrooms	74
Table 50	Individual Responsible for Grading Criteria in Mathematics Classrooms as Reported by Students	75
Table 51	Students' Perceptions of Opportunities in Science Classrooms	76
Table 52	Students' Reporting of the Use of Pre-Assessment Methods in Science Classrooms	77
Table 53	Table 53Students' Perceptions of Opportunities Provided for Meeting Their Learning Needs in Science Classrooms	
Table 54	Table 54Engagement in Instructional Activities Reported by Students in Science Classrooms	
Table 55	Students' Perceptions of Their Science Classroom	81
Table 56	66 Students' Perceptions of the Importance of Certain Factors in Determining Grades in Science Classrooms	
Table 57	Individual Responsible for Grading Criteria in Science Classrooms as Reported by Students	85

# List of Tables (continued)

Table 58	Students' Perceptions of Opportunities in Social Studies Classrooms	87
Table 59	59 Students' Reporting of the Use of Pre-Assessment Methods in Social Studies Classrooms	
Table 60	Students' Perceptions of Opportunities Provided for Meeting Their Learning Needs in Social Studies Classrooms	89
Table 61	Engagement in Instructional Activities Reported by Students in Social Studies Classrooms	90
Table 62	Students' Perceptions of Their Social Studies Classroom	92
Table 63	Students' Perceptions of the Importance of Certain Factors in Determining Grades in Social Studies Classrooms	95
Table 64	Individual Responsible for Grading Criteria in Social Studies Classrooms as Reported by Students	96
Table 65	Middle School Classrooms: Teachers' Practices and Similar Students' Perceptions of Those Practices as Reported by the Majority of Teachers and Students	97
Table 66	Middle School Classrooms: Teachers' Practices and Dissimilar Students' Perceptions of Those Practices as Reported by the Majority of Teachers and Students	99

### Middle School Classrooms: Teachers' Reported Practices and Student Perceptions

Tonya R. Moon Carolyn M. Callahan Carol A. Tomlinson Erin M. Miller University of Virginia Charlottesville, Virginia

### Introduction

Middle school teachers' reported classroom practices, middle school students' perceptions of classroom practice, and the alignment of reported practices and perceptions with the middle school movement's orientation towards student achievement form the foci of this study. As part of a larger study looking at two different interventions for addressing the academic diversity of middle school learners (Callahan, Tomlinson, Moon, Brighton, & Hertberg, in preparation), teachers in participating schools were asked to complete a middle school practices survey. Students completed a parallel survey on their perceptions of their classrooms. In addition to reporting teacher and student responses to the surveys, comparisons between teacher reported practices and student perceptions as well as comparisons with the 1995 national study of middle school teacher practices (Moon, Tomlinson, & Callahan, 1995) are provided in this monograph. Examination of teacher practices and student perceptions in addressing academic diversity in middle school classrooms evolved from examining the literature on: (a) characteristics of middle school students, (b) student achievement goals in the middle school, (c) middle school curriculum, instruction and assessment practices, (d) accommodating academic diversity in the middle school classroom, and (e) student grouping.

Findings replicate what was previously found in the 1995 NRC/GT study as well as provide unique findings relative to the particular interventions implemented as part of the larger NRC/GT study. Consistent with the 1995 study findings, teachers report that learning contracts, tiered assignments, advanced organizers, computer programs focusing on basic skills or advanced understanding, curriculum compacting, learning centers, flexible grouping, or interest centers are rarely used in their middle school classrooms. In contrast to the 1995 study findings, state curriculum standards, local curriculum guides, and key concepts and principles of core disciplines are considered the three most important factors in determining instructional content taught by teachers.

Findings unique to the study indicate the majority of teachers report using example activities and observations to modify the content of activities, types of products required of students, and student grouping arrangements; yet a large portion of teachers also indicate never tailoring an assignment for students or varying materials based on student readiness levels. Instead, lecture, direct instruction to the whole class using the state standards and local curriculum guides, is the predominant reported modality of teaching. Students indicated, consistent with teachers' responses, that the instructional content of their classes was textbook driven and focused on student success for more formal assessments (e.g., end-of-unit tests, standardized tests). Students also indicated whole group instruction supported by note taking and all students working on the same assignment as the predominant format of their classrooms.

### **Review of the Literature**

The distinct social, psychological, and academic needs of early adolescents have long been recognized. Junior high schools, typically including grades 7 through 9, were first established because the upper grades of primary schools were seen as failing to meet the needs of early adolescents (Clark & Clark, 1993). More academic challenge to support intellectual growth as well as ways to address the developmental needs of young adolescents were called for by reform-minded educators (Clark & Clark, 1993). However, the growth of junior high schools generated several waves of criticism including: fragmented curriculum taught in departmentalized classes; heavy emphasis on teacher lectures and students' passive observation; predominant reliance on textbooks; tracking students by ability; and inadequate teacher training, particularly in the area of early adolescents' psychosocial, emotional, and cognitive development (Clark & Clark, 1993). While the middle school movement has sought to address these issues, the middle school as it has evolved has not escaped criticism.

One of the most pivotal concerns voiced in the literature on the middle school is the lack of academic rigor (Beane, 1999; Gallagher, Harradine, & Coleman, 1997; Tucker, & Codding, 1998; Williamson, Johnston, & Kanthak, 1995). Tucker and Codding (1998) recently called middle schools "the wasteland of our primary and secondary landscape" (p. 153). Specific criticisms concerning the lack of academic progress of middle school students include:

- a lack of curricular focus on core academic courses and analytical skills leading students to focus away from school and even become alienated from it;
- a lack of preparation for either high school or meaningful employment;
- a dramatic increase in inflexible ability grouping as children enter middle school, restricting at-risk students' access to challenging curricula and contributing to subsequent low achievement (Ames, 1998; Argetsinger, 1999; Carnegie Council on Adolescent Development, 1989; McEwin, Dickinson, & Jenkins, 1996).

Some critics have suggested that overemphasizing social, psychological, physical, and emotional needs of middle school students has contributed to schools that do not academically challenge students. In apparent response to these criticisms the most significant change in the 2000 edition of *Turning Points* is the designation of student success and achievement as the primary goal, and as a more important goal than any

other recommendation made. Jackson and Davis (2000) explicitly stated, "Let us be clear. The main purpose of middle grades education is to promote young adolescents' intellectual development" (p. 10). All other recommendations in *Turning Points 2000*, including those related to social and emotional development, are designed to lead to the goal of student intellectual development.

### **Characteristics of Middle School Learners**

Understandings of the developmental characteristics of early adolescents drive beliefs about what is educationally appropriate for these students. The National Middle School Association (NMSA) (1995) has compiled a synthesis of these characteristics, which are divided into five areas: intellectual, moral, physical, emotional/psychological, and social development.

NMSA (1995) describes young adolescents' intellectual development as follows. Young adolescents . . .

- display a wide range of individual intellectual development,
- are in a transition period from concrete thinking to abstract thinking,
- are intensely curious and have a wide range of intellectual pursuits, few of which are sustained,
- prefer active over passive learning experiences,
- prefer interaction with peers during learning activities,
- respond positively to opportunities to participate in real life situations,
- are often preoccupied with self,
- have a strong need for approval and may be easily discouraged,
- develop an increasingly better understanding of personal abilities,
- are inquisitive about adults, often challenging their authority, and always observing them,
- may show disinterest in conventional academic subjects, but are intellectually curious about the world, and
- are developing a capacity to understand higher levels of humor. (pp. 35-36)

Some of these characteristics are supported in reported studies of educators' beliefs about middle school learners and others are not. For example, teachers see middle school students as concrete thinkers, extrinsically motivated, easily discouraged, not able to think at high levels, weak in basic skills, and not very independent in their learning (Moon, Tomlinson, & Callahan, 1995); these characteristics are not supported by research.

#### **Student Achievement Goals**

Middle school programs are faced with criticism due to the perception that they have improved students' sense of emotional well-being but have yet to emphasize academic understanding and challenge (Beane, 1999; Clark & Clark, 2000; Lipsitz,

Jackson, & Austin, 1997; Lipsitz, Mizell, Jackson, & Austin, 1997; Midgley & Edelin, 1998; Williamson et al., 1995). The positive steps made toward making school a safer, happier, and healthier environment have not translated into academic gains. According to Lipsitz, Jackson et al. (1997):

We are frankly concerned that, despite their heavy investment in middle-grades reform, many schools have not progressed beyond the stage of changing climate. We have not seen the widespread dramatic improvement in academic outcomes we had hoped for. A variety of state, national, and international studies in reading, mathematics, and science confirm that the middle grades are characterized by academic stagnation and actual loss among schools serving children in poverty. (p. 535)

These criticisms have become more prevalent due to the recent movement towards accountability and high-stakes testing, as well as recent international reports of student achievement (Callahan, Tomlinson, Reis, & Kaplan, 2000).

The middle school movement is faced with the challenge of balancing the principles of affective development and the need for achievement results (Midgley & Edelin, 1998). However, in negotiating this balance it is important that middle schools do not abandon the gains made in creating healthy social and emotional environments. Schools with high levels of academic rigor and high levels of social support have been found to achieve greater reading and math gains than schools that are focused only on one or the other dimension (Lee, Smith, Perry, & Smylie, 1999). Further, increase in school implementation of the initiatives outlined in the 1989 *Turning Points* produced increased math and language arts scores for eighth grade students in a study comparing middle schools with varying levels of implementation of the strategies (Felner et al., 1997). These findings suggest that both academic rigor and social support are needed to achieve the goals supported by the middle school movement.

### Middle School Curriculum, Instruction, and Assessment

Quality curriculum in the middle school articulates a clear set of goals for learning that reflect both deep, conceptual understanding of the subject area and mastery of skills needed for increasingly expert performance (Goldsmith & Kantrov, 2000). A rigorous curriculum offers students a coherent view of the subject area by providing connections that help students see and appreciate the recurring themes, ideas, and methodologies of the discipline instead of only isolated pieces (Goldsmith & Kantrov, 2000). It provides opportunities for connections between classroom study and real-world applications, helping students to recognize the practical utility of their developing knowledge (Goldsmith & Kantrov, 2000). A rigorous curriculum requires products that are useful and applicable to the real world that arise from a variety of assessment techniques including performance tasks, projects, and portfolios (Beane, 1999; Brandt, 1998; Erickson, 1998; Jackson & Davis, 2000; Maker & Neilson, 1995; Manning, 2000; National Middle School Association, 1995; Stix, 2000; Tomlinson, 2001; Wiggins & McTighe, 1998). It is also important that curricula not underestimate the intellectual capabilities of early adolescents. However, curriculum of this caliber does not appear to be the basis of what has been implemented through textbooks in middle school classrooms. According to one district mathematics supervisor (Goldsmith & Kantrov, 2000):

In reviewing curricula we found some books had hardly anything new from year to year. Those books presented the same activities, the same concepts, year after year. There was just no depth. (p. 34)

Classroom practices also seem to be characterized by one general curriculum with teachers relying on traditional teacher-directed, whole class instruction (George, 2001; Moon et al., 1995). Presentation, question-and-answer opportunities, practice drills and re-teaching compose the most common instructional sequence in middle school classrooms (George, 2001; Moon et al., 1995). Studies of schools across the nation find very little differentiation of instruction or flexible grouping taking place, despite the predominant use of heterogeneous classes (Moon et al., 1995; Plucker & McIntire, 1996; Westberg, Archambault, Dobyns, & Salvin, 1993). These findings are in direct contrast with school organizational structures (e.g., interdisciplinary teams) that have been deliberately implemented in the middle school to support collaboration among school faculty, for focusing on individual students' differences, and for the sharing and pooling of expertise (Moon et al., 1995).

#### Academic Diversity in the Middle School

Despite recommendations from national organizations and scholars that teachers work to accommodate student academic diversity within their classrooms through curriculum and instructional modifications (Jackson, & Davis, 2000; Manning, 2000; National Middle School Association, 1995), they do not appear to be using strategies that could benefit diverse learners on a regular basis in the classroom (Moon et al., 1995). This disregard of academic diversity effects students on both ends of the ability spectrum. While students with learning difficulties and other differently-abled students require modifications of curriculum and instruction to achieve success, advanced learners also require curricular modifications to reach their potential. Middle schools have been justifiably criticized for not providing services for the gifted (Tomlinson, 1994). At the same time that one-size-fits-all teaching is occurring, the smallest numbers of classes are provided for advanced learners, with offered classes typically only being in the areas of math and language arts (VanTassel-Baska, 2000).

In a study of high achieving middle schools, Peterson (2001) found frequent use of tracking, with all schools tracking in math and many in language arts. George (2001), in a recent study of Florida middle schools, found that the vast majority of middle schools provided advanced classes in at least math and language arts, if not also social studies and science, for gifted and high-ability students. The use of special classes is also supported by findings that middle school teachers and principals continue to believe that special classes are appropriate for remedial, special education and advanced learners (Moon et al., 1995). However, the use of tracked classes is counter to one of the key principles of the middle school movement, heterogeneously-grouped classes.

### **Student Grouping in Middle Schools**

Heterogeneous grouping of students is one of the hallmarks of the middle school movement as a consequence of the rejection of tracking students by ability (Jackson & Davis, 2000; National Middle School Association, 1995). Advocates for eliminating tracking are concerned about the effect of lowered expectations on homogenously grouped struggling students and the disruption caused by grouping gifted students together for portions of the day (Sapon-Shevin, 1996), despite evidence that gifted students benefit from being grouped together (Kulik & Kulik, 1997; Lando & Schneider, 1997; Rogers, 1998).

Heterogeneous grouping has several drawbacks for students with diverse learning needs. First, the elimination of ability groups in middle schools does not guarantee that the resulting heterogeneous classrooms are high-level and challenging (Midgley & Edelin, 1998). Even researchers who advocate heterogeneous grouping recognize the problems associated with this arrangement. Sapon-Shevin (1996) writes, "few educators would advocate equal treatment if by that we meant giving every child the same kind of educational experiences at the same pace, using the same materials, and so on. Neither can it be argued that all students will emerge the same (equality of outcomes) regardless of how well (or badly) they are treated" (p. 198). Yet this appears to be what is occurring in middle school classrooms. Students are working at the same pace using the same materials.

Although structural changes have occurred within middle schools, such as the use of heterogeneous home groups within the school, it seems that little has changed in the ways students are taught. Changes in structure without changes in curricula have been implicated as part of the reasons that middle schools have not accomplished their achievement goals (Beane, 2001; Dickenson, 2001; Midgley & Edelin, 1998).

### Key Questions Related to Academic Diversity in the Middle School

As indicated earlier, this study is part of a larger study on addressing academic diversity as well as an update to a national study reported in 1995 on educators' beliefs and practices in addressing academic diversity in the middle school by The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented (NRC/GT) at the University of Virginia. Key questions for the current study include:

### **Teacher Questions**

• To what degree do middle school classrooms appear to engage in developmentally appropriate structures and practices likely to address the wide range of academic readiness, interests, and learning profiles inevitable in middle level populations?

- What is the nature of the curriculum and instruction at the middle level and to what degree does it seem appropriately responsive to academic diversity?
- How do middle level teachers enact the concept of differentiating or modifying curriculum and instruction based on learner readiness, interest, and learning profile?

### **Student Question**

• Are students' response patterns of their perceptions about their classrooms consistent with what is reported by teachers?

### **Study Design**

#### Sample

#### States

Middle schools (grades 6-8) were invited to participate from the Collaborative School District Database of the NRC/GT based on the state testing programs in place at the time the study was planned. Schools that participated in the study represented three states with two states located on the East Coast and one in the Southwest. Information reported by each state's chief school officer (state superintendent) in the annual Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO) state assessment program survey (CCSSO, 2000) was used to create the overviews of these states' testing programs which follow. While the original intent of the study was to classify each state according to the type of accountability tied to student outcomes, it became apparent early on in the study, that regardless of the type of accountability reported by the CCSSO, teachers in all states considered the assessment programs in their states to be high-stakes. Therefore, we could not clearly control for differences in the testing environments across the three states.

*State One.* This state's assessment program consisted of legislatively-mandated criterion-referenced exams in reading, writing, science, and social studies in eighth grade. Also in place was an end-of-course exam in Algebra I. State officials indicated that the primary purpose of the program was to provide an accurate measure of student achievement in these areas, with the results being used as a gauge for institutional accountability.

*State Two.* This state's assessment program consisted of two state legislativelymandated components related to the middle school years: (a) assessments of the state's content standards; and (b) a norm-referenced achievement test battery. The standardsbased assessments were given to middle school students in eighth grade in English, mathematics, history, science, and technology. A norm-referenced assessment was administered in the fall to all sixth grade students. State officials indicated that the assessments were for instructional purposes, student accountability, and school accountability.

*State Three.* In this state assessment program, eighth grade students were administered criterion-referenced performance assessments in reading, writing, language usage, math, science, and social studies. State officials indicated that the program was for instructional purposes and school accountability. In addition, high school graduation requirements included passing objective tests in reading, mathematics, and citizenship starting in seventh grade.

### Schools

Nine middle schools participated in the project representing four school districts in the three states described above. Schools were located in two small urban school districts, a large suburban school district, and a large urban school district.

Each school was designated as a treatment site: differentiation and assessment, differentiated authentic assessment only, or comparison. Within each school, one interdisciplinary team of teachers at each grade level participated. Students who were assigned to the participating team served as the student sample. State One contained three schools, each representing a treatment (differentiation, assessment, and comparison); State Two contained four schools representing each treatment, with the assessment treatment having two schools; and State Three contained two schools, with only the differentiation and comparison treatments represented.

### Instrumentation

### Middle School Teacher Questionnaire

The middle school teacher questionnaire used in this study was a modification of a survey used previously in a nationwide sample of middle school teachers (Moon et al., 1995). The questionnaire contained 13 pages of questions that solicited information on (a) the background of the teacher, (b) the teacher's beliefs about classroom issues, and (c) the teacher's curriculum, instructional, and assessment practices. A variety of question formats were used to gather the information. Some questions used a 4-point Likert scale (e.g., strongly disagree to strongly agree), other questions used a 6-point graduated frequency scale (e.g., never use to use daily). For each question related to decisionmaking practices, two formats were used: (a) a 4-point Likert scale ranging from "Not Important" to "Very Important," and (b) a ranking format based on ranking the eight most influential factors for each decision. Because teachers tend to rate most factors as important or very important, at some point in the decision-making process factors become weighted by their relative importance. Therefore, teachers were also asked to rank the relative importance of each factor. This ranking format was used to generate variation among individual factors. Detailed descriptions of the factors for the sections indicated are provided below.

*Teacher background.* This section of the questionnaire contained questions related to the teacher's sex, racial/ethnic status, highest academic degree earned, type of teacher certification/endorsement held, discipline(s) and the grade level(s) the teacher was primarily responsible for teaching, and full-time teaching experience at the elementary, middle, and secondary levels.

*Teacher beliefs.* Questions in this section of the questionnaire included teacher beliefs about reasons for possible lack of learning options provided in classrooms to address academically diverse learners.

*Teacher's curriculum, instruction, and assessment practices.* In this section of the survey, questions were asked about the use of (a) particular instructional strategies used to address students' varied readiness levels and learning needs, (b) influence on instruction of particular types of student assessment, and (c) decision-making processes relative to curriculum, instruction, and assessment practices.

#### Middle School Student Content Questionnaires

These questionnaires were developed to assess students' perceptions in each of their classrooms in each subject areas (Language Arts, Math, Science, and Social Studies). All questionnaires contained the same items with the only difference being the specific content area being inquired about. Several questions on these questionnaires mimicked questions on the teacher questionnaire. This was done to obtain students' perceptions on the same issues we had presented to the teachers. The initial questionnaires were piloted in January, 1996 with a sample of Virginia middle school students. Students' feedback on the questionnaires resulted in several revisions to clarify particular items.

### **Teacher Attrition**

The study was designed to follow the same set of teachers in each school over a 3year span across two treatment groups, differentiated instruction or differentiated authentic assessment, and a comparison group. However, the study experienced very high attrition rates among teachers. Due to high mobility of teachers and local redistricting efforts, some teachers were replaced each year of the study. In other cases, teachers self-transferred or were transferred out of the school, transferred or were transferred to another team within the school that was not participating in the study, or simply stopped participating. Table 1 presents the teacher attrition rate for each school. At the conclusion of the study there were a total of 76 teachers.

### Table 1

### Teacher Attrition Rates for Each School Participating in the Study

	School	Pre N	Post N	Attrition Rate
State One	Haden (C)	22	5	73%
	Howard (D)	28	7	75%
	Rockford (P)	22	15	32%
	Marshall (P)	27	10	63%
State Two	Cleveland (C)	28	8	71%
	Franklin (D)	27	15	56%
	Langley (P)	18	6	67%
State Three	Parkway (C)	20	8	40%
	Greene (D)	19	2	90%

C = Comparison

P = Differentiated Authentic Assessment

### **Student Attrition**

The study was designed to follow the same set of students in each school over a 3year span across two treatment groups, differentiated instruction, differentiated authentic assessment, or a comparison group. However, there was some student attrition over the course of the study due to several factors: student mobility, transfers to non-participating teams, and redistricting of schools. Table 2 presents the attrition rate for each student cohort by each school.

### **Teacher Demographics**

Teacher demographic data are presented in Tables 3-5 for each school participating in the project. In many of the schools, teachers did not respond to all questions; therefore, percentages oftentimes do not total 100%.

D = Differentiated Instruction

School	
for Each	
Rates 1	
Attrition	
Student	

			Col	Cohort 1			Cohort 2			Cohort 3	
	School	Subset*	Pre	Post	Attrition Rate	Pre	Post	Attrition Rate	Pre	Post	Attrition Rate
	Haden (C)	A B	46 30	26 22	43% 27%	30	12	60%	25	18	28%
əuO	Howard (D)	A B	96 82	53 75	45% 9%	117	72	38%	125	120	4%
State	Rockford (P)	A B	47 81	34 61	28% 25%	93	27	71%	87	51	41%
	Marshall (P)	A B	108 57	90 28	17% 51%	65	18	72%	91	18	80%
0/	Cleveland (C)	A B	76 81	44 55	42% 32%	62	39	51%	126	105	17%
wT əts	Franklin (D)	A B	111 101	53 46	52% 54%	130	46	65%	165	147	11%
S	Langley (P)	A B	121 118	65 59	56% 50%	87	51	41%	128	109	15%
Тһтее	Parkway (C)	A B	25 39	17 28	32% 28%	39	23	41%	27	27	0%0
State	Greene (D)	A B	67 88	55 55	$\frac{18\%}{37\%}$	68	47	31%	152	144	5%
   *	* A = Other and a continition of the Mathematica	-1+1-1 Cal- 17+1-									

\*A = Students who participated 6th/7th grades \*B = Students who participated 7th/8th grades C = Comparison D = Differentiated Instruction P = Differentiated Authentic Assessment

11

Ę	(Percentages)	
-	v School	
•	le Level and Subject Area Assignment by Schoo	0
•	ublect Area	•
	le Level and S	
ζ	Grad	

			State	State One			State Two		State Three	<b>Three</b>
		Haden (C) $n=22$	Howard (D) $n=28$	Rockford (P) n=22	Marshall (P) $n=27$	Cleveland (C) <i>n</i> =28	Franklin (D) <i>n</i> =27	Langley (P) $n=18$	Park way (C) n=20	Greene (D) <i>n</i> =19
	6	27	54	32	22	29	19	28	10	37
Grade Level	7	23	25	23	33	21	30	39	10	32
	8	23	21	14	30	14	4	33	5	26
	English	23	29	32	30	11	30	33	10	26
ject jest	Social Studies	23	32	23	15	32	15	17	5	26
	Mathematics	36	36	14	15	11	22	17	5	26
	Science	27	32	14	15	11	19	22	10	26

C = Comparison D = Differentiated Instruction P = Differentiated Authentic Assessment

Teaching Experience and Certification Credentials by School (Percentages)

			State	State One			State Two		State Three	Three
		Haden	Howard	Rockford	Marshall	Cleveland	Franklin	Langley	Parkway	Greene
		(C)	(D)	(P)	(P)	(C)	(D	(P)	(C)	(Î)
		n=22	n=28	n=22	n=27	n=28	n=27	n=18	n=20	<i>n</i> =19
	≤1 year	18	18	6	19	4	11	11	10	11
uienc ouoi	2-5 years		14	6	4	11	4	11		11
	6-10 years		4	5	15		15			
	≥ 11 years	6	18	5	7		4			11
	≤1 year	5	11	6	11	4	4	17	5	5
rienc choc	2-5 years	18	18	18	26	29	30	17	5	26
	6-10 years	23	29	18	19	11	19	6	15	11
	≥ 11 years	27	32	18	30	18	30	39		26
	≤1 year	6	4	14	7	4	11		10	11
Ιοοι	2-5 years	6	18	5			11	9		11
ədx3 198 198	6-10 years	5	11		4	7	4	9		
	≥ 11 years	14	4	5			4	6		5
C = Comparison	narison									

C = Comparison D = Differentiated Instruction P = Differentiated Authentic Assessment

Table 4 (continued)

(Percentages)	•
oy School	
n Credentials by S	
ertification	
hing Experience and Ce	
Teaching Exp	)

Image: constraint in the constrand constra constraint in the constraint in the constraint in the				State	tate One			State Two		State '	State Three
$n=22$ $n=27$ $n=27$ $n=18$ $n=22$ $n=22$ $n=27$ $n=27$ $n=18$ $n=18$ Schoolege $\leq 1$ year $5$ $25$ years $32$ $25$ $41$ $26$ $18$ $7$ $22$ Schoolege $2-5$ years $32$ $25$ $41$ $26$ $18$ $7$ $22$ $\delta = 10$ years $32$ $22$ $11$ $26$ $18$ $7$ $22$ $11$ $\geq 11$ years $5$ $4$ $5$ $11$ $7$ $12$ $22$ $\geq 11$ years $5$ $4$ $5$ $11$ $7$ $22$ $11$ $\geq 11$ years $5$ $4$ $5$ $11$ $7$ $22$ $11$ $\sim 10$ $14$ $32$ $22$ $23$ $41$ $50$ $17$ $\sim 10$ $12$ $27$ $22$ $21$ $22$ $22$ $22$			Haden (C)	Howard (D)	Rockford (P)	Marshall (P)	Cleveland (C)	Franklin (D)	Langley (P)	Parkway (C)	Greene (D)
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$			n=22	n=28	n=22	n=27	n=28	n=27	n=18	n=20	n=19
Action of Control       2-5 years       32       29       18       26       29       33       39         Scherie $2-5$ years       32       32       32       32       33       39         S = 11 years $5$ 4 $5$ 11 $2$ 11 $2$ 11 $2$ 11 $2$ $11$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $2$ $11$ $2$ $2$ $2$			5	25	41	26	18	7	22	5	5
Scipe Hate         6-10 years         32         32         32         11         22         11         22         11 $\geq 11$ years         5         4         5         11         7         19         11 $\geq 11$ years         5         4         5         11         7         19         11 $\geq 11$ years         6-8         14         32         23         30         25         15         17 $\circ 0$ 6-8         18         14         9         30         11         11         22 $7 - 12$ 2.7         2.1         14         15         32         41         50 $7 - 12$ 2.7         2.1         14         15         32         41         50 $\uparrow 0$ 0ther         32         14         50         22         22         22         22 $\land 0$ 18         16         16         37         32         41         50         50 $\land 0$ 2.1         2.2         56         56         56         56         56         56         56         56 <td< td=""><td>Ιοοι</td><td></td><td>32</td><td>29</td><td>18</td><td>26</td><td>29</td><td>33</td><td>39</td><td>10</td><td>63</td></td<>	Ιοοι		32	29	18	26	29	33	39	10	63
H $\geq 11$ years       5       4       5       11       7       19       11 $\geq 11$ years $5 \leq 11$ years $5 \leq 11$ years $5 \leq 11$ years $14 = 32$ $23 = 13$ $11 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $17 = 12$ $11 = 11$ $12 = 22$ $11 = 11$ $22 = 22$ <	loZ		32	32		22	11	22	11	10	
K-8         14         32         23         30         25         15         17           Certification         6-8         18         14         9         30         11         11         22           Certification         7-12         27         21         14         9         30         11         11         22           7-12         27         21         14         15         32         41         50           ADegree         Bachelor's         46         61         46         37         32         56         56         56           Master's         27         25         9         44         29         22 </td <td>ł</td> <td></td> <td>5</td> <td>4</td> <td>5</td> <td>11</td> <td>7</td> <td>19</td> <td>11</td> <td></td> <td></td>	ł		5	4	5	11	7	19	11		
6-8       18       14       9       30       11       12         7-12       7-12       21       14       15       32       41       22         7-12       21       14       15       32       41       50         Other       32       14       33       18       22       22         Academic       32       14       33       18       22       22         Master's       46       37       33       18       22       22         Aster's       27       25       9       44       29       22       22         Master's       27       25       9       44       29       22       22       22		K-8	14	32	23	30	25	15	17		26
7-12       27       21       14       15       32       41       50         Other       32       32       14       15       32       41       50         A Delegie       Bachelor's       46       33       14       32       22       22       22         A Delegie       Bachelor's       46       37       32       14       50       22       22         A master's       27       25       9       44       29       22       22       22		6-8	18	14	6	30	11	11	22	15	5
C         Other         32         32         14         33         18         22         22           A Deepered Ende         Bachelor's         46         61         46         37         32         56         5		7-12	27	21	14	15	32	41	50	25	21
A         D         46         61         46         37         32         56         56           A         D         Master's         27         25         9         44         29         22         22		Other	32	32	14	33	18	22	22		26
₹ Å Master's 27 25 9 44 29 22 22	əiməb	Bachelor's	46	61	46	37	32	56	56	10	26
	вэА	Master's	27	25	9	44	29	22	22	15	36

C = Comparison D = Differentiated Instruction P = Differentiated Authentic Assessment

14

_	
<b>Percentages</b> )	
$\subseteq$	ľ
Schoo	
$\mathbf{\tilde{z}}$	
Levels by S	
ESI	
SE	
Snt	
Ide	
St	
τ	
, an	
tion, and St	
Isfact	
ing Sati	
ړي. بر	5
achin	
Ĕ	
ace,	
R	
ler,	
apua	
G	

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$				State	State One			State Two		State Three	Three
Female         46         71         41         70         43         67         67         15         15           Male         27         18         14         15         14         15         11         10           African American         55         86         36         70         46         70         50         25           African American         14         4         9         111         7         4         22           African American         14         4         9         111         7         4         22           African American         14         7         4         5         11         7         4         22           Mative American         14         7         4         4         6         5         5         5         5           Native American         14         7         4         4         6         6         5			Haden (C) n=22	Howard $(D)$ n=28	Rockford (P) n=22	Marshall (P) n=27	Cleveland (C) n=28	Franklin (D) n=27	Langley (P) n=18	Parkway (C) n=20	Greene (D) n=19
Male         27         18         14         15         14         15         11         10           African American         55         86         36         70         46         70         50         25         70           African American         14         4         9         11         7         4         22         70         50         25         75           Asian/Pacific Islander         14         7         4         5         11         7         4         22         75         75         75         75         75         75         76 <td>der</td> <td>Female</td> <td>46</td> <td>71</td> <td>41</td> <td>70</td> <td>43</td> <td>67</td> <td>67</td> <td>15</td> <td>16</td>	der	Female	46	71	41	70	43	67	67	15	16
Caucasian         55         86         36         70         46         70         50         25           Asian/Pacific Islander         Hispanic         14         4         9         111         7         4         22           Asian/Pacific Islander         5         14         5         11         7         4         22           Asian/Pacific Islander         5         4         5         4         6         7         6           Native American         5         4         5         4         6         7         6         7         6         7           Mative American         14         7         4         5         4         6         7         6         7         6         7         6         7         6         7         7         4         4         4         6         7         6         7	Gen	Male	27	18	14	15	14	15	11	10	47
African American Hispanic         I         4         9         11         7         4         22           Hispanic         Hispanic         Main/Pacific Islander         5         1         4         6         6           Native American         5         4         5         4         6         6         6           Native American         5         4         5         4         6         6         6         6         6         6         6         6         6         6         6         6         6         7         8         6         6         7         8         6         6         7         8         6         6         7         8         6         7         8         6         6         7         8         6         7         8         7         8         7         8         7         8         7         8         7         8         <	Â	Caucasian	55	86	36	70	46	20	50	25	63
Hispatic Asian/Pacific Islander Asian/Pacific Islander Native AmericanHispatic Fistander546Native American Native American544744Native American Native American544746Native American Native American5445445Native American Nedium147446Native American Nedium147445Nedium to High Concally High272911411254393025305015261736443617513614736443652395015Medium to High Generally Low2321444415501536101823214444555050153754530522839505015538545453052285555385454553052285555445530545228555555545455523955556545454555	tioin	African American	14	4	6	11	7	4	22		
Matrix for the formation of the fo	Έtμ	Hispanic			5		4		9		
Native American         5         4         5         4         6         1         1           Native American         5         4         5         4         5         4         6         1           Generally Low to Medium         14         7         4         5         4         6         5         1           Low to Medium         14         7         4         9         11         4         19         11         5           Medium to High         27         29         18         266         25         30         50         15           Generally High         23         43         9         30         25         26         17         5           Generally Low         9         11         4         19         11         5         5           Medium to High         23         24         9         30         50         15         5           Medium to High         23         21         44         18         5         5         5           Medium to High         5         30         6         5         5         20         5         5	(90B)	Asian/Pacific Islander						4			
Between         Generally Low         5         4         5         4         4         6         6           Feadure         14         7         4         9         11         4         19         11         5           Wedium to High         27         29         18         26         25         30         50         15           Wedium to High         23         43         9         30         25         26         17         5           Generally Low         9         23         44         4         6         50         15         5           Constally Low         9         23         43         9         30         50         17         5           Constally Low         9         23         23         4         4         4         5         5         50         15         5         5           Medium to High         23         21         36         4         4         4         11         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5	Я	Native American	5								
Low to Medium         14         7         4         4         6           Medium to High         27         29         11         4         19         11         5           Medium to High         27         29         18         26         25         30         50         15           Generally High         23         43         9         18         26         25         30         50         15           Concally High         23         43         9         30         25         26         17         5         50         15           Low to Medium         41         7         36         44         6         5         17         5	C C	Generally Low	5	4	5		4				
Medium         Medium         4         9         11         4         19         11         5           Medium to High         27         29         18         26         25         30         50         15           Generally High         23         43         9         30         25         30         50         15           Generally Low         9         18         26         25         30         50         15           Medium to High         23         43         9         36         4         6         5         5           Medium         41         7         36         4         36         5         5         5         5           Medium to High         23         21         4         18         22         39         5         5           Medium to High         23         21         8         5         28         5         5         5           Generally High         1         4         1         18         2         2         2         3         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5 <t< td=""><td></td><td>Low to Medium</td><td>14</td><td>7</td><td></td><td>4</td><td>4</td><td></td><td>9</td><td></td><td></td></t<>		Low to Medium	14	7		4	4		9		
Wedium to High         27         29         18         26         30         50         15           Generally High         23         43         9         30         25         26         17         5           Generally Low         9         23         44         9         30         25         26         17         5           Low to Medium         41         7         36         4         36         5         39         5           Medium to High         23         21         36         4         36         52         39         5         5           Medium to High         23         21         18         52         28         5		Medium		4	6	11	4	19	11	5	5
Classification         Classif		Medium to High	27	29	18	26	25	30	50	15	5
Generally Low       9       23       4       4       6       6         2       Low to Medium       41       7       36       4       36       52       39       20         2       Medium       23       21       41       18       22       38       5         5       Medium to High       4       5       30       4       4       11       5         Generally High       4       5       30       4       4       11       5	٨	Generally High	23	43	6	30	25	26	17	5	58
E         Low to Medium         41         7         36         4         36         52         39         20           ES         Medium         23         21         41         18         22         39         20           SS         Medium to High         2         21         41         18         22         28         5           Generally High         4         5         30         4         4         11         5		Generally Low	6		23	4	4		9		
B         Medium         23         21         41         18         22         28         5           SES         Medium to High         5         30         4         4         11         5           Generally High         4         5         30         4         4         11         5		Low to Medium	41	L	36	4	36	52	39	20	
Eff         Medium to High         54         5         30         4         11           Generally High         4         4         4         11         11		Medium	23	21		41	18	22	28	5	32
		Medium to High		54	5	30	4	4	11		37
		Generally High		4							

C = Comparison D = Differentiated Instruction P = Differentiated Authentic Assessment

15

#### State One

This state had four schools participating in the project for a total of 99 teachers when the project began. Haden served as a comparison school with 22 teachers participating. Howard served as the differentiation school, with 28 teachers participating. Rockford served as one assessment school, with 22 teachers participating. Marshall served as a second assessment school, with 27 teachers participating.

Based on the information given by teachers in the pre-project survey, Caucasian females comprised the majority of each school's teaching cadre, with all grade levels and core content areas represented. The majority of teachers in each school reported at least 2 years teaching experience at the middle school with most indicating that their experience was with the school participating in the project. However, less than half of the teachers in each school reported holding a 6-8 teaching certificate.

When asked about their degree of satisfaction with teaching, teachers, in general, reported a medium high to generally high level of satisfaction. Overall, teachers reported that their students were from all socio-economic levels. However, teachers from the comparison school and one assessment school reported that their students represented low to middle socio-economic levels. The other assessment school and the differentiation school indicated that their students, in general, were from middle to high socio-economic levels.

#### State Two

This state had three schools participating in the project for a total of 73 teachers when the project began (27 in the differentiation school, 18 in the assessment school, 28 in the comparison school). Based on the information given by teachers in the pre-project survey, Caucasian females comprised the majority of each school's teaching force, with all grade levels and core content areas represented. The majority of teachers in each school reported at least 2 years teaching experience at the middle school level. However, less than 25% of the teachers reported holding a 6-8 teaching certificate.

When asked about their degree of satisfaction with teaching, teachers, in general, reported a medium high to generally high level of satisfaction. Teachers also reported that their students generally came from low to middle socio-economic environments.

Cleveland served as a comparison school, with 28 teachers participating. Franklin served as a differentiation school, with 27 teachers participating. Langley served as an assessment school, with 18 teachers participating.

#### **State Three**

This state had two schools participating in the project for a total of 39 teachers when the project began. Parkway served as a comparison school, with 20 teachers participating. Greene served as a differentiation school, with 19 teachers participating.

Based on the information given by teachers in the pre-project survey, females and males were about equally represented in the comparison school with most teachers being male in the differentiation school. Regardless of gender, all teachers reported being Caucasian. Each grade level and content area were represented in the project by both schools, with the majority of teachers reporting at least 2 years teaching experience at the middle school level. Less than 20% of the teachers in both schools reported holding a 6-8 teaching certificate.

When asked about their degree of satisfaction with teaching, teachers, in general, reported a medium to high level of satisfaction. No teachers reported a low level of satisfaction with teaching. When asked about the socio-economic level of their students, the differentiation school reported their students coming from middle to high socio-economic environments, while the comparison school teachers reported their students coming from low to middle socio-economic environments.

#### **Student Demographics**

The actual implementation of the project in the schools occurred over a 3-year period. Demographic data are presented within each student cohort group, aggregated by treatment condition for the variables of student gender, race/ethnicity, and gifted identification. The study was designed to follow the same set of teachers in each school with three different cohorts of students across a 3-year span. Cohort one was those students who participated in the study for 2 years (n=724). Within this cohort were two different grade levels, students beginning in grade 6 (n=352) and students beginning in grade 7 (n=372). Cohort two was those students who participated in the study for 3 years (n=314). This cohort was composed only of those students who entered the study as sixth graders and exited as eighth graders. Cohort three was those students who participated in the study for 1 year. This cohort was composed of 923 sixth graders and 74 eighth graders. One school requested that eighth grade students be tested in the first year of the project.

#### **Student Cohort 1**

Cohort 1 had two sets of students. In both subsets, students in this cohort participated in the project for 2 complete school years. Subset A consisted of students who began the project as sixth graders and exited as seventh graders. These were students who were sixth graders in the fall of the second year of the project. Subset B was comprised of students who began the project as seventh graders and exited as eighth graders. These were students who were students who were seventh graders in the fall of the second year of the project.

*Subset A.* For each school, demographic information collected is presented in Tables 6-8.

# Subset A: Student Gender by Treatment Within State

	Females	Males
State One		
Comparison Group	20 (77)	6 (23)
Differentiation Group	15 (27)	40 (73)
Assessment Group	55 (59)	40 (41)
State Two		
Comparison Group	27 (64)	15 (36)
Differentiation Group	12 (43)	16 (57)
Assessment Group	31 (51)	29 (48)
State Three		
Comparison Group	13 (81)	3 (19)
Differentiation Group	25 (46)	30 (54)

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent percentages.

	Caucasian	African American	Asian/ Pacific Islander	Hispanic	Native American
State One					
Comparison Group	21 (81)	5 (19)			
Differentiation Group	53 (96)	2 (4)			
Assessment Group	64 (69)	23 (25)		4 (4)	1 (1)
State Two					
Comparison Group	21 (50)	14 (33)	7 (17)		
Differentiation Group	17 (61)	1 (4)	10 (36)		
Assessment Group	17 (28)	41 (68)		2 (2)	1 (1)
State Three					
Comparison Group	14 (88)	2 (13)			
Differentiation Group	34 (62)	18 (33)		3 (6)	

Subset A: Student Racial/Ethnic Group by Treatment Within State

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent percentages.

Subset A: Student Gifted Status by Treatment within State
---

	Identified Gifted	Non-Identified
State One		
Comparison Group	26 (100)	
Differentiation Group	18 (33)	37 (67)
Assessment Group	21 (23)	71 (77)
State Two		
Comparison Group	2 (5)	40 (95)
Differentiation Group	8 (29)	20 (71)
Assessment Group	9 (15)	52 (85)
State Three		
Comparison Group	16 (100)	
Differentiation Group	55 (100)	

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent percentages.

Overall totals are not the same across tables due to missing data.

The comparison group within State One was 77% female, 81% Caucasian and 19% African American. All of the students were identified as gifted and talented. For the differentiation group in State One, 27% were female, 96% Caucasian and 4% African American. Thirty-three percent of the students had been identified as gifted and talented. Within the assessment group, 59% were female, 69% Caucasian, 25% African American, 4% Hispanic, and 1% Native American. Twenty-three percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Overall demographics for State One were 52% female, 79% Caucasian, 17% African American, 2% Hispanic, with less than 1% Native American. Thirty-eight percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented.

For the comparison group within State Two, 64% were female, 50% Caucasian, 33% African American, and 17% Asian/Pacific Islander. Only 5% of the students in the comparison group were identified as gifted and talented. Within the differentiation group, 43% were female, 61% Caucasian, 36% Asian/Pacific Islander, and 4% African American. Twenty-nine percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. For the assessment group, 51% were female, 68% African American, 28% Caucasian, 2% Hispanic and 1% Native American. Fifteen percent of the students were identified as gifted as gifted and talented. Overall demographics for State Two were 53% female, 43% African American, 42% Caucasian, 13% Asian/Pacific Islander, and 1% Hispanic and Native American. Fifteen percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented.

For State Three, the comparison group was comprised of 81% female, 88% Caucasian and 13% African American. All of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Within the differentiation group, 46% were female, 62% Caucasian, 33% African American, and 6% Hispanic. All of the students in the differentiation group were also identified as gifted and talented. Overall demographics for State Three were 54% female, 67% Caucasian, 28% African American, and 4% Hispanic, with all students identified as gifted and talented.

Subset B. For each school, demographic information collected is presented in Tables 9-11. Subset B consisted of those students who began the project as seventh graders and exited as eighth graders. These were students who were seventh graders in the fall of the first year of the project.

Table 9

Breakdown by	<u>/ Student</u>	Gender by	y Treatment	Within State

	Females	Males
State One		
Comparison Group	14 (67)	7 (33)
Differentiation Group	46 (62)	28 (38)
Assessment Group	49 (54)	35 (39)
State Two		
Comparison Group	35 (70)	15 (30)
Differentiation Group	21 (46)	25 (54)
Assessment Group	35 (61)	22 (39)
State Three		
Comparison Group	15 (58)	11 (42)
Differentiation Group	25 (53)	22 (47)

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent percentages.

# Breakdown by Student Racial/Ethnicity by Treatment Within School

	Caucasian	African American	Asian/ Pacific Islander	Hispanic	Native American
State One					
Comparison Group	9 (43)	12 (57)			
Differentiation Group	65 (88)	6 (8)	3 (4)		
Assessment Group	64 (71)	20 (22)	4 (4)		1 (<1)
State Two					
Comparison Group	48 (96)	2 (4)			
Differentiation Group	25 (54)	5 (11)		16 (35)	
Assessment Group	18 (32)	31 (54)	4 (7)	3 (5)	1 (2)
State Three					
Comparison Group	21 (81)	4 (15)		1 (1)	
Differentiation Group	20 (43)	26 (55)	1 (1)		

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent percentages.

	Identified Gifted	Non-Identified
State One		
Comparison Group	4 (19)	17 (71)
Differentiation Group	10 (14)	64 (86)
Assessment Group	7 (8)	82 (92)
State Two		
Comparison Group	17 (34)	33 (66)
Differentiation Group	45 (98)	1 (2)
Assessment Group	21 (37)	36 (63)
State Three		
Comparison Group	26 (100)	
Differentiation Group	32 (68)	15 (32)

#### Breakdown by Gifted Status by Treatment Within State

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent percentages.

Overall totals are not the same across tables due to missing data.

Within State One, for the comparison group 67% were female, 57% African American and 43% Caucasian. Nineteen percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. For the differentiation group, 62% were female, 88% Caucasian, 8% African American, and 4% Asian/Pacific Islander. Fourteen percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. For the assessment group, 54% were female, 71% Caucasian, 22% African American, 4% Asian/Pacific Islander, and less than 1% Native American. Of the students participating in the assessment treatment, 8% were identified as gifted and talented. Overall demographics for State One were 59% female, 75% Caucasian, 21% African American, 4% Asian/Pacific Islander, and less than 1% Native American. Eleven percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented.

For State Two, within the comparison group 70% were female, 96% Caucasian and 4% African American. Thirty-four percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. For the differentiation group, 46% were female, 54% Caucasian, 35% Hispanic, and 11% African American. Ninety-eight percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Within the assessment group, 61% were female, 54% African American, 32% Caucasian, 7% Asian/Pacific Islander, 5% Hispanic, and 2% Native American. Thirty-seven percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Overall demographics were 58% female, 59% Caucasian, 26% African American, 12% Hispanic, 3% Asian/Pacific Islander, and 1% Native American. Fiftyfour percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Within State Three, for the comparison group, 58% were female, 81% Caucasian, 15% African American, and 1% Hispanic. All of the 26 students were identified as gifted and talented. For the differentiation group, 53% were female, 55% African American, 43% Caucasian, and 1% Asian/Pacific Islanders. Sixty-eight percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Overall demographics for State Three were 55% female, 56% Caucasian, 41% African American, and 1% Hispanic and Asian/Pacific Islander. Seventy-nine percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented.

Student Cohort 2. Cohort 2 students were those students who participated in the project for 3 complete school years. These students entered the project in the fall of their sixth grade year and exited the project in the spring of their eighth grade year. Demographic information collected is presented in Tables 12-14 for States One and Two. Because of student attrition and/or redistricting, State Three had no students who participated in the project for 3 complete school years.

Table 12

Breakdown by Student Gender by Treatment Within State

	Females	Males
State One		
Comparison Group	12 (86)	2 (14)
Differentiation Group	44 (57)	33 (43)
Assessment Group	33 (49)	27 (51)
State Two		
Comparison Group	17 (52)	16 (48)
Differentiation Group	23 (52)	21 (48)
Assessment Group	24 (48)	26 (52)

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent percentages.

	Caucasian	African American	Asian/ Pacific Islander	Hispanic	Native American
State One					
Comparison Group	6 (43)	8 (57)			
Differentiation Group	70 (91)	5 (7)	2 (3)		
Assessment Group	48 (71)	16 (24)	4 (6)		
State Two					
Comparison Group	17 (52)	11 (33)		5 (15)	
Differentiation Group	23 (52)	3 (7)	2 (5)	16 (36)	
Assessment Group	20 (40)	27 (54)	1 (2)	2 (4)	

## Breakdown by Student Race/Ethnicity by Treatment Within State

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent percentages.

Overall totals are not the same across tables due to missing data.

Table 14

Breakdown by Gifted Status by Treatment Within State

	Identified Gifted	Non-Identified
State One		
Comparison Group	2 (14)	12 (86)
Differentiation Group	59 (77)	18 (23)
Assessment Group	6 (91)	62 (9)
State Two		
Comparison Group	17 (52)	16 (48)
Differentiation Group	44 (100)	
Assessment Group	5 (10)	45 (90)

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent percentages.

Overall totals are not the same across tables due to missing data.

Within State One, for the comparison group, 86% were female, 57% African American, 43% Caucasian, and 3% Asian/Pacific Islanders. Fourteen percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Within the differentiation group, 57% were female, 91% Caucasian, 7% African American, and 3% Asian/Pacific Islander.

Seventy-seven percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. For the assessment group, 49% were female, 71% Caucasian, 24% African American, and 6% Asian/Pacific Islander. Ninty-one percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Overall demographics for State One included 56% female, 78% Caucasian, 18% African American, and 4% Asian/Pacific Islander.

Within State Two, for the comparison group, 52% were female, 52% Caucasian, 33% African American, and 15% Hispanic. Fifty-two percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Within the differentiation group, 52% were female, 52% Caucasian, 36% Hispanic, 7% African American, and 5% Asian/Pacific Islander. All students in this group were identified as gifted and talented. For the assessment group, 48% were female, 54% African American, 40% Caucasian, 4% Hispanic, and 2% Asian/Pacific Islander. Only 10% of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Overall demographics were 50% female, 47% Caucasian, 32% African American, 18% Hispanic, and 2% Asian/Pacific Islander. Thirty-eight percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented.

Student Cohort 3. Cohort Three were those students who participated in the project for only 1 year. Students entered the project in the fall of their sixth grade year and exited the project in the spring of their sixth grade year. These were students who participated in the project the last year that the project was in operation. Demographic information collected are presented in Tables 15-17 for each of the three states.

Table 15

	Females	Males
State One		
Comparison Group	17 (74)	6 (26)
Differentiation Group	68 (52)	61 (48)
Assessment Group	90 (49)	91 (51)
State Two		
Comparison Group	50 (39)	77 (61)
Differentiation Group	91 (55)	75 (45)
Assessment Group	67 (50)	67 (50)
State Three		
Comparison Group	15 (56)	12 (44)
Differentiation Group	72 (47)	80 (53)

Breakdown by Student Gender by Treatment Within State

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent percentages.

	Caucasian	African American	Asian/ Pacific Islander	Hispanic	Native American
State One					
Comparison Group	14 (58)	10 (42)			
Differentiation Group	106 (75)	30 (21)	4 (3)		
Assessment Group	151 (78)	36 (19)	5 (3)		2 (<1)
State Two					
Comparison Group	80 (60)	30 (23)		22 (17)	
Differentiation Group	72 (40)	23 (13)	4 (2)	78 (43)	
Assessment Group	42 (29)	88 (62)	2 (1)	10 (7)	
State Three					
Comparison Group	19 (68)	5 (18)	2 (7)		2 (7)
Differentiation Group	107 (68)	42 (27)	7 (4)	1 (<1)	

# Breakdown by Student Race/Ethnicity by Treatment Within State

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent percentages.

#### Breakdown by Gifted Status by Treatment Within State

	Identified Gifted	Non-Identified
State One		
Comparison Group	7 (29)	17 (71)
Differentiation Group	30 (21)	111 (79)
Assessment Group	40 (21)	154 (79)
State Two		
Comparison Group	13 (10)	119 (90)
Differentiation Group	51 (28)	126 (72)
Assessment Group	19 (13)	124 (87)
State Three		
Comparison Group	28 (100)	
Differentiation Group	111 (70)	47 (30)

Note: Numbers in parentheses represent percentages.

Overall totals are not the same across tables due to missing data.

Within State One, for the comparison group 74% were female, 58% Caucasian and 42% African American. Twenty-nine percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. For the differentiation group, 52% were female, 75% Caucasian, 21% African American, and 3% Asian/Pacific Islander. Twenty-one percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Within the assessment group, 49% were female, 78% Caucasian, 19% African American, 3% Asian/Pacific Islander, and less than1% Native American. Twenty-one percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Overall demographics for State One included 52% female, 76% Caucasian, 21% African American, 3% Asian/Pacific Islander, and less than 1% Native American.

For State Two, within the comparison group 39% were female, 60% Caucasian, 23% African American, and 17% Hispanic. Ten percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. For the differentiation group, 55% were female, 43% Hispanic, 40% Caucasian, 13% African American, and 2% Asian/Pacific Islander. Twenty-eight percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Within the assessment group, 50% of the students were female, 62% African American, 29% Caucasian, 7% Hispanic, and 1% Asian/Pacific Islander. Thirteen percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Overall demographics for State Two included 49% female students, 43% Caucasian, 31% African American, 24% Hispanic, and 1% Asian/Pacific Islander. Eighteen percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented.

For State Three, within the comparison group 56% were female, 68% Caucasian, 18% African American, 7% Asian/Pacific Islander and Native American. The entire comparison group of students was identified as gifted and talented. For the differentiation group, 47% were female, 68% Caucasian, 27% African American, 4% Asian/Pacific Islander, and less than 1% Hispanic. Seventy percent of the students were identified as gifted and talented. Overall demographics for State Three included 49% female, 68% Caucasian, 25% African American, 5% Asian/Pacific Islander, and less than 1% Hispanic.

#### **Data Collection**

Baseline data were collected in the fall of the second year of the study for students in grades 6 and 7; in Years 3, 4, and 5 students were re-assessed in the spring as they exited each participating middle school.

#### **Data Analysis**

*Teacher questionnaire*. All teachers participating in the study were asked to complete the Middle School Teacher Questionnaire (MSTQ) prior to the project beginning or during their first year, if they did not start in the first year of the project. Teachers were also asked to complete the MSTQ at the end of the project.

Due to attrition, many teachers who completed the MSTQ prior to the larger project's implementation did not complete the MSTQ at the conclusion of the project. Hence, pre-post project comparisons were not possible. However, using a two factor between subjects design (state and treatment), a series of analyses of variance procedures (ANOVAs), controlling for Type I error, were conducted to determine if statistically significant differences existed on the teachers' responses to the pre-project survey questions between states or treatments. No statistically significant differences were found. Because there were no statistical differences in responses, teachers' responses across states and treatments were aggregated and only descriptive statistics were computed. To avoid any misinterpretations of the data because of teacher attrition rates only the pre-project survey are presented.

*Student questionnaire.* Using a two-factor between subjects design (state and treatment), a series of ANOVAs, controlling for Type I error, were conducted to determine if statistically significant differences existed.

Because there were no differences in student responses within cohorts or within schools for any content area, all cohorts and schools were collapsed for each content area. For each content area survey, descriptive analyses were performed item-by-item. (Upon request, individual cohort or school descriptive statistics can be obtained). Results for the teachers' responses are grouped and presented in the following categories: teachers' responses to pre-assessment are presented first, followed by teachers' responses to content decisions and delivery of content, assessment of student achievement, grading, and other issues related to academic concerns.

*Pre-assessment practices.* Teachers were asked how often they used certain strategies to pre-assess students (Table 18). The majority of teachers indicated using observation of student responses and discussion and example activities at least weekly for pre-assessing students' knowledge, understandings, and skills. Previous year's grades, state testing results, and portfolios were strategies that the majority of teachers reported using once a year or less as pre-assessment techniques. Only 10% of teachers reported using formal pre-tests once a week or more.

Use of pre-assessment data. The majority of teachers reported using preassessment data to modify the content of activities given to students, the type of product required of students, the type of activities given to students, the scheduling of student activities, and student work group arrangements at least monthly (Table 19). Less than 15% of teachers reported daily use of pre-assessment data to modify instruction and only about one-third used data once a week or more to modify instruction.

#### **Instructional Practices**

#### **Factors in Determining Content to be Taught**

Teachers were asked the importance of certain factors in determining the content they taught and to rank the importance of each (Table 20). The majority of teachers rated the general skill level of their students to be extremely important in determining content taught. Forty-seven percent of teachers also reported local standards and curriculum guides, state or national curriculum standards, and general readiness level of students as extremely important. A large percentage of teachers considered textbooks, knowledge gained from pre-assessment, teacher-selected themes, student questions/interests, key concepts, and the general readiness level of students as important in determining content taught. Forty-one percent of teachers reported previous year's end-of-grades as unimportant. Interestingly, teachers were evenly divided about the importance of state testing programs: 30% somewhat important, 29% important and extremely important. When asked to rank order the factors, teachers ranked state or national curriculum standards as the most important, local standards and curriculum guides as second in importance followed by key concepts/principles of core disciplines (Ranking 1). Knowledge gained from student pre-assessment and student questions/interests were ranked very low by the teachers.

1	
$\overline{C}$	
11	
2	
(1)	,
S	
÷	
ŏ	
J	
tl	
e.	
Ν	
t	
n	
me	
Я	
SI	
ŝ	
Э	
SS	
3	
~	
~	
Le	
Ρ	
١f	
0	
Э	
Š	
U	

How often do you use the following strategies to pre-assess students?	Never %	Once per year %	2x per year %	1 or 2x per month %	1 or 2x per week %	Every day	Mean* (Std Dev)
Pre-test	12	12	25	42	6	1	3.27 (1.21)
Example activities	6	3	8	25	33	23	4.36 (1.48)
Individual conferences	20	10	14	37	13	9	3.26 (1.54)
Portfolios	54	6	12	13	L	5	2.24 (1.60)
Results from last year's state mandated tests	26	34	21	12	9	2	2.43 (1.29)
Students' grades from the previous year	42	35	15	9	7	1	1.92 (1.06)
Observation of student performance on project or product	4	6	×	34	27	21	4.32 (1.34)
Observation of student responses and discussion	5	1	3	17	27	48	4.99 (1.35)
Journal writing	31	4	4	24	28	10	3.44 (1.85)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 6 (Everyday)

Use of Pre-Assessment Information (N=211)

University of the second secon	Navar	Once per	2x per	1 or 2x	1 or 2x	Evany day	Mann*
to modify:	140 VG	year %	year %	per month $\%$	per week %	LVUI uay (S) (S)	(Std Dev)
Content of learners' activities?	10	7	13	43	21	10	3.88 (1.36)
Type of product required of a student?	16	8	14	36	15	11	3.59 (1.55)
Type of activity you choose for a student?	13	5	13	33	25	11	3.81 (1.51)
Scheduling of student activities?	19	5	14	28	20	14	3.62 (1.67)
Student work group arrangements?	12	2	11	43	20	13	3.92 (1.45)
*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 6 (Every day)							

LY | 5 n n 2

# Factors in Determining Instructional Content

How important are each of these factors in determining the	Not Important	Somewhat Important	Important %	Extremely Important	Mean* (Std Dev)			Rar	Ranking (1 to 8) $\%$	(1 to	8)		
content you teach?	%	%	2	%		1	2	3	4	5	9	7	8
Textbooks	10	37	43	10	2.52 (0.83)	3	6	12	6	18	19	14	19
Local standards/benchmarks/ curriculum guides	1	14	39	47	3.29 (0.79)	24	24	19	10	7	8	4	4
State or national curriculum standards	4	15	34	47	3.23 (0.89)	27	25	12	×	4	4	7	12
Knowledge gained from student pre-assessment	5	32	44	19	2.77 (0.98)	1	$\mathfrak{S}$	٢	16	14	11	21	27
Previous year's end of grade tests	41	44	11	3	1.78 (0.93)	7	Г	٢	10	3	7	32	29
State testing programs	11	30	29	29	2.74 (1.06)	10	15	16	18	4	13	11	15
Teacher selected themes	6	30	48	13	2.63 (0.85)	10	5	$\mathfrak{S}$	٢	23	16	17	19
Student questions/interests	3	28	53	17	2.81 (0.77)	2	7	4	×	18	32	20	14
Key concepts/principles of core disciplines	12	46	42	1	3.30 (0.76)	15	Г	23	18	12	6	11	6
General skill level of my students	1	5	42	52	3.43 (0.69)	13	21	13	20	14	6	9	4
General readiness level of my students	2	11	40	47	3.31 (0.78)	12	15	12	16	15	13	13	5
*Scale Range = 1 (Not Important) to 4 (Extremely Important)	t (Extremely In	nportant)											

Influence of academic needs of student sub-groups. Teachers were asked how much of their instructional practice was shaped by the academic needs of certain student groups and to rank the influence of the groups on their decision-making (Table 21). All of the groups were reported to have some influence on teachers' instructional practices, with average learners being reported by 62% of the teachers as having a strong influence, followed by learners with disabilities (48%), gifted learners (47%), and remedial learners (46%). Consideration of the whole class as a unit and average learners were ranked as the most important groups shaping instructional practices followed by average learners, gifted learners, and remedial learners. Limited English Proficiency (LEP)/Bilingual learners were reported to have the least influence on the instructional decision-making of their teachers.

Use of particular instructional activities. Teachers were asked how often certain instructional activities were used in their classrooms with advanced learners and with struggling learners (Table 22). With advanced learners, learning contracts; tiered assignments; curriculum compacting; learning/interest centers; varied instructional materials; student choice; and flexible grouping based on student interests, ability, or learning profile were all strategies that teachers reported using twice a year or less. Furthermore, 83% of teachers reported never using learning contracts, 58% reported never using tiered assignments, 79% reported never compacting curriculum, and 74% reported never creating learning centers based on core content for advanced learners. In addition, 53% reported never using flexible grouping based on learning profiles. However, pre-assessment strategies, advanced organizers, independent study, cooperative learning strategies, and graphic organizers were strategies reported used with advanced learners at least monthly by the majority of teachers.

In general, teachers reported more frequent use of the listed strategies for struggling learners. For example, the majority of teachers reported pre-assessing, using varied instructional materials, allowing student choices, employing flexible grouping based on student ability/readiness level for struggling learners at least monthly. However, 45% of teachers reported never using learning contracts, 66% reported never using curriculum compacting, and 53% reported never using interest centers with struggling learners.

The responses to the use of these strategies were similar to patterns of responses reported with advanced learners. A majority of teachers reported using independent study, graphic organizers, and cooperative learning at least once a month with both groups of learners. Surprisingly, 79% of teachers reported never using curriculum compacting with advanced learners, and 66% of these teachers reported never using this strategy with struggling learners. Thirteen percent report using the strategy once a month or more with struggling learners, but no teacher reported using this strategy more than once a month with advanced learners.

Ratings and Rankings of Influence of Student Group on Instructional Decision-Making

How much of your instructional practice is	No Influence	Rarely Influence	Some	Strong Influence	Dominates	Mean*			Ranking (1 to 7)	ng (1 1 %	o 7)		
suaped by the academic needs of each of the following groups?	%	%	%	%	%	(Std Dev)	1	2	3	4	5	9	7
Culturally diverse learners	4	18	53	23	3	2.99 (0.89)	5	7	6	16	22	26	15
Remedial learners	2	12	34	46	9	3.37 (0.94)	Г	14	18	22	20	13	9
LEP/Bilingual learners	20	25	37	16	1	2.50 (1.07)	1	3	6	9	19	19	43
Advanced/gifted learners	4	6	27	47	13	3.51 (1.04)	14	10	23	20	10	14	6
Learners with disabilities	4	9	37	48	9	3.41 (0.93)	7	24	24	15	12	14	٢
Average learners	1	2	18	62	17	3.86 (0.84)	35	26	11	10	6	5	3
Consideration of the whole class as a single unit	4	4	30	37	25	3.69 (1.10)	37	15	7	11	7	7	16
*Scale Range = 1 (No Influence) to 5 (Dominates)	to 5 (Domina	tes)											

35

<b>Strategies</b>
Instructiona
н
112
articu
P
Υ
0
Use
Reported
-s
eacher
Ē
of
Percentage o

How often are each of the following			With a	ldvanc	With advanced learners?	rners?				With s	truggl	ing lea	With struggling learners?	
instructional strategies used in your classroom	1	2	3	4	5	9	Mean* (Std Dev)	1	5	3	4	5	6	Mean* (Std Dev)
Pre-assessment of student's current knowledge, understanding, and skills	10	7	15	36	26	L	3.76 (1.41)	∞	∞	13	29	33	∞	3.94 (1.39)
Learning contracts	83	15	2	0	0	0	1.16 (0.45)	45	10	21	18	4	3	2.33 (1.44)
Tiered assignments (multiple assignments given to different students at the same time that are related to the same concept or topic but differ in complexity)	58	25	16	0	0	0	1.54 (0.79)	22	12	19	21	20	5	3.13 (1.62)
Advanced organizer (an activity or reading which equips students with a scaffolding that connects current knowledge with new concepts and provides an organizational framework for the learning that is to follow)	17	4	$\infty$	34	26	11	3.75 (1.64)	16	Ś	10	27	28	14	3.83 (1.67)
Computer programs that focus on basic skills only	49	7	12	21	6	2	2.36 (1.58)	36	2	16	25	15	3	2.84 (1.62)
Computer programs that focus on problem solving, critical thinking or advanced understanding	34	4	20	26	12	5	2.86 (1.65)	37	$\infty$	20	18	11	Ŷ	2.70 (1.64)
Independent study	٢	9	20	29	22	13	3.82 (1.46)	17	12	20	25	16	10	3.40 (1.58)
Curriculum compacting (student tests out of material to be studied by rest of class and works on a different assignment)	79	12	6	0	0	0	1.27 (0.65)	66	12	8	8	4	1	1.74 (1.29)
*Scale Range = $1$ =Never, 2=Once pre year, 3=2x per year, 4=1 or 2x per month, 5=1 or 2x per week, 6=Every day	t per ye	ar, 4=1	or 2x J	ber moi	nth, $5 = 3$	1 or 2x	per week, 6=1	Every da	yr					

Table 22 (continued)

Į

Percentage of Teachers' Reported Use of Particular Instructional Strategies

How often are each of the following			With a	dvanc	With advanced learners?	ners?			,	With s	truggli	With struggling learners?	mers?	
instructional strategies used in your classroom	1	2	3	4	5	9	Mean* (Std Dev)	1	2	3	4	5	9	Mean* (Std Dev)
Learning centers based on core content	74	17	6	0	0	0	1.31 (0.67)	44	11	16	18	8	4	2.41 (1.58)
Varied instructional materials for the same lesson	23	24	53	0	0	0	2.27 (0.86)	8	4	6	23	37	19	4.33 (1.44)
Varied instructional materials in a given unit of study	21	27	53	0	0	0	2.29 (0.84)	7	4	6	23	35	23	4.37 (1.46)
Students choices (about content, process, and/or product)	45	31	25	0	0	0	1.78 (0.83)	17	6	24	33	13	4	3.26 (1.40)
Flexible grouping based on student interest	46	30	24	0	0	0	1.75 (0.83)	18	10	23	29	16	4	3.24 (1.46)
Flexible grouping based on student ability or student readiness level	36	29	35	0	0	0	1.96 (0.87)	10	9	20	32	22	10	3.77 (1.41)
Flexible grouping based on student learning style or profile	53	22	25	0	0	0	1.69 (0.87)	24	6	20	22	16	6	3.20 (1.66)
Cooperative learning strategies	ю	2	7	31	40	17	4.48 (1.22)	7	6	6	33	37	17	4.48 (1.13)
Graphic organizers (webs, semantic maps, flow charts, and other devices that allow students to view and construct relationships between ideas	٢	5	С	31	43	12	4.31 (1.33)	∞	7	9	28	44	12	4.31 (1.33)
Interest centers/groups (a learning center based on student interest)	52	8	18	12	8	2	2.14 (1.47)	53	10	17	13	6	2	2.13 (1.45)
*Scale Pance $-1$ -Never $2$ -Once are veer $2$ - $2$ v ner	TOOL NOOL		~ ~ C ~~	1000 100	+h 5-1	vC 20	$\lambda = 1$ or $\lambda$ v ner month $\xi = 1$ or $\lambda$ v ner mean $k = E$ very day	ob men						

\*Scale Range = 1=Never, 2=Once pre year, 3=2x per year, 4=1 or 2x per month, 5=1 or 2x per week, 6=Every day

38

Use of the classroom accommodations. Teachers were asked how often they used particular accommodations to meet the learning needs of advanced and struggling learners (Table 23). Similar patterns were reported for both groups of learners. The majority of teachers reported using time, length and pace adjustments for assignments, using peers as tutors, and adjusting depth of content at least weekly for both groups of learners. However, a majority of teachers reported never using tape recorded material or rarely using adults as mentors with either type of learner. Teachers reported modifying tests (completing a written test orally) and assignments (completing a written assignment orally), individually administering a test, individually tailoring an assignment, varying materials based on student reading levels, or adjusting the length of assignments and depth of content more frequently for struggling learners than for advanced learners.

Use of student grouping arrangements. The majority of teachers reported that at least weekly they used direct instruction with the whole class, whole group seat work, and small heterogeneous groups working on the same assignments (Table 24). Forty-six percent of teachers reported daily use of direct instruction with 32% of teachers reporting that daily the whole class worked on the same seat assignment. The majority of teachers also reported that in their classrooms the following arrangements occurred at least monthly: individual students working on independent assignments, small heterogeneous groups working on the same or different assignments.

Percentage of Teachers Reporting Use of Particular Strategies to Accommodate Student Needs

How offen do vou use the following			of ac	of advanced learners?	l learne	ers?				of stı	of struggling learners?	g learne	ers?	
strategies to accommodate the needs	1	2	3	4	5	9	Mean* (Std Dev)	1	2	3	4	5	9	Mean* (Std Dev)
Modify time student takes to complete an assignment	13	7	7	21	31	21	4.08 (1.69)	5	1	4	18	33	41	4.99 (1.18)
Tape record content material for the student to listen to	67	٢	12	6	5	4	1.84 (1.44)	53	9	14	10	12	9	2.37 (1.70)
Individually administer a test other than a make up for student absence	46	13	14	18	L	7	2.30 (1.50)	23	8	18	34	15	4	3.17 (1.51)
Individually tailor an assignment as part of planning for instruction	28	8	11	22	19	11	3.24 (1.80)	16	4	12	25	24	20	3.94 (1.68)
Adjust pacing according to student's needs	8	6	4	17	21	45	4.64 (1.67)	7	1	3	16	26	52	5.17 (1.16)
Use peers as tutors	11	3	8	25	33	20	4.19 (1.58)	9	7	6	29	33	22	4.43 (1.34)
Use adults as mentors	49	19	15	6	5	4	2.12 (1.45)	43	14	17	11	6	7	2.48 (1.65)
Vary materials based on student reading levels	20	7	6	25	24	15	3.64 (1.76)	8	4	5	28	33	23	4.37 (1.47)
Adjust length of assignment according to student needs	16	4	٢	19	26	30	4.17 (1.80)	4	1	6	19	33	39	4.89 (1.27)
Adjust depth of content according to student needs	14	5	٢	17	27	30	4.21 (1.78)	9	1	9	19	32	36	4.76 (1.38)
Allow student to do a written test orally	51	16	18	8	$\mathfrak{S}$	5	2.08 (1.44)	25	6	18	30	6	8	3.12 (1.59)
Allow student to do a written assignment orally	49	12	15	13	7	4	2.25 (1.55)	32	9	19	24	12	5	2.83 (1.61)
*Scale Range = $1$ =Never $2$ =Once are vear $3$ = $3x$ ner		ar 4=1	or 2x r	ber mor	th 5=	1 or 2x	vear 4=1 or 2x ner month 5=1 or 2x ner week 6=Every dav	verv da	At					

'Scale Range = 1=Never, 2=Once pre year, 3=2x per year, 4=1 or 2x per month, 5=1 or 2x per week, 6=Every day

4	
2	
O	
Ы	
al	
H	
L	

	200	と	5
•	12	TTT.	
	Ē	u n	•
,	ç		
(	Ļ	ר ר	
	P		
	S	n n	
ζ	/	2	
د	t	10	
	Q	2	
F	Č	5	

How often do your students work in the following groupings?	Never %	Once per year %	2x per year %	1 or 2x per month %	1 or 2x per week %	Every day %	Mean* (Std Dev)
Lecture, direct instruction, and/or discussion with the class as a $whole$	0	0	0	3	52	46	5.39 (0.71)
Whole group working on the same seat work	0	0	1	6	62	32	5.22 (0.73)
Individual students working on independent assignments	1	9	13	32	35	13	4.31 (1.15)
Small <i>heterogeneous</i> groups working on <i>same</i> assignment	2	0	9	29	54	10	4.59 (0.96)
Small <i>heterogeneous</i> groups working on <i>different</i> assignments	10	6	16	45	16	4	3.60 (1.29)
Small homogeneous groups working on same assignment	17	8	11	33	27	4	3.56 (1.52)
Small homogeneous groups working on different assignments	26	×	16	35	12	ю	3.08 (1.53

Influence on Teacher Willingness to Try New Instructional Practices. Factors found to have the strongest influence on teacher willingness to try new instructional practices were teachers' own openness to risk, perceived benefit for their own personal/professional growth, how much their students would enjoy the new practice, and concerns about the effect on student learning in general (Table 25). A majority of teachers reported that confidence in research findings, administrator support, concerns that new practices were not developed for their students, concerns about the effect on their teaching evaluations, and concerns about the effect on student performance on standardized assessments had some influence on their willingness to try new instructional practices.

#### Table 25

How do the following factors influence your willingness to try new instructional practices?	No Influence (1)	Some Influence (2)	Strong Influence (3)	Mean* (Std Dev)
Confidence in research findings	14	65	22	2.06 (0.61)
Administrator support	8	52	40	2.31 (0.64)
My own openness to risk in general	4	44	51	2.44 (0.62)
Perceived benefit for my own personal/professional growth	5	34	62	2.55 (0.62)
How much my students will enjoy it	1	25	74	2.72 (0.51)
Concern that new practices are not developed for students like mine	33	55	13	1.78 (0.66)
Concern about the effect on my teaching evaluation	38	52	10	1.71 (0.65)
Concern about the effect on student performance on standardized assessments	13	51	36	2.21 (0.69)
Concern about the effect on student learning in general	2	39	59	2.55 (0.58)

Percentage of Teachers Reporting Willingness to Try Instructional Practices

\*Scale Range = 1 (No Influence) to 3 (Strong Influence)

*Factors influencing differentiation.* When asked how certain factors affected the degree to which they were able to differentiate instruction for the students they taught, a majority of teachers indicated that the amount of planning time (or lack of) was a factor that hindered them in differentiating instruction (Table 26). Budget restrictions, range of academic diversity in the classroom, and concerns about classroom management were also seen by a large proportion of teachers (42-49%) as hindering their efforts to differentiate instruction. However, their own training and expertise in differentiation (58%), their personal philosophy (59%), and the knowledge and support of other faculty (50%) were reported as factors that helped the majority of teachers differentiate instruction in the classroom. Factors that were reported by the majority to be neither hindering nor helpful included the school leadership, parent expectations, range of cultural diversity in the classroom, and district-, state-, and national-level initiatives. A large proportion of teachers (41-49%) indicated that budget restrictions, student

expectations, the range of academic diversity, the school schedule, and knowledge and support of other faculty neither helped nor hindered them.

# Factors That Impact Differentiation

Over the past year, how did each of the following factors affect the degree to which you were able to differentiate instruction for the students you taught?	Hindered Me (1) %	Neither Hindered Nor Helped Me (2) %	Helped Me (3) %	Mean* (Std Dev)
Concerns about classroom management	49	38	13	1.63 (0.71)
Administration/school leadership	10	61	29	2.18 (0.62)
Your own training and experience in differentiation	23	19	58	2.33 (0.85)
Availability of instructional materials	36	21	43	2.06 (0.90)
Budget restrictions	49	49	2	1.52 (0.56)
Amount of planning time	57	21	21	1.62 (0.82)
Personal philosophy of education	3	39	59	2.54 (0.59)
Student expectations	11	45	44	2.31 (0.70)
Parent expectations	13	56	31	2.16 (0.66)
Range of academic diversity in the classroom	42	41	17	1.74 (0.74)
Range of cultural diversity in the classroom	15	70	15	1.99 (0.57)
School schedule/blocks of time	35	47	18	1.82 (0.73)
Knowledge and support of other faculty	7	43	50	2.41 (0.65)
District-level mandates and initiatives	27	61	12	1.82 (0.64)
State-level mandates and initiatives	28	59	13	1.83 (0.64)
National-level mandates and initiatives	10	81	9	1.97 (0.47)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Hindered Me) to 3 (Helped Me)

*Responses to new instructional practice ideas.* Sixty-four percent of teachers reported being enthusiastic about new instructional practices, with only 3% of teachers reporting resistance or disinterest (Table 27).

#### **Assessment of Student Outcomes**

Assessing achievement or outcomes of instruction. The majority of teachers reported at least monthly use of objective tests, student demonstrations, essays, or short-answer tests to assess student achievement, with objective tests being the most common method (Table 28). Student learning logs or journals were used less frequently, with 27% of teachers reporting never using them to assess student achievement or outcomes of instruction.

Use of certain types of item formats. The majority of teachers reported using all of the test item format options presented at least some of the time, with the least used formats being true/false-type questions and matching-type items (Table 29).

Table 27

#### Receptiveness to New Practices

When I read or hear about a new instructional practice I am generally:	%
Enthusiastic	64
Hesitant	16
Skeptical	16
Resistant	2
Disinterested	1

28	
0	
Ы	
al	
H	

Use of Assessment Strategies

How often do you use the following strategies to assess student achievement/outcome of instruction?	Never %	Once per year %	2x per year %	1 or 2x per month %	1 or 2x per week %	Every day %	Mean* (Std Dev)
Objective tests requiring recall of factual material only (e.g., multiple choice, fill-in- the-blank, true/false, matching)	5	4	6	59	26	0	3.99 (0.90)
Objective tests requiring analysis, synthesis, and evaluation (e.g., multiple choice, fill-in- the-blank, true/false, matching)	1	б	6	99	23	1	4.09 (0.80)
Student demonstrations or performance tasks (e.g., portfolios, projects, oral examinations)	1	0	20	58	17	4	3.99 (0.88)
Essays	10	3	18	51	18	1	3.63 (1.16)
Student learning logs or journals	27	9	8	20	23	18	3.57 (1.88)
Tests requiring a brief written response	9	1	6	60	20	4	3.93 (1.08)
*Scale Range = $1$ =Never, 2=Once pre year, 3=2x per year	r, $4=1$ or $2x$ per	per year, 4=1 or 2x per month, 5=1 or 2x per week, 6=Every day	2x per week, 6	Every day			

45

## Percentage of Teachers Reporting Use of Item Formats in Tests

How often do you use the following types of item format in your tests?	Never (1)	Rarely (2)	Some- Times (3)	Often (4)	Always (5)	Mean* (Std Dev)
Short answer questions (e.g., fill in the blank, one or two word responses, definitions)	1	8	42	42	6	3.41 (0.84)
Open-ended problems (e.g., those with several possible answers)	2	11	43	40	4	3.27 (0.89)
Essays requiring at least a paragraph response	4	15	31	42	9	3.37 (1.00)
Multiple-choice questions	1	17	32	43	7	3.35 (0.93)
True/false questions	9	34	31	23	4	2.76 (1.04)
Matching items	4	24	42	27	4	3.00 (0.94)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always)

Competency in constructing and using certain assessment techniques. The majority of teachers felt at least quite competent in using all of the assessment techniques presented as options with the exception of portfolios. Forty-three percent of teachers reported little competence and 11% reported no skills at all regarding competency with portfolios (Table 30). Approximately one-third of teachers reported feeling less than competent in using pre-assessment techniques or student learning logs or journals.

*Factors affecting use of authentic assessments.* Teachers were also asked to indicate how often certain environmental factors affected the degree to which they were able to use authentic assessment strategies with students (Table 31). Teachers indicated that most factors presented neither helped nor hindered the use of authentic assessment strategies. However, the amount of planning time (or lack of) was reported by the majority of teachers to be a hindrance in implementing authentic assessment strategies. Teachers' own training and experience in assessment (57%) and their personal philosophy of education (58%) were considered helpful factors.

- -	l echniques	
	Assessment	
•	mpetence in A	-
ζ	Com	

How competent do you feel in constructing and using each of the following assessment techniques?	No Skills in This Area (1)	Not Very Competent (2)	Quite Competent (3)	Extremely Competent (4)	Mean* (Std Dev)
	%	%	%	%	
Teacher-made objective tests assessing factual information only (e.g., multiple-choice, fill-in-the blank, true/false, matching)	1	2	48	49	3.47 (0.79)
Teacher-made objective tests requiring analysis, synthesis, and evaluation (e.g., multiple-choice, fill-in-the blank, true/false, matching)	1	6	58	35	3.26 (0.66)
Performance tasks in general	0	5	65	30	3.27 (0.77)
Oral examinations	3	22	57	19	3.23 (1.59)
Portfolios	11	43	36	10	2.71 (1.55)
Projects	2	6	48	41	3.29 (0.90)
Essays	3	13	54	30	3.13 (0.91)
Student learning logs or journals	Q	27	41	27	2.92 (1.03)
Pre-assessment of student learning	2	29	53	16	3.03 (1.36)
*Scale Range = 1 (No Skills) to 4 (Extremely Commetent)					

\*Scale Range = 1 (No Skills) to 4 (Extremely Competent)

# Factors That Effect the Use of Authentic Assessment

Over the past year, how did each of the following environmental factors affect the degree to which you were able to use authentic assessment strategies with the students you taught?	Hindered Me (1) %	Neither Hindered Nor Helped Me (2) %	Helped Me (3) %	Mean* (Std Dev) %
Concerns about classroom management	39	51	10	1.69 (0.67)
Administration/school leadership	7	70	23	2.12 (0.58)
Your own training and experience in assessment	20	23	57	2.33 (0.85)
Availability of assessment materials	41	36	23	1.80 (0.81)
Budget restrictions	40	58	2	1.59 (0.55)
Amount of planning time	58	27	15	1.54 (0.75)
Personal philosophy of education	4	38	58	2.51 (0.64)
Student expectations regarding assessment	20	50	30	2.07 (0.74)
Parent expectations regarding assessment	19	60	21	1.99 (0.68)
Range of academic diversity in the classroom	30	49	21	1.88 (0.74)
Range of cultural diversity in the classroom	18	70	13	1.92 (0.59)
School schedule/blocks of time	35	48	18	1.80 (0.73)
Knowledge and support of other faculty	4	59	37	2.29 (0.62)
District-level mandates and initiatives	23	66	10	1.84 (0.61)
State-level mandates and initiatives	25	65	10	1.84 (0.61)
National-level mandates and initiatives	13	81	7	1.91 (0.49)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Hindered Me) to 3 (Helped Me)

*Professional development experiences in assessment.* Teachers were asked about the means through which they had learned more about assessing student readiness and achievement (Table 32). Fifty percent of teachers reported personal experience, 42% reported self-study, 38% reported workshops, 31% reported conferences, and 29% reported university level coursework as ways they had learned more about assessment.

Table 32

**Opportunities to Learn About Assessment** 

Check each means through which you have learned more about assessing student readiness and achievement.	%
Workshop	38
Self-study/personal reading	42
Personal experience	50
University level coursework	29
Conferences	31

### **Grading Practices**

Sixty-four percent of teachers reported that student effort was extremely important in grading decisions (Table 33), with another 31% rating the factor as important (95% rating it important or extremely important). Eighty-five percent of the teachers also reported standards for achievement and individual progress as extremely important or important. Individual achievement relative to the rest of the class was considered less important in determining grades than were the other factors. The ranking data did not present a clear pattern of importance with the exception of individual achievement relative to the class (Ranking 1), which clearly received the lowest ranking.

Assessment methods. Teachers were also asked the degree of importance they attached to certain assessment methods when grading and to rank the factors in order of their importance (Table 34). The majority of teachers rated all of the factors as important or extremely important in grading. Ninety-two percent of teachers rated projects, 86% rated class participation, 83% rated tests/quizzes, and 63% rated homework as extremely important or important. Moreover, teachers ranked projects and tests/quizzes (Ranking 1) as the most important factors in determining grades. Homework was ranked the least important factor.

Importance of Factors in Grading

	j	(3)	Important	Mean*	Nč	unking 9	Kankıng (1 to 4) $\%$	4)
	$\mathcal{O}_{0}^{\prime\prime}$		%		1	2	3	4
Individual achievement relative to the rest of the class	40	37	11	2.41 (0.91)	6	11	23	58
Individual improvement/progress over the 2 last grading period	14	49	36	3.11 (0.87)	20	26	38	16
Standards for achievement	13	52	33	3.11 (0.83)	40	15	24	21
Student effort 1	4	31	64	3.51 (0.80)	29	48	18	5

Scale Range = 1 (Not Important) to 4 (Extremely Important)

Importance of Assessment Methods

What degree of importance do you	an	Somewhat Important	Im	Extremely Important	Mean*	R	anking	Ranking (1 to 4) $\%$	
attach to the following when grading?	% (1)	(2) %	% %	(4) %	(Std Dev)	1	5	3	4
Tests/quizzes	1	16	58	25	3.03 (0.76)	31	22	24	24
Projects demonstrating achievement other than testing	1	8	50	42	3.29 (0.71)	32	35	22	11
Homework	2	35	49	14	2.73 (0.76)	5	18	28	49
Class participation	2	13	42	44	3.25 (0.80)	29	22	30	20
*Scale Range = 1 (Not Important) to 4 (Extremely ]	y Important)								

51

*Determining criteria for grades.* The majority of teachers reported that they perceived the teacher as most often responsible for determining grading criteria, while students alone and teachers and students together only sometimes determined grading criteria (Table 35).

Table 35

Key Determinants of Grading Criteria

How often are criteria for grades in your class determined by the following factors?	Never (1) %	Rarely (2) %	Some- Times (3) %	Often (4) %	Always (5) %	Mean* (Std Dev)
The teacher	0	0	11	59	30	4.13 (0.78)
Students	11	27	47	11	4	2.66 (1.02)
Teacher and students together	9	21	48	2	1	2.83 (0.96)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always)

*Other academic issues.* The majority of teachers reported that they often or always felt confident in teaching their subjects, that planning for a differentiated classroom was worth the effort, that the ability levels of students should be taken into consideration when grading, that performance assessments provided a better assessment of student knowledge than multiple-choice tests, that students in a differentiated classroom were more likely to be actively engaged in learning, and that assessment in a differentiated classroom helped them understand student needs (Table 36). However, in contrast, 70% of teachers reported that the time and effort in planning and assessing projects were never or rarely worth the instructional benefits.

## **Students' Perceptions of Classrooms**

In addition to collecting teacher data, students in participating teachers' classrooms were asked to complete a pre- and post-project survey on their perceptions of their classrooms in the content areas of language arts, social studies, mathematics, and science.

Issues	
Academic	
of	
Variety	

How often do you agree with the following statements?	Never (1) %	Rarely (2) %	Sometimes (3) %	Often (4) %	Always $(5)$	Mean* (Std Dev)
I feel very confident in teaching my academic subject(s).	0	1	5	48	46	4.35 (0.75)
Planning for a differentiated classroom is well worth the effort.	1	2	37	41	20	3.74 (0.87)
The ability level of the student should be taken into consideration in grading an assignment.	1	3	27	44	25	3.88 (0.89)
Class behavior should be considered in determining student grades.	32	20	30	9	11	2.43 (1.32)
Performance assessments (such as oral examinations, student demonstrations, portfolios) provide a better assessment of student knowledge than do multiple-choice tests.	0	1	37	45	17	3.75 (0.80)
Assessment in a differentiated classroom helps teachers understand student achievement and learning needs.	0	1	31	52	17	3.81 (0.76)
Curriculum compacting takes too much time to plan and carry out.	2	10	60	24	9	3.20 (0.81)
In a differentiated classroom, students are more likely to be actively engaged in learning.	2	5	33	48	12	3.61 (0.89)
The time and effort in planning and assessing projects are not worth the instructional benefits.	20	50	26	4	0	2.13 (0.80)
There is always a <i>best</i> way to solve a problem (such as a math or science problem).	14	27	44	12	4	2.63 (1.00)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always)

#### Middle School Language Arts Classrooms

One thousand four hundred twenty-eight students (n=1,428) completed both the pre-project and the post-project surveys.

*Classroom opportunities.* Students were asked the frequency with which they were provided a variety of opportunities in their language arts classroom. The majority of students indicated on both the pre- and post-surveys that, on a daily basis, they listened to the teacher lecture and worked on the same assignment as other students. In addition, a larger percentage of students reported that, at least weekly, they worked alone on drills, practicing skills or individual contracts, and participated in class discussions where the teacher seemed interested in new ways of solving problems. Students also reported rarely having individual conferences with the teacher about their work (Table 37).

Use of preassessment strategies. When asked how their teacher attempted to gather information about what they already knew prior to starting a lesson, students reported that their teachers used example activities and their performance on classroom activities more frequently than other strategies (Table 38). Students also reported that their teachers held individual conferences, reviewed a portfolio, or administered pre-tests less often, with the majority reporting these strategies used less than monthly.

Use of classroom accommodations. Students were asked how often they were provided particular opportunities to address their learning needs (Table 39). In general, students reported that the opportunities presented occurred less than once or twice a grading period. Specifically, the majority of students indicated that they were never allowed to skip an assignment because they already knew the material, never received different assignments or used different materials from other students, were never allowed choices in selecting class work assignments, never worked with mentors, or never had learning centers in their classroom. Over 65% of the students reported never teaching language arts to other students.

*Engagement in classroom activities.* When asked about the instructional activities they engaged in during their language arts class, about half of the students reported that they were always able to keep up with instruction and assignments. A majority perceived that the teacher often or always taught material so that they could pass the end of chapter tests and do well on standardized tests. Roughly half of the students reported that they were never allowed choices about what they learned or did in class. Students also indicated that their interests were rarely considered in what they learned or activities they did (Table 40).

Students' Perceptions of Opportunities in Language Arts Classrooms

How often do each of the following activities occur in your language arts class?	Never (1)	er )	1-2 tim grading I (2)	1-2 times a grading period (2)	1-2 tir a mor (3)	1-2 times a month (3)	1-2 time a week (4)	1-2 times a week (4)	1-2 times a day (5)	imes ay )	Mean* (Std Dev)	n* Jev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I listen to the teacher lecture—the teacher talks to the class, gives information.	4	9	6	L	8	6	18	23	61	55	4.23 (1.17)	4.13 (1.21)
I take notes while the teacher lectures.	22	25	11	13	15	19	28	27	25	18	3.22 (1.49)	3.00 (1.44)
I work alone (on drills, practicing skills, reading and answering questions, doing problems).	9	٢	7	7	8	11	24	28	55	48	4.16 (1.19)	4.02 (1.22)
I participate in class discussions where the teacher seems interested in new ways of solving problems.	٢	10	٢	8	6	11	26	31	51	41	4.07 (1.23)	3.84 (1.31)
I work on a group project.	18	14	17	29	31	36	21	14	13	9	2.94 (1.28)	2.70 (1.07)
I work in cooperative learning groups.	20	20	12	16	17	27	27	22	24	15	3.25 (1.44)	2.95 (1.33)
I do hands-on activities in class.	22	25	15	17	19	21	25	24	19	13	3.05 (1.43)	2.82 (1.38)
I have individual conferences with the teacher about my work.	50	45	19	27	13	14	11	8	7	9	2.07 (1.31)	2.04 (1.21)
One student explains subject material or assignments to another student.	31	33	12	16	15	17	22	20	20	14	2.88 (1.54)	2.66 (1.46)
I work on the same assignment as everybody in the class.	3	7	9	5	5	9	6	8	78	80	4.54 (1.01)	4.58 (0.95)
I work alone on an individual contract or independent study.	18	21	10	13	10	13	22	18	39	35	3.53 (1.53)	3.33 (1.56)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (1-2 times a day) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Students Reporting the Use of Pre-Assessment Methods in Language Arts Classroom

How often does your language arts teacher use each of these techniques to find out what you already know <i>before</i>	Never (1)	Vever (1)	1-2 ti grac per	<ul><li>1-2 times a grading period</li><li>(2)</li></ul>	1-2 time: a month (3)	1-2 times a month (3)	1-2 time a week (4)	1-2 times a week (4)	1-2 t a d	1-2 times a day (5)	Me: (Std	Mean* (Std Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Gives me a pre-test.	28	40	13	18	20	20	31	18	8	4	2.78 (1.36)	2.29 (1.27)
Gives me example activities.	10	15	6	12	15	18	29	29	37	27	3.73 (1.32)	3.40 (1.38)
Has an individual conference with me.	56	53	18	23	13	13	8	7	5	4	1.87 (1.20)	1.85 (1.14)
Reviews my language arts portfolio.	39	50	19	20	15	13	17	10	10	9	2.41 (1.41)	2.02 (1.26)
Looks at my performance on a project I completed.	16	17	16	23	24	27	22	17	23	15	3.21 (1.37)	2.90 (1.30)
Looks at my performance in classroom activities.	6	12	6	10	13	15	27	28	43	35	3.84 (1.31)	3.64 (1.37)
*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to $5$ (1-2 times a day)												

\*Scale Kange = 1 (Never) to 5 (1-2 times a day) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

					0		0					
How often does each of the following events happen in your language arts class?	Never (1)	/er )	1-2 times a grading period (2)	mes a period	1-2 times a month (3)	1-2 times a month (3)	1-2 time a week (4)	1-2 times a week (4)	1-2 time a day (5)	1-2 times a day (5)	Me (Std	Mean* (Std Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I am allowed to skip an assignment because I already know the material.	88	88	5	5	3	2	3	3	2	2	1.26 (0.80)	1.25 (0.79)
I receive different assignments from the other students in the class.	76	73	8	14	7	7	9	4	3	3	1.51 (1.04)	1.50 (0.98)
I use different materials than other students in the class.	71	70	8	14	8	9	L	5	9	5	1.68 (1.22)	1.61 (1.13)
I work with other students who have interests similar to mine.	32	32	14	20	15	17	20	15	19	16	2.81 (1.53)	2.63 (1.45)
My teacher places me in a group with students who have the same abilities or skill levels as I do.	37	36	13	17	15	21	16	15	19	11	2.66 (1.56)	2.49 (1.40)
I work with mentors who share my particular interests.	53	61	10	12	13	12	12	6	11	L	2.19 (1.48)	1.88 (1.30)
There are learning centers in my classroom that I visit individually or with other students.	68	76	6	8	6	7	6	5	9	4	1.76 (1.26)	1.53 (1.07)
I am given the opportunity to choose a class work assignment.	63	57	12	19	13	13	L	9	4	4	1.78 (1.19)	1.81 (1.15)
I get to choose a project from a list provided by the teacher.	42	35	21	32	22	22	8	9	7	9	2.17 (1.26)	2.16 (1.13)
I can suggest to my teacher a project that I feel demonstrates what I have learned.	42	49	18	21	21	15	6	L	12	6	2.31 (1.38)	2.06 (1.30)
My class uses learning groups.	41	44	12	17	15	18	18	13	14	6	2.52 (1.51)	2.24 (1.35)
Membership in the learning groups in my language arts class changes.	45	47	16	23	16	16	13	10	10	9	2.27 (1.41)	2.05 (1.23)
I teach language arts to other students.	68	66	12	15	8	8	7	6	6	5	1.70 (1.20)	1.70 (1.16)

Students' Perceptions of Opportunities Provided for Meeting Their Learning Needs in Language Arts Classrooms

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (1-2 times a day) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

40
le
ab
Ĥ

Engagement in Instructional Activities Reported by Students in Language Arts Classrooms

Now thinking about yourself and your teacher, how often does each of the following statements	Ne	Never (1)	Rai (2	Rarely (2)	Sometimes (3)	times ()	Often (4)	en (j	Alwa (5)	Always (5)	Mean* (Std Dev)	an* Dev)
apply in this class?	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
What I do in class is too difficult.	26	26	41	44	27	26	3	3	2	2	2.14 (0.92)	2.11 (0.87)
What I do in class is too easy.	15	12	27	25	35	38	17	18	9	Ζ	2.71 (1.09)	2.82 (1.08)
I am able to keep up with instruction.	2	2	4	4	12	12	31	32	52	50	4.27 (0.93)	4.26 (0.93)
I am able to keep up with assignments.	2	2	3	5	12	12	27	32	56	49	4.34 (0.91)	4.22 (0.97)
I have choices of what I learn about in class.	53	48	20	26	15	17	9	5	L	5	1.93 (1.22)	1.95 (1.14)
I have choices of what I do in class.	49	42	22	26	18	19	5	9	9	7	1.97 (1.21)	2.10 (1.21)
What I learn about in class is based on my interests.	33	35	26	31	28	25	8	9	4	3	2.23 (1.12)	2.12 (1.06)
Activities I do in class are based on my interests.	32	35	25	28	28	27	11	7	5	3	2.32 (1.17)	2.15 (1.08)
The teacher selects a theme or concept for me to study (such as "conflict" or "tragedy") and what I do in class is related to that theme.	18	19	12	13	25	29	26	24	19	15	3.16 (1.36)	3.02 (1.31)
The teacher teaches material so I can pass the end of unit/chapter tests.	8	7	9	8	15	16	25	27	46	43	3.96 (1.24)	3.91 (1.23)
The teacher teaches materials so I do well on standardized tests.	5	4	5	9	15	18	24	25	51	46	4.10 (1.16)	4.02 (1.14)
The lessons and material the teacher chooses seem to come right from the textbook.	6	11	16	21	31	34	25	18	19	16	3.29 (1.20)	3.07 (1.21)
*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.	reportin	úc.										

58

*Perceptions about classrooms.* When asked about the degree to which they agreed with statements reflecting challenges, types of learning activities, and the environment in their language arts classroom, students tended to agree that class was a place where they learned things that were important to them, that they felt they were working to their potential, that they preferred learning activities that would aid them in remembering information for later testing times as well as activities where new, creative, or very different ideas were encouraged, listened to, and discussed. Students also agreed that they worked best when it was for a grade, an honor, or a privilege, that they were able to work well independently, that they showed their best learning when they did a project or when they took multiple-choice tests, and that they liked the opportunity to revise and improve their work before the final grade. Students indicated that there was more to language arts than getting the right answer, but that their teachers tended to think there was a best way to answer a question (Table 41).

*Factors important in determining grades.* When asked how important particular factors should be in determining their grades, students indicated that all the listed factors should be very important with the exception of how well they did compared to other students, which was rated much lower in importance (Table 42).

*Responsibility for determining grading criteria.* The final question on the language arts survey asked students about who determined the criteria for grading. Students reported that rarely did they and the teacher decide together and never did they alone decide how they would be graded. Instead, the teacher was the main decision-maker, with the majority of students indicating that at least some of the time the grading criteria were clearly explained to them (Table 43).

#### Middle School Mathematics Classrooms

One thousand three hundred and thirty-one students (n=1,331) completed both the pre-project and post-project surveys.

*Classroom opportunities.* Students were asked about the frequency of a variety of opportunities they were provided in their mathematics classroom. The majority of students indicated that on a daily basis they listened to the teacher lecture and worked alone on drills and practicing skills. Four-fifths of the students reported working on the same assignment as everyone else on a daily basis. In addition, for both the pre- and post-surveys, students reported that at least weekly they worked on individual contracts, took notes while the teacher lectured, and participated in class discussions where the teacher seemed interested in new ways of solving problems. About half of the students reported they never had individual conferences with the teacher about their work (Table 44). These responses were similar to the responses from the language arts surveys.

41
e
[q]
La

Students' Perceptions of Their Language Arts Classrooms

We are interested in how well each one of the following statements describes the way you feel about your language arts class.	Strongly Disagree (1)	ngly gree	Disag (2)	Disagree (2)	Agre (3)	Agree (3)	Stro Ag (2	Strongly Agree (4)	Mean* (Std Dev)	an* Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I find the work we do in language arts to be challenging.	16	17	36	43	40	33	6	L	2.41 (0.88)	2.30 (0.83)
I have to work hard to make good grades in language arts.	8	11	18	23	41	43	32	23	2.97 (0.92)	2.78 (0.92)
The pace of my language arts class is too slow for me.	22	20	54	54	16	18	8	6	2.10 (0.83)	2.15 (0.83)
Language arts class is a place where I learn things that are important to me.	8	10	13	20	49	47	30	24	3.00 (0.88)	2.85 (0.90)
I never learn anything new in language arts.	44	39	39	44	11	10	9	8	1.80 (0.89)	1.87 (0.88)
I feel as if I am working to my potential in language arts class.	L	8	15	15	47	50	31	27	3.03 (0.87)	2.96 (0.86)
I prefer learning activities in which information is given to me to be remembered for testing at a later time.	10	13	15	20	44	41	31	27	2.96 (0.93)	2.82 (0.97)
I prefer learning activities in which new, creative or very different ideas are encouraged, listened to and discussed.	4	5	6	10	44	45	43	40	3.25 (0.80)	3.20 (0.81)
Language arts is easy for me.	6	8	30	24	43	47	17	21	2.68 (0.87)	2.81 (0.86)
I struggle with the basic information and skills my language arts teacher presents.	35	36	44	44	14	14	7	6	1.92 (0.88)	1.90 (0.86)
*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree)										

\*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Table 41 (continued)

Students' Perceptions of Their Language Arts Classrooms

We are interested in how well each one of the following statements describes the way you feel about your language arts class.	Strongly Disagree (1)	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disag (2)	Disagree (2)	Agre (3)	Agree (3)	Strongly Agree (4)	ngly ree t)	Mean* (Std Dev)	un* Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I am eager to discuss ideas because I enjoy thinking about and responding to others' ideas.	10	11	20	21	44	45	25	23	2.84 (0.92)	2.80 (0.92)
I work best when I work for a grade, an honor, or a privilege.	8	٢	12	13	40	42	41	38	3.13 (0.91)	3.12 (0.88)
I am easily discouraged in language arts.	31	32	45	44	17	16	7	7	2.00 (0.88)	1.98 (0.88)
I am able to work well independently (without constant teacher attention or frequent direction).	4	4	6	10	51	49	36	37	3.17 (0.77)	3.20 (0.77)
I show my best learning when I do a project.	7	6	20	23	40	39	33	29	2.98 (0.91)	2.88 (0.93)
I show my best learning when I take a multiple-choice test.	9	6	16	22	41	41	36	29	3.08 (0.88)	2.90 (0.91)
I find projects too time-consuming and too hard.	27	22	42	42	19	23	12	13	2.17 (0.96)	2.28 (0.95)
My language arts teacher is interested in finding out what I know before she/he begins teaching.	12	16	16	20	45	45	27	19	2.86 (0.95)	2.67 (0.96)
I prefer to work with students who have interests in language arts like mine.	6	8	15	15	44	48	31	29	2.98 (0.92)	2.99 (0.87)
I enjoy doing projects.	13	17	18	24	39	36	30	23	2.86 (0.99)	2.64 (1.01)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Table 41 (continued)

Students' Perceptions of Their Language Arts Classrooms

We are interested in how well each one of the following statements describes the way you feel about your language arts class.	Strongly Disagree (1)	lgly gree )	Disagree (2)	gree )	Ag (3	Agree (3)	Strongly Agree (4)	ngly ree t)	Mean* (Std Dev)	un* Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I don't know how well I'm doing in language arts class unless I get a letter or a number grade.	11	10	29	28	37	40	23	23	2.72 (0.94)	2.76 (0.91)
Comments from my teacher are better than letter or number grades.	14	15	29	28	32	34	25	22	2.69 (1.00)	2.63 (0.99)
I like to be given the opportunity to revise and improve my work (such as written assignments, projects) before getting a final grade.	5	4	L	8	38	39	50	49	3.33 (0.81)	3.32 (0.80)
My language arts teacher thinks there is a best way to answer a question.	11	12	25	27	38	38	26	23	2.79 (0.95)	2.72 (0.95)
Most of the material I learned in language arts class I have studied before.	9	6	36	37	39	41	19	13	2.70 (0.85)	2.58 (0.83)
There is more to language arts than getting the right answer.	9	L	11	13	44	48	40	33	3.18 (0.84)	3.06 (0.86)
I liked language arts when I was younger, but now it's too hard for me.	36	32	43	45	12	14	6	6	1.95 (0.92)	2.00 (0.90)
I think that language arts has many applications in everyday life.	5	7	13	15	43	45	39	33	3.17 (0.83)	3.05 (0.86)
My language arts teacher grades fairly.	5	8	8	9	38	43	48	41	3.29 (0.84)	3.16 (0.88)
*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.										

62

ns	
10(	
src	
ast	
C	
ts (	
٩r	
e /	
ag	)
5 n	2
an	ĺ
Ľ	
in Languag	
SS	
ade	
Grâ	
ng Gr	5
ing	ĺ
in	
u.	
ter	
)e	
ιD	
s ii	
ors	
cte	
Fa	
n	
ta	
Cer	
ГC	
0	
ce	
an	
ort	
DC	
Im	
the Im	
th	
of	
ns	
10	
, pt	Ļ
rce	
<sup>2</sup> eı	
s' P	
nts	
deı	
tu	
S	

How important do you think each of the factors listed below <i>should</i> be in determining your grade in your language arts class?	Not Importa (1)	Not Important (1)	Somé Impc (2	Somewhat Important (2)	Ve Impc (3	Very Important (3)	Mean* (Std Dev	Mean* (Std Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
How I do compared to other students in my language arts class	41	77	36	35	22	21	1.81 (0.78)	1.77 (0.77)
My individual improvement or progress over the last grading period	9	6	23	26	71	67	2.65 (0.59)	2.61 (0.61)
How hard I work in class	3	4	17	20	81	76	2.78 (0.47)	2.72 (0.54)
Projects (such as a reported, dramatization or a model)	5	7	22	27	73	67	2.69 (0.55)	2.60 (0.62)
Assignments	3	4	24	28	73	68	2.71 (0.52)	2.64 (0.56)
Tests	3	4	10	16	87	80	2.84 (0.44)	2.75 (0.52)
*Scale Range = 1 (Not Important) to 3 (Very Important)								

Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Individual Responsible for Grading Criteria in Language Arts Classrooms as Reported by Students

How often do the following statements about grading apply to your language arts	Ne	Never (1)	Rai ()	Rarely (2)	Some (3	Sometimes (3)	Of (4	Often (4)	Alw (5	Always (5)	Mean* (Std Dev)	an* Dev)
class?	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Pre Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
The teacher decides how we will be graded but doesn't share this with students.	23	18	27	27	25	30	12	13	12	12	2.63 (1.30)	2.73 (1.24)
The teacher decides how we will be graded and clearly explains this to students.	6	6	13	13	26	30	26	27	26	21	3.46 (1.25)	3.37 (1.21)
The teacher and students decide together how assignments or projects will be graded.	49	48	20	23	18	18	7	6	9	5	2.01 (1.22)	1.97 (1.16)
The students alone decide how they will be graded.	75	76	10	10	5	6	5	3	4	3	1.53 (1.08)	1.46 (0.95)
*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always)												

\*Scale Kange = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Students' Perceptions of Opportunities in Mathematics Classrooms

How often does each of the following events happen in your mathematics class	Ne (]	lever (1)	1-2 ti grading (2	1-2 times a grading period (2)	1-2 times a month (3)	imes onth ()	1-2 t a w (2	1-2 times a week (4)	1-2 times a day (5)	mes ay )	Mean* (Std Dev)	un* Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I listen to the teacher lecture—the teacher talks to the class, gives information.	4	5	8	6	L	6	19	21	62	59	4.29 (1.12)	4.21 (1.18)
I take notes while the teacher lectures.	22	20	6	10	12	16	26	28	30	27	3.33 (1.53)	3.32 (1.46)
I work alone (on drills, practicing skills, reading and answering questions, doing problems).	9	5	7	9	6	8	22	23	57	57	4.19 (1.17)	4.20 (1.16)
I participate in class discussions where the teacher seems interested in new ways of solving problems.	7	10	7	8	6	12	27	29	50	41	4.07 (1.21)	3.83 (1.30)
I work on a group project.	22	29	15	26	28	28	23	12	12	5	2.88 (1.31)	2.37 (1.17)
I work in cooperative learning groups.	23	28	11	15	17	25	29	20	21	12	3.14 (1.45)	2.74 (1.38)
I do hands-on activities in class.	21	23	11	20	18	23	30	19	20	15	3.16 (1.43)	2.83 (1.38)
I have individual conferences with the teacher about my work.	51	43	21	29	12	14	6	6	7	9	2.00 (1.28)	2.07 (1.21)
One student explains subject material or assignments to another student.	25	26	13	13	17	17	25	26	20	18	3.03 (1.48)	2.97 (1.47)
I work on the same assignment as everybody in the class.	2	3	6	6	4	3	8	9	80	83	4.56 (0.98)	4.61 (0.97)
I work alone on an individual contract or independent study.	18	24	8	12	11	10	18	16	45	38	3.64 (1.55)	3.33 (1.63)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (1-2 times a day) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting. Use of preassessment strategies. When asked how their teacher attempted to gather information about what they already knew before beginning a new lesson, students reported that their teachers used example activities and their performance on classroom activities most frequently (Table 45). A majority of students reported that teachers used pretests twice a month or less. Nearly half of students (48%) reported that reviews of mathematics portfolios were never used and 62% of students reported that individual conferences were never used.

Use of classroom accommodations. Students were asked how often particular learning opportunities were offered to them (Table 46). In general, students reported that most of the listed opportunities occurred less than once or twice a grading period. Specifically, the majority of students indicated that they were never allowed to skip an assignment because they already knew the material, never received different assignments or used different materials from other students, were never allowed choices in selecting a project or class work assignment, never worked with mentors, and never had learning centers in their classroom. These responses were similar to the responses provided to the language arts survey. Students reported they had opportunities to work with students who shared similar interests and that the teacher placed students in groups of similar abilities or skill levels more frequently than they reported the occurrences of other learning opportunities.

*Engagement in classroom activities.* When asked about the instructional activities they engaged in during class, most students reported they were often or always able to keep up with instruction and assignments, and that the teacher taught material so that they could pass the end of chapter tests, or could do well on standardized tests. A large percentage of students also reported that often or always the lessons were based on the textbook. About half of the students reported that they were never given choices about what they learned about or what they did in class. Students also reported that interests rarely were the basis for what they learned or activities they completed (Table 47).

*Perceptions about classrooms.* When asked the degree to which they agreed with statements concerning challenge, pace and other factors related to learning in their mathematics classroom, students tended to agree or strongly agree that they had to work hard to make a good grade in math, that class was a place where they learned things that were important to them, that they felt they were working to their potential, and that they preferred activities where new, creative, or very different ideas were encouraged, listened to, and discussed (Table 48). Students agreed or strongly agreed that they worked best when it was for a grade, an honor, or a privilege, that they were able to work well independently, and that they showed their best learning when they did a project or when taking a multiple-choice test. Students also indicated that they liked the opportunity to revise and improve their work before the final grade. Students believed there was more to mathematics than getting the right answer, but reported their teachers thought there was a best way to answer a question. They also agreed or strongly agreed with the statement that mathematics has many applications in the everyday life.

Students' Reporting of the Use of Pre-Assessment Methods in Mathematics Classrooms

How often does your mathematics teacher use each of these techniques to find out what you already know	Never (1)	ver (	1-2 times a grading period (2)	mes a period	1-2 times a month (3)	1-2 times a month (3)	1-2 t a w (4	1-2 times a week (4)	1-2 time a day (5)	1-2 times a day (5)	Mean* (Std Dev)	tin* Dev)
before beginning instruction?	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Gives me a pre-test.	27	31	14	19	24	26	27	20	8	5	2.74 (1.32)	2.48 (1.24)
Gives me example activities.	6	10	10	8	10	14	30	31	40	37	3.81 (1.31)	3.75 (1.31)
Has an individual conference with me.	62	56	17	22	6	12	8	9	4	4	1.75 (1.16)	1.80 (1.12)
Reviews my mathematics portfolio.	48	59	15	18	13	10	14	Г	6	L	2.20 (1.40)	1.84 (1.24)
Looks at my performance on a project I completed.	17	27	16	22	22	22	23	15	22	15	3.17 (1.39)	2.69 (1.39)
Looks at my performance in classroom activities.	8	13	6	11	11	13	31	27	42	36	3.88 (1.27)	3.61 (1.40)
*Scale Range = $1$ (Never) to $5$ (1-2 times a day)	(											

"Scale Kange = 1 (INEVEL) to 2 (1-2 times a day) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

46	
Table	

Students' Perceptions of Opportunities Provided for Meeting Their Learning Needs in Mathematics	5	Classrooms	
nts' Perceptions of Opportunities Provided for Meeting Their		Mathematics	
nts' Perceptions of Opportunities Provided for Meeting Their	-	leeds in	
nts' Perceptions of Opportunities Provided for Meeting Their		carning N	0
nts' Perceptions of Opportunities	•	I hear Lo	Í
nts' Perceptions of Opportunities		Meeting	0
nts' Perceptions of Opportunities	· · ·	vided for	
nts' Perceptions of Op	ſ	ities Pro	
nts' Perceptions of (		apportun	
ints' Percept		ions of C	Í
nte	ſ	'ercept	
		nt	ĺ

How often does each of the following events happen in vour mathematics class?	Never (1)	er (	1-2 times a grading period (2)	nes a period	1-2 times a month (3)	1-2 times a month (3)	1-2 times a week (4)	imes eek	1-2 time a day (5)	1-2 times a day (5)	Mean* (Std Dev)	un* Jev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I am allowed to skip an assignment because I already know the material.	91	89	3	5	2	3	2	2	2	2	1.21 (0.74)	1.22 (0.73)
I receive different assignments from the other students in the class.	62	80	8	8	5	9	4	3	4	3	1.46 (1.03)	1.40 (0.94)
I use different materials than other students in the class.	75	78	7	6	7	5	9	4	6	4	1.60 (1.18)	1.47 (1.03)
I work with other students who have interests similar to mine.	32	36	14	17	16	18	19	14	20	15	2.82 (1.54)	2.57 (1.47)
My teacher places me in a group with students who have the same abilities or skill levels as I do.	40	45	13	16	15	15	16	11	17	13	2.59 (1.55)	2.30 (1.46)
I work with mentors who share my particular interests.	55	67	11	6	12	8	13	6	6	7	2.09 (1.41)	1.81 (1.31)
There are learning centers in my classroom that I visit individually or with other students.	76	79	6	7	9	5	9	4	5	5	1.59 (1.17)	1.48 (1.08)
I am given the opportunity to choose a class work assignment.	69	67	12	14	6	10	9	4	5	5	1.65 (1.14)	1.66 (1.12)
I get to choose a project from a list provided by the teacher.	50	56	19	21	17	15	8	3	6	4	2.00 (1.24)	1.78 (1.08)
I can suggest to my teacher a project that I feel demonstrates what I have learned.	46	57	19	19	15	13	10	5	10	7	2.21 (1.38)	1.86 (1.22)
My class uses learning groups.	45	51	12	16	14	16	17	10	13	8	2.40 (1.49)	2.07 (1.31)
Membership in the learning groups in my mathematics class changes.	48	61	16	15	16	12	12	9	9	9	2.18 (1.37)	1.82 (1.22)
I teach mathematics to other students.	58	55	14	16	10	13	10	10	7	7	(1.31)	1.98 (1.29)
*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (1-2 times a day) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting	nts report	ing.										

<u> Classrooms</u>	
Mathematics (	
y Students in	
Reported by	•
Activities	
<i>instructional</i>	
Engagement in I	•

Now thinking about yourself and your teacher, how often does each of the following statements apply in	Ne	Never (1)	Rai ()	Rarely (2)	Sometimes (3)	times ()	Often (4)	t)	Alwa (5)	Always (5)	Mean* (Std Dev)	.m* Dev)
this class?	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
What I do in class is too difficult.	20	18	40	38	32	35	9	7	2	2	2.31 (0.94)	2.37 (0.92)
What I do in class is too easy.	17	12	27	29	35	36	15	19	7	9	2.69 (1.12)	2.79 (1.05)
I am able to keep up with instruction.	1	1	3	4	13	13	33	35	49	47	4.25 (0.90)	4.22 (0.90)
I am able to keep up with assignments.	1	7	3	4	11	12	28	33	57	50	4.37 (0.88)	4.26 (0.92)
I have choices of what I learn about in class.	53	57	24	23	13	12	4	4	6	5	1.85 (1.16)	1.77 (1.20)
I have choices of what I do in class.	51	49	23	26	14	15	5	4	7	٢	1.95 (1.23)	1.92 (1.17)
What I learn about in class is based on my interests.	33	44	30	28	25	20	7	5	5	3	2.21 (1.13)	1.94 (1.05)
Activities I do in class are based on my interests.	33	43	28	30	25	19	6	7	5	3	2.24 (1.16)	1.97 (1.06)
The teacher selects a theme or concept for me to study (such as "conflict" or "tragedy") and what I do in class is related to that theme.	21	29	11	15	24	22	25	19	19	16	3.08 (1.40)	2.79 (1.44)
The teacher teaches material so I can pass the end of unit/chapter tests.	9	9	7	5	15	14	22	24	50	52	4.03 (1.21)	4.11 (1.16)
The teacher teaches materials so I do well on standardized tests.	4	4	5	9	14	14	25	24	51	52	4.15 (1.10)	4.13 (1.12)
The lessons and material the teacher chooses seem to come right from the textbook.	4	5	11	12	31	30	28	25	26	29	3.61 (1.11)	3.61 (1.15)
*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to $5$ (Always)												

\*Scale Kange = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Students' Perceptions of Their Mathematics Classrooms

We are interested in how well each one of the following statements describes the way you feel about your	Strongly Disagree (1)	ngly gree )	Disagree (2)	gree (	Agre (3)	Agree (3)	Strongly Agree (4)	ngly ree	Mean* (Std Dev)	an* Dev)
mathematics class.	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I find the work we do in mathematics to be challenging.	12	13	29	30	46	46	13	12	2.59 (0.86)	2.57 (0.86)
I have to work hard to make good grades in mathematics.	9	8	17	17	39	44	38	31	3.08 (0.89)	2.99 (0.89)
The pace of my mathematics class is too slow for me.	28	26	48	50	16	16	8	8	2.04 (0.86)	2.06 (0.86)
Mathematics class is a place where I learn things that are important to me.	8	10	11	16	42	45	39	30	3.14 (0.89)	2.94 (0.92)
I never learn anything new in mathematics.	53	53	33	35	Г	L	9	5	1.67 (0.86)	1.64 (0.82)
I feel as if I am working to my potential in mathematics class.	9	8	15	16	49	48	30	28	3.03 (0.84)	2.96 (0.86)
I prefer learning activities in which information is given to me to be remembered for testing at a later time.	10	11	15	17	44	45	32	27	2.97 (0.93)	2.88 (0.93)
I prefer learning activities in which new, creative or very different ideas are encouraged, listened to and discussed.	4	4	6	6	47	46	40	41	3.22 (0.78)	3.23 (0.78)
Mathematics is easy for me.	11	12	29	29	40	43	21	17	2.71 (0.92)	2.66 (0.90)
I struggle with the basic information and skills my mathematics teacher presents.	34	35	44	44	15	15	7	6	1.95 (0.88)	1.91 (0.86)
*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.										

Table 48 (continued)

Students' Perceptions of Their Mathematics Classrooms

We are interested in how well each one of the following statements describes the way you feel about your	Strongly Disagree (1)	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disag (2)	Disagree (2)	Agre (3)	Agree (3)	Strongly Agree (4)	strongly Agree (4)	Mean* (Std Dev)	an* Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I am eager to discuss ideas because I enjoy thinking about and responding to others' ideas.	12	14	21	24	43	43	24	20	2.79 (0.94)	2.68 (0.94)
I work best when I work for a grade, an honor, or a privilege.	9	L	12	13	38	45	43	36	3.19 (0.88)	3.09 (0.86)
I am easily discouraged in mathematics.	29	30	43	41	18	21	10	6	2.09 (0.93)	2.09 (0.92)
I am able to work well independently (without constant teacher attention or frequent direction).	4	5	11	13	52	50	33	33	3.14 (0.77)	3.10 (0.80)
I show my best learning when I do a project.	7	13	19	25	40	38	34	24	3.01 (0.90)	2.72 (0.97)
I show my best learning when I take a multiple-choice test.	9	6	17	22	42	41	35	28	3.06 (0.87)	2.88 (0.92)
I find projects too time-consuming and too hard.	26	22	45	44	18	20	12	14	2.16 (0.94)	2.26 (0.96)
My mathematics teacher is interested in finding out what I know before she/he begins teaching.	10	16	16	21	45	43	29	20	2.92 (0.92)	2.68 (0.97)
I prefer to work with students who have interests in mathematics like mine.	11	10	15	15	44	50	30	25	2.93 (0.94)	2.90 (0.89)
I enjoy doing projects.	14	21	19	26	38	33	29	20	2.82 (1.01)	2.52 (1.04)
*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree)										

\*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Table 48 (continued)

Students' Perceptions of Their Mathematics Classrooms

We are interested in how well each one of the following statements describes the way you feel about your mathematics class.	Stro Disa ()	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disag (2)	Disagree (2)	Ag ()	Agree (3)	Strongly Agree (4)	ngly ree t)	Mean* (Std Dev)	un* Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I don't know how well I'm doing in mathematics class unless I get a letter or a number grade.	11	12	27	27	36	39	26	23	2.77 (0.96)	2.73 (0.94)
Comments from my teacher are better than letter or number grades.	15	15	27	31	34	34	24	21	2.68 (1.00)	2.60 (0.97)
I like to be given the opportunity to revise and improve my work (such as written assignments, projects) before getting a final grade.	4	5	6	L	39	41	48	47	3.31 (0.80)	3.29 (0.82)
My mathematics teacher thinks there is a best way to answer a question.	8	10	23	23	44	42	25	26	2.87 (0.88)	2.84 (0.92)
Most of the material I learned in mathematics class I have studied before.	6	13	35	39	37	35	20	13	2.68 (0.89)	2.49 (0.88)
There is more to mathematics than getting the right answer.	4	7	12	14	42	45	41	34	3.20 (0.82)	3.06 (0.88)
I liked mathematics when I was younger, but now it's too hard for me.	35	30	40	43	15	18	11	10	2.01 (0.96)	2.08 (0.93)
I think that mathematics has many applications in everyday life.	3	9	6	10	36	41	52	44	3.37 (0.78)	3.22 (0.85)
My mathematics teacher grades fairly.	5	7	9	10	40	43	49	40	3.33 (0.80)	3.15 (0.88)
*Scale Range - 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree)										

\*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting. *Factors important in determining grades.* When asked the importance of particular factors in determining their grades, students indicated that all the factors were very important with the exception of how well they did compared to other students, which students indicated was either not important or only somewhat important (Table 49).

*Responsibility for determining grading criteria*. When asked about who determined grading criteria for their mathematics class, a majority of students reported that rarely or never did they and the teacher decide together, or did they alone decide. Instead, the teacher was the sole decision-maker in determining grades (Table 50).

## Middle School Science Classrooms

One thousand five hundred twenty-two students (n=1,522) completed both the pre-project and post-project surveys.

*Classroom opportunities.* Students were asked the frequency with which a variety of opportunities were provided in their science classroom (Table 51). The majority of students indicated that on a daily basis they listened to the teacher lecture and worked on the same assignment as other students. Almost half of the students reported working alone on drills daily. Students also reported that they worked on individual contracts, did hands-on activities, and participated in class discussions where the teacher seemed interested in new ways of solving problems at least weekly. However, students also reported rarely having individual conferences with the teacher about their work.

Use of preassessment strategies. When asked how their teacher attempted to gather information about what they already knew prior to starting a lesson, a majority of students reported that their teachers used example activities and their performance on classroom activities at least once a week (Table 52). A majority of students also reported that their teachers never used individual conferences, and that a review of a portfolio occurred twice a grading period or less.

*Engagement in classroom activities.* Students were asked how often they participated in particular learning opportunities. In general, a majority of students reported that nearly all of the opportunities presented occurred less than once or twice a grading period (Table 53). Specifically, the majority of students indicated that they were never allowed to skip an assignment because they already knew the material, never received different assignments or used different materials from other students, never worked with mentors, never visited learning centers, never taught science to other students, and were never allowed choices in selecting a project or a class work assignment. As in mathematics and language arts, students reported more frequent opportunities to work with other students who had similar interests, to be placed in groups with students of similar abilities and skills, and to work in different learning groups.

Students' Perceptions of the Importance of Certain Factors in Determining Grades in Mathematics Classrooms

How important do you think each of the factors listed below <i>should</i> be in determining your grade in your mathematics	Not Importa (1)	Not Important (1)	Somé Impc (2	Somewhat Important (2)	Vé Impc (3	Very Important (3)	Mean* (Std Dev)	an* Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
How I do compared to other students in my mathematics class	41	42	40	39	19	19	1.78 (0.75)	1.77 (0.75)
My individual improvement or progress over the last grading period	5	9	22	25	73	69	2.68 (0.57)	2.63 (0.60)
How hard I work in class	3	4	16	21	81	75	2.78 (0.48)	2.71 (0.54)
Projects (such as a reported, dramatization or a model)	5	11	29	33	67	56	2.62 (0.57)	2.45 (0.68)
Assignments	2	4	23	27	75	70	2.73 (0.50)	2.66 (0.54)
Tests	7	3	10	16	88	81	2.87 (0.41)	2.78 (0.49)
*Soula Dance - 1 (Stronaly Discrete) to 4 (Stronaly Arrea)								

\*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Individual Responsible for Grading Criteria in Mathematics Classrooms as Reported by Students

How often do the following statements about grading apply to your	Ne. (]	Never (1)	Raı (2	Rarely (2)	Someti (3)	Sometimes (3)	Of (2	Often (4)	Alw (;	Always (5)	Me (Std	Mean* (Std Dev)
mathematics class?	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
The teacher decides how we will be graded but doesn't share this with students.	22	18	24	24	26	30	14	16	15	13	2.76 (1.34)	2.82 (1.26)
The teacher decides how we will be graded and clearly explains this to students.	12	11	14	17	29	29	24	26	23	18	3.32 (1.28)	3.22 (1.24)
The teacher and students decide together how assignments or projects will be graded.	49	51	23	23	17	18	L	4	5	4	1.97 (1.18)	1.88   (1.10)
The students alone decide how they will be graded.	78	LL	6	11	6	5	3	4	4	4	1.46 (1.00)	1.47 (1.01)
*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always)												

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

un* Jev)	Post	4.11 (1.24)	3.28 (1.46)	3.99 (1.24)	3.78 (1.31)	2.91 (1.16)	3.11 (1.35)	3.38 (1.22)	2.09 (1.28)	2.68 (1.45)	4.50 (1.05)	3.34 (1.58)	
Mean* (Std Dev)	Pre	4.19 (1.19)	3.30 (1.46)	4.03 (1.24)	4.04 (1.23)	3.10 (1.22)	3.37 (1.34)	3.55 (1.21)	2.02 (1.25)	2.97 (1.51)	4.54 (1.00)	3.59 (1.50)	
mes ay )	Post	55	25	47	38	10	17	20	8	15	76	35	
1-2 times a day (5)	Pre	59	26	49	49	12	22	23	9	20	78	41	
(mes eek	Post	23	28	27	31	21	27	31	10	18	10	19	
1-2 times a week (4)	Pre	20	28	27	27	29	33	37	10	24	10	20	
imes onth	Post	7	15	11	13	32	23	26	12	19	5	11	
1-2 times a month (3)	Pre	7	15	11	6	29	19	21	14	16	5	13	
nes a period )	Post	10	11	8	8	25	14	14	25	17	5	12	
1-2 times a grading period (2)	Pre	6	10	L	8	17	11	10	21	12	5	10	
ver )	Post	9	20	L	11	12	18	6	46	32	4	22	ting.
Never (1)	Pre	2	20	7	7	14	15	6	49	28	3	16	ints repor
How often does each of the following events happen in your science class?		I listen to the teacher lecture —the teacher talks to the class, gives information.	I take notes while the teacher lectures.	I work alone (on drills, practicing skills, reading and answering questions, doing problems).	I participate in class discussions where the teacher seems interested in new ways of solving problems.	I work on a group project.	I work in cooperative learning groups.	I do hands-on activities in class.	I have individual conferences with the teacher about my work.	One student explains subject material or assignments to another student.	I work on the same assignment as everybody in the class.	I work alone on an individual contract or independent study.	*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (1-2 times a day) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Students' Perceptions of Opportunities in Science Classrooms

Table 51

Science Classrooms
.in
Methods
e-Assessment
Pre-/
fΡ
Use c
he
g of the
0
eporting
R
Students

How often does your science teacher use each of these techniques to find out what you already know <i>before</i>	Never (1)	Vever (1)	1-2 ti gra per	1-2 times a grading period (2)	1-2 times a month (3)	l-2 times a month (3)	1-2 t a w (4	1-2 times a week (4)	1-2 t a d	1-2 times a day (5)	Me (Std	Mean* (Std Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Gives me a pre-test.	32	36	14	16	23	22	23	18	8	8	2.61 (1.34)	2.45 (1.34)
Gives me example activities.	12	16	10	6	14	17	33	29	32	29	3.63 (1.33)	3.46 (1.40)
Has an individual conference with me.	59	53	17	21	13	12	8	8	4	9	1.80 (1.15)	1.92 (1.22)
Reviews my science portfolio.	46	46	16	19	14	13	14	13	10	10	2.27 (1.42)	2.22 (1.39)
Looks at my performance on a project I completed.	13	16	17	24	25	24	22	17	22	20	3.22 (1.34)	3.02 (1.35)
Looks at my performance in classroom activities.	6	12	10	11	12	15	26	26	43	36	3.84 (1.32)	3.64 (1.37)
*Scale Range = $1$ (Never) to $5$ (1-2 times a day)												

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (1-2 times a day) Number represent percentage of students reporting.

53	
Table	

	I Needs in Science Classrooms	
	I heir Learning Ne	
	tunities Provided for Meeting	
(	otions of Upport	
	Students' Percep	

PrePostPre<	How often does each of the following events happen in your science class?	Never (1)	/er )	1-2 times a grading period (2)	mes a period	1-2 times a month (3)	1-2 times a month (3)	1-2 times a week (4)	imes eek	1-2 t a d (5	1-2 times a day (5)	Me (Std	Mean* (Std Dev)
allowed to skip an assignment because I89 $87$ $4$ $6$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $3$ $iy know the material.iy e (i) (i) (i) (i) (i) (i) (i) (i) (i) (i)$		Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
ive different assignments from the other $76$ $75$ $8$ $9$ $7$ $7$ $6$ $6$ $3$ $3$ different materials than other students in the $70$ $73$ $11$ $9$ $7$ $7$ $6$ $6$ $7$ $5$ k with other students who have interests $28$ $31$ $13$ $11$ $19$ $17$ $16$ $17$ $19$ $17$ are to mine.are to mine.are the students who have interests $37$ $37$ $14$ $15$ $17$ $16$ $17$ $19$ $17$ $46$ $67$ $57$ $12$ $11$ $12$ $12$ $11$ $11$ $10$ $9$ $are the same abilities or skill levels as 1 do.5457121112121111109are the same abilities or skill levels as 1 do.5457121112121111109566are the same abilities or skill levels as 1 do.54571211121211109566are the same abilities or skill levels as 1 do.59679108109666666666667777777767767767$	I am allowed to skip an assignment because I already know the material.	89	87	4	9	3	3	1	2	2	3	1.24 (0.79)	1.30 (0.87)
different materials than other students in the with other students who have interests70731197766755 $x$ with other students who have interests283113131719172019201714 $x$ with other students who share mp with students37373714151716171714 $x$ we the same abilities or skill levels as I do.373737141511121311109 $x$ we the same abilities or skill levels as I do.5457121112121311109 $x$ we the same abilities or skill levels as I do.5457121112121311109 $x$ with mentors who share mp articular5457121112131110956 $x$ are learning centers in my classroom that I696792013131311116777 $x$ are learning centers in my classroom that I69601315111167566 $x$ are learning centers in my classroom that I69601320191498111010 $x$ obsoce a project from a list provided by454023201914981110 </td <td>I receive different assignments from the other students in the class.</td> <td>76</td> <td>75</td> <td>8</td> <td>6</td> <td>7</td> <td>Г</td> <td>9</td> <td>9</td> <td>3</td> <td>3</td> <td>1.50 (1.03)</td> <td>1.52 (1.05)</td>	I receive different assignments from the other students in the class.	76	75	8	6	7	Г	9	9	3	3	1.50 (1.03)	1.52 (1.05)
28       31       13       17       19       17       20       19       20       17         37       37       14       15       17       17       16       17       17       14         54       57       12       11       12       12       11       12       13       11       10       9         69       67       9       10       8       10       9       8       6       6         45       40       13       15       11       11       6       7       5       6         45       40       23       29       19       18       7       6       7       7         40       14       16       17       14       9       8       11       10         40       46       18       19       18       7       6       7       7       7         65       60       13       15       10       11       12       10       9       9       11       10       9         65       60       13       15       16       11       7       5       7       7       7	I use different materials than other students in the class.	70	73	11	6	٢	Г	9	9	7	5	1.69 (1.23)	1.61 (1.17)
37         37         14         15         17         16         17         17         14           54         57         12         11         12         12         11         12         13         11         10         9           69         67         9         10         8         10         9         8         6         6           45         40         13         15         11         11         6         7         5         6           45         40         23         29         19         18         7         6         7         7           34         40         14         16         17         18         20         16         11         10           40         46         18         19         18         20         16         11         10           40         46         18         19         18         20         16         11         10         9           65         60         13         15         14         9         8         11         10         11	I work with other students who have interests similar to mine.	28	31	13	17	19	17	20	19	20	17	2.89 (1.50)	2.73 (1.47)
54         57         12         11         12         12         11         12         13         11         10         9           69         67         9         10         8         10         9         8         6         6           66         60         13         15         11         11         6         7         5         6           45         40         23         29         19         18         7         6         7         7           42         48         21         20         17         14         9         8         11         10           34         40         14         16         17         18         20         16         11         10           40         46         18         19         18         15         14         12         10         9           65         60         13         15         10         11         10         9         11         10         9         11         10         9         9         11         9         11         10         9         11         9         11         10	My teacher places me in a group with students who have the same abilities or skill levels as I do.	37	37	14	15	17	17	16	17	17	14	2.62 (1.51)	2.55 (1.46)
69         67         9         10         8         10         9         8         6         6         6         6         6         6         6         6         7         5         6         7           66         60         13         15         11         11         6         7         5         6           45         40         23         29         19         18         7         6         7         7           42         48         21         20         17         14         9         8         11         10           34         40         14         16         17         18         20         16         16         11           40         46         18         19         18         15         14         12         10         9           65         60         13         15         10         11         7         5         7 <t< td=""><td>I work with mentors who share my particular interests.</td><td>54</td><td>57</td><td>12</td><td>11</td><td>12</td><td>12</td><td>13</td><td>11</td><td>10</td><td>6</td><td>2.13 (1.43)</td><td>2.03 (1.39)</td></t<>	I work with mentors who share my particular interests.	54	57	12	11	12	12	13	11	10	6	2.13 (1.43)	2.03 (1.39)
66         60         13         15         11         11         6         7         5         6           45         40         23         29         19         18         7         6         7         7           42         48         21         20         17         14         9         8         11         10           34         40         14         16         17         18         20         16         16         11           40         46         18         19         18         15         14         12         10         9         8           65         60         13         15         10         11         7         5         7         7	There are learning centers in my classroom that I visit individually or with other students.	69	67	6	10	8	10	6	8	9	9	1.75 (1.26)	1.77 (1.26)
45       40       23       29       19       18       7       6       7       7         42       48       21       20       17       14       9       8       11       10         34       40       14       16       17       18       20       16       16       11         40       46       18       19       18       15       14       12       10       9         65       60       13       15       10       11       7       5       7       7	I am given the opportunity to choose a class work assignment.	99	60	13	15	11	11	9	٢	5	9	1.71 (1.16)	1.85 (1.25)
42       48       21       20       17       14       9       8       11       10         34       40       14       16       17       18       20       16       16       11         40       46       18       19       18       15       14       12       10       9         65       60       13       15       10       11       7       5       7	I get to choose a project from a list provided by the teacher.	45	40	23	29	19	18	٢	9	7	7	2.08 (1.23)	2.11 (1.19)
34         40         14         16         17         18         20         16         16         11           40         46         18         19         18         15         14         12         10         9           65         60         13         15         10         11         7         5         7	I can suggest to my teacher a project that I feel demonstrates what I have learned.	42	48	21	20	17	14	6	8	11	10	2.25 (1.36)	2.12 (1.35)
40         46         18         19         18         15         14         12         10         9           65         60         13         15         10         11         7         5         7	My class uses learning groups.	34	40	14	16	17	18	20	16	16	11	2.69 (1.50)	2.44 (1.42)
65         60         13         15         10         11         7         5         7	Membership in the learning groups in my science class changes.	40	46	18	19	18	15	14	12	10	6	2.35 (1.39)	2.19 (1.36)
	I teach science to other students.	65	60	13	15	10	11	7	7	5	7	1.74 (1.19)	1.85 (1.25)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (1 to 2 times a day) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting. *Instructional arrangements.* When asked about the instructional activities they engaged in during class, a majority of students reported they were always or often able to keep up with instruction and assignments, and that the teacher taught material so that they could pass the end of chapter tests and do well on standardized tests (Table 54). Nearly half of the students indicated their teachers often or always based lessons directly on the textbook. In addition, a majority of students reported that they were never or rarely allowed choices about what they learned or did in class and that what they learned or activities they did were rarely or never based on their interests.

*Perceptions about classrooms.* When asked the degree to which they agreed with statements concerning learning in their science classroom, a majority of students agreed or strongly agreed that class was a place where the work was challenging, that they had to work hard to make good grades, that they learned things that were important to them, that they felt they were working to their potential, that they preferred learning activities that would aid them in remembering information for later testing times as well as activities where new, creative, or very different ideas were encouraged, listened to, and discussed (Table 55). Students also agreed or strongly agreed that they worked best when it was for a grade, an honor, or a privilege, that they were able to work well independently, that they showed their best learning when they did a project or when they took multiplechoice tests and that they liked the opportunity to revise and improve their work before the final grade. Students indicated there was more to science than getting the right answer, but reported that their teachers thought there was a best way to answer a question. A majority of students also indicated that they disagreed or strongly disagreed with the statement that the pace of their science class was too slow, that they struggled with basic skills or information in science, and that they liked science when they were younger but now it was too hard.

*Factors important in determining grades.* When asked the importance of particular factors in determining their grades, most students indicated that all the factors should be very important with the exception of how well they did when compared to other students, which was considered by over 40% of the students as not important (Table 56).

*Responsibility for determining grading criteria.* The final question asked students about who was responsible for determining grading criteria for their science class. The majority of students reported that rarely did students and teachers together determine the criteria for grades and never did students alone decide how they would be graded (Table 57). Instead, students reported that teachers were the main decision-maker, with the majority of students indicating that at least sometimes the grading criteria were clearly explained to them. However, more than 40% reported that the grading criteria were rarely or never shared with them.

<del>ر</del>	Science Classrooms	
	Students in S	
	keported by	ہ ۲
	Activities F	
	nstructional	
	Engagement in	0

Now thinking about yourself and your teacher,	Ne	Never	Rar	Rarely	Some	Sometimes	Ю	Often	Always	'ays	Mean*	an*
how often does each of the following statements	$\bigcirc$	(1)	(2)	() ()	(3)	3)	(4)	(+	(5)	() 	(Std	(Std Dev)
apply in this class?	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
What I do in class is too difficult.	22	24	41	42	30	28	5	4	2	3	2.25 (0.93)	2.19 (0.93)
What I do in class is too easy.	14	13	27	30	37	35	16	15	7	L	2.74 (1.09)	2.72 (1.08)
I am able to keep up with instruction.	2	2	3	4	13	15	32	32	51	47	4.27 (0.90)	4.19 (0.96)
I am able to keep up with assignments.	2	3	3	3	12	14	28	29	56	52	4.33 (0.93)	4.24 (0.98)
I have choices of what I learn about in class.	50	47	22	24	16	17	9	9	6	9	1.95 (1.18)	2.00 (1.20)
I have choices of what I do in class.	47	43	24	24	17	20	5	9	7	L	2.00 (1.21)	2.10 (1.23)
What I learn about in class is based on my interests.	32	36	27	26	27	26	8	L	6	5	2.27 (1.15)	2.19 (1.14)
Activities I do in class are based on my interests.	30	33	27	27	26	28	10	6	7	4	2.37 (1.20)	2.24 (1.12)
The teacher selects a theme or concept for me to study (such as "conflict" or "tragedy") and what I do in class is related to that theme.	18	21	11	12	26	25	24	23	21	18	3.19 (1.37)	3.05 (1.39)
The teacher teaches material so I can pass the end of unit/chapter tests.	9	9	5	9	16	18	23	26	50	44	4.07 (1.17)	3.96 (1.18)
The teacher teaches materials so I do well on standardized tests.	4	5	5	9	15	18	26	26	50	45	4.13 (1.09)	4.00 (1.16)
The lessons and material the teacher chooses seem to come right from the textbook.	8	7	19	14	33	32	22	24	18	23	3.23 (1.17)	3.42 (1.18)
*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.	porting.											

80

Students' Perceptions of Their Science Classroom

We are interested in how well each one of the following statements describes the way you feel about your science	Strongly Disagree (1)	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disa ()	Disagree (2)	Agre (3)	Agree (3)	Strongly Agree (4)	ngly ree t)	Mean* (Std Dev)	un* Dev)
C14555.	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I find the work we do in science to be challenging.	12	14	34	34	43	42	10	6	2.51 (0.84)	2.46 (0.85)
I have to work hard to make good grades in science.	Г	6	21	19	37	44	35	28	3.01 (0.92)	2.90 (0.91)
The pace of my science class is too slow for me.	24	22	51	53	16	18	6	8	2.10 (0.87)	2.13 (0.84)
Science class is a place where I learn things that are important to me.	9	10	14	16	47	48	32	26	3.05 (0.85)	2.91 (0.90)
I never learn anything new in science.	51	44	36	39	8	10	6	8	1.69 (0.85)	1.82 (0.90)
I feel as if I am working to my potential in science class.	٢	٢	16	18	46	46	31	29	3.01 (0.86)	2.98 (0.86)
I prefer learning activities in which information is given to me to be remembered for testing at a later time.	12	12	14	19	43	40	32	29	2.95 (0.96)	2.86 (0.96)
I prefer learning activities in which new, creative or very different ideas are encouraged, listened to and discussed.	4	9	٢	11	44	45	46	39	3.29 (0.78)	3.17 (0.84)
Science is easy for me.	6	10	31	28	42	43	19	19	2.70 (0.87)	2.71 (0.89)
I struggle with the basic information and skills my science teacher presents.	33	33	43	43	15	16	9	8	1.99 (0.92)	1.99 (0.90)
*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree)										

\*Scale Kange = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Table 55 (continued)

Students' Perceptions of Their Science Classroom

PrePostPrePostPrePostPrePostPrePreIasger to discuss ideas because I enjoy thinking about10142020464324seponding to others' ideas.k best when I work for a grade, an honor, or a791213404141ege.asily discouraged in science.asily discouraged in science.asily discouraged in science.asily discouraged in science.asily discouraged in science.as the to work well independently (without constantat attention or frequent direction).w my best learning when I do a project.w my best learning when I do a project.w my best learning when I take a multiple-choice test.w my best learning when I take a multiple-choice test.a she/he begins teaching.a she/he begins teaching.a she/he begins teaching.brojects.broide projects.broide projects.broide projects.broide projects.broide projects.broide teacher is interested in finding out what I knowbroide projects.broide projects.broide projects.broide teacher is interested in finding out what I knowbroide teacher.broide projects.broide teacher.broide teacher.broide teacher.broide teacher.broide teacher.broide teacher.broide teacher.broide teacher.broide teac	We are interested in how well each one of the following statements describes the way you feel about your science	Strongly Disagree (1)	ngly gree )	Disagree (2)	gree )	Ag (3	Agree (3)	Strongly Agree (4)	ngly ree	Mean* (Std Dev)	m* Jev)
10         14         20         20         46         43         24           7         9         12         13         40         41         41           31         31         46         43         15         18         9           41         5         11         11         46         43         15         18         9           41         5         11         11         49         50         36         36           7         11         18         22         41         37         35         35           8         9         15         20         40         18         23         12           26         23         45         40         18         23         12           11         17         16         20         49         44         24           9         9         15         14         44         48         32           12         17         19         22         37         37         32           12         14         44         48         32         32         32           12         17 <td>C1455.</td> <td>Pre</td> <td>Post</td> <td>Pre</td> <td>Post</td> <td>Pre</td> <td>Post</td> <td>Pre</td> <td>Post</td> <td>Pre</td> <td>Post</td>	C1455.	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
7       9       12       13       40       41       41       41         31       31       46       43       15       18       9       9         4       5       11       11       14       50       36       36         7       11       18       22       41       37       35         8       9       15       20       40       39       37         26       23       45       40       18       23       12         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         11       17       19       22       37       32       32         12       17       19       22       37       37       32         12       17       19       22       37       37       32         12       17       19       22       37       37       32         12       17       19       22       37	I am eager to discuss ideas because I enjoy thinking about and responding to others' ideas.	10	14	20	20	46	43	24	23	2.83 (0.91)	2.74 (0.97)
31       31       46       43       15       18       9         4       5       11       11       49       50       36         7       11       18       22       41       37       35         8       9       15       20       40       39       37         26       23       45       40       18       23       12         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         11       17       19       22       37       32       32         12       19       22       37       37       32       32         12       19       22       37       37       37       32         12       17       19       22       37       37       32         12       17       19       22       37       37       37       37         13       19       22       37       37       37       37	I work best when I work for a grade, an honor, or a privilege.	7	9	12	13	40	41	41	37	3.15 (0.89)	3.06 (0.93)
4       5       11       11       49       50       36         7       11       18       22       41       37       35         8       9       15       20       40       39       37         26       23       45       40       18       23       12         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         11       17       19       22       37       37       32         12       17       19       22       37       37       32         12       17       19       22       37       37       32         11       17       19       22       37       37       32         12       17       19       22       37       37       32         12       17       19       22       37       37       32	I am easily discouraged in science.	31	31	46	43	15	18	6	8	2.02 (0.89)	2.03 (0.90)
7       11       18       22       41       37       35         8       9       15       20       40       39       37         26       23       45       40       18       23       12         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         12       17       19       22       37       37       32         12       19       22       37       37       37       32	I am able to work well independently (without constant teacher attention or frequent direction).	4	5	11	11	49	50	36	34	3.18 (0.77)	3.12 (0.81)
8       9       15       20       40       39       37         26       23       45       40       18       23       12         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         9       9       15       14       44       24         12       17       19       22       37       37         12       17       19       22       37       37       32	I show my best learning when I do a project.	L	11	18	22	41	37	35	30	3.03 (0.90)	2.86 (0.97)
26       23       45       40       18       23       12         11       17       16       20       49       44       24         9       9       15       14       44       48       32         11       17       19       22       37       37       32         12       17       19       22       37       37       32	I show my best learning when I take a multiple-choice test.	8	6	15	20	40	39	37	32	3.06 (0.91)	2.94 (0.93)
11     17     16     20     49     44     24       9     9     15     14     44     48     32       12     17     19     22     37     37     32       11     11     22     37     37     32	I find projects too time-consuming and too hard.	26	23	45	40	18	23	12	14	2.16 (0.94)	2.29 (0.97)
9     9     15     14     44     48     32       12     17     19     22     37     37     32       11     11     22     27     23     25		11	17	16	20	49	44	24	20	2.85 (0.91)	2.67 (0.97)
I'm doing in science class unless I 1, 1, 1, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2, 2,	I prefer to work with students who have interests in science like mine.	6	9	15	14	44	48	32	29	3.00 (0.91)	2.98 (0.88)
	I enjoy doing projects.	12	17	19	22	37	37	32	24	2.90 (0.98)	2.69 (1.02)
	I don't know how well I'm doing in science class unless I get a letter or a number grade.	11	11	27	27	37	38	25	24	2.75 (0.96)	2.75 (0.94)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Table 55 (continued)

Students' Perceptions of Their Science Classroom

We are interested in how well each one of the following statements describes the way you feel about your science	Strongly Disagree (1)	ngly gree )	Disagree (2)	gree (	Ag (3	Agree (3)	Strongly Agree (4)	strongly Agree (4)	Mean* (Std Dev)	an* Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Comments from my teacher are better than letter or number grades.	14	16	28	30	32	33	27	21	2.72 (1.01)	2.60 (1.00)
I like to be given the opportunity to revise and improve my work (such as written assignments, projects) before getting a final grade.	4	5	8	6	38	40	50	46	3.34 (0.80)	3.28 (0.82)
My science teacher thinks there is a best way to answer a question.	10	11	22	27	40	39	29	24	2.88 (0.94)	2.76 (0.94)
Most of the material I learned in science class I have studied before.	6	0	41	44	35	31	15	13	2.56 (0.85)	2.45 (0.87)
There is more to science than getting the right answer.	5	6	8	13	43	45	43	33	3.24 (0.82)	3.04 (0.90)
I liked science when I was younger, but now it's too hard for me.	35	30	42	43	13	16	10	11	1.98 (0.93)	2.07 (0.95)
I think that science has many applications in everyday life.	9	8	12	16	43	44	39	33	3.15 (0.86)	3.02 (0.91)
My science teacher grades fairly.	5	7	9	11	39	42	48	40	3.29 (0.83)	3.16 (0.88)
*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.										

83

Students' Perceptions of the Importance of Certain Factors in Determining Grades in Science Classrooms

How important do you think each of the factors listed below <i>should</i> be in determining your grade in your science class?	Not Important (1)	Not nportant (1)	Some Impo (2	Somewhat Important (2)	Ve Impo (3	Very Important (3)	Mean* (Std Dev)	un* Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
How I do compared to other students in my science class	41	44	39	34	21	22	1.80   (0.76)	1.79 (0.78)
My individual improvement or progress over the last grading period	5	L	21	25	74	68	2.69 (0.56)	2.62 (0.61)
How hard I work in class	4	9	16	20	81	74	2.77 (0.50)	2.68 (0.58)
Projects (such as a reports, dramatization or a model)	3	9	24	27	74	67	2.71 (0.52)	2.61 (0.60)
Assignments	2	4	25	28	73	68	2.71 (0.50)	2.64 (0.56)
Tests	7	4	10	15	88	81	2.86 (0.40)	2.77 (0.51)
*Scale = 1 (Not Imnortant) to 3 (Very Imnortant)								

\*Scale = 1 (Not Important) to 3 (Very Important) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Individual Responsible for Grading Criteria in Science Classrooms as Reported by Students

How often do the following statements about grading apply to your science class?	Ne. (]	Never (1)	Rarely (2)	ely ()	Some (3	Sometimes (3)	Of (^	Often (4)	Alw (;	Always (5)		Mean* (Std Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Pre Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Pre Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
The teacher decides how we will be graded but doesn't share this with students.	21	19	25	24	26	30	14	13	13	14	2.72 (1.31)	2.79 (1.28)
The teacher decides how we will be graded and clearly explains this to students.	11	12	13	15	27	29	26	26	23	19	3.38 (1.27)	3.25 (1.25)
The teacher and students decide together how assignments or projects will be graded.	46	49	25	20	17	18	7	٢	9	9	2.03 (1.21)	1.99 (1.20)
The students alone decide how they will be graded.	76	75	10	6	6	8	5	5	4	3	1.51 (1.05)	1.53 (1.04)
*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always)												

Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

#### Middle School Social Studies Classrooms

One thousand four hundred thirty-six students (n=1,436) completed both the preand post- surveys.

*Classroom opportunities.* Students were asked the frequency with which they were provided a variety of opportunities in their social studies classroom (Table 58). The majority of students indicated that listening to the teacher lecture, and working on the same assignment as other students occurred on a daily basis while working alone (on drills, etc.) occurred weekly. Students reported that they listened to the teacher lecture, worked on individual contracts, and participated in class discussions where the teacher seemed interested in new ways of solving problems at least weekly. Students also reported rarely having individual conferences with the teacher about their work.

Use of preassessment strategies. When asked how their teacher attempted to gather information about what they already knew prior to starting a new lesson, the majority of students reported that their teachers used example activities and their performance on classroom activities at least once a week (Table 59). According to the majority of students, review of social studies portfolios and individual conferences were used twice a grading period or less.

*Instructional arrangements.* When presented with a list of possible ways teachers might adapt instruction to meet student learning needs, the majority of students reported that nearly all of the opportunities occurred less than once or twice a grading period (Table 60). Specifically, the majority of students indicated that they were never allowed to skip an assignment because they already knew the material, never received different assignments or used different materials from other students, never worked with mentors, never worked in learning centers, never taught other students, and were never allowed choices in selecting a project or class work assignment.

*Engagement in classroom activities.* When asked about the level of challenge, choices, the environment, and instructional activities in their class, the majority of students reported that they were always able to keep up with instruction and assignments. The majority of students also reported that the teacher taught often or always material so that they could pass the end of chapter tests and do well on standardized tests (Table 61). Approximately half of the students reported the lessons were often or always based on the textbook. The majority of students also reported rarely or never being allowed choices about what they learned or did in class. Students also indicated that what they learned or activities they did were rarely or never based on their interests.

Pre $Post$ $Pre$ $Post$ $Post$ $Pre$ $Post$ $Pre$ $Post$ $Pre$ $Post$ $Post$ $Pre$ $Post$ $Post$ $Pre$ $Post$ $Post$ $Pre$ $Post$ $Pre$ $Post$ $Pre$ $Post$ $Post$ $Pre$ $Post$	How often does each of the following events happen in your social studies class?	Ne	Never (1)	1-2 times a grading period (2)	mes a period	1-2 tir a moi (3)	1-2 times a month (3)	1-2 times a week (4)	imes sek	1-2 times a day (5)	imes ay	Mean* (Std Dev)	an* Jev)
re-the teacher talks5 $5$ 78871958 $\frac{4.24}{(1.17)}$ tion.her lectures.19201010151630322722 $\frac{4.24}{(1.24)}$ her lectures.19201010151630322723 $\frac{4.10}{(1.21)}$ toting skills, reading7768101025275045 $\frac{4.10}{(1.21)}$ toting problems).7978101025275045 $\frac{4.10}{(1.21)}$ seine ways of solving7978101225275045 $\frac{4.04}{(1.22)}$ new ways of solving79781012252723117 $\frac{2.23}{(1.22)}$ ning groups.18221515212428252014 $\frac{1.22}{(1.23)}$ $\frac{3.19}{(1.24)}$ ning groups.182215212428252014 $\frac{1.23}{(1.24)}$ sets23482025111410875 $\frac{2.34}{(1.24)}$ sets242324162025212427 $\frac{2.34}{(1.24)}$ sets23482025211410875 $\frac{2.34}{(1.25)}$ sets24524 <td></td> <td>Pre</td> <td>Post</td> <td>Pre</td> <td>Post</td> <td>Pre</td> <td>Post</td> <td>Pre</td> <td>Post</td> <td>Pre</td> <td>Post</td> <td>Pre</td> <td>Post</td>		Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
her lectures.         19         20         10         10         15         16         30         32         27         22         3.36           loing problems).         7         7         6         8         10         10         25         27         52         48         4.10           loing problems).         sions where the         7         9         7         8         10         12         55         27         50         43         4.10           sions where the         7         9         7         8         10         12         25         27         404         (1.21)           sions where the         16         14         20         28         31         35         22         17         11         7         (1.24)           new ways of solving         18         22         12         13         35         22         12         11         7         (1.24)           new ways of solving         18         22         12         12         28         20         15         11.23)           ing groups.         18         22         12         12         23         20         14	I listen to the teacher lecture—the teacher talks to the class, gives information.	5	5	7	8	8	٢	19	21	61	58	4.24 (1.17)	4.18 (1.20)
teticing skills, reading77681010252752484.10boing problems).sions where the7978101225275045(1.21)sions where the1614202831352217117(1.22)ine ways of solving182212152124282517117(1.23)ing groups.182212152124282520153.19class.1921162020212428252014(1.20)class.19211620202124282520142.08class.19211620251114108751.98class.36391115141722171717121.8ce with the teacher363911151417221711132.74dent.363911151417201717121.98ce with the teacher36391115141720141.651.457ment as verybody in2454511132119 <t< td=""><td>I take notes while the teacher lectures.</td><td>19</td><td>20</td><td>10</td><td>10</td><td>15</td><td>16</td><td>30</td><td>32</td><td>27</td><td>22</td><td>3.36 (1.44)</td><td>3.26 (1.43)</td></t<>	I take notes while the teacher lectures.	19	20	10	10	15	16	30	32	27	22	3.36 (1.44)	3.26 (1.43)
sions where the inew ways of solving79781012252750454.04inew ways of solving16142028313522171172.93ining groups.18221215212428252015(1.24)ining groups.192116202831352217117(2.93)class.19211620202021252014(1.40)class.19211620202021252014(1.40)class.1921162025111410875(1.29)cet material or dent.36391115141722171712(1.26)went as everybody in al contract or16238121113211945343.70	I work alone (on drills, practicing skills, reading and answering questions, doing problems).	7	7	9	8	10	10	25	27	52	48	4.10 (1.21)	4.01 (1.23)
indegroups.1614202831352217117 $\begin{array}{c} 2.93\\ (1.22)\\ (1.23)\\ (1.38)\end{array}$ indegroups.18221215212428252015 $\begin{array}{c} 3.19\\ (1.38)\\ (1.38)\\ (1.38)\end{array}$ class.1921162020202125252014 $\begin{array}{c} (1.22)\\ (1.38)\\ (1.38)\\ (1.38)\end{array}$ class.192116202020211410875 $\begin{array}{c} 3.19\\ (1.40)\\ (1.40)\end{array}$ cos with the teacher53482025111410875 $\begin{array}{c} 1.98\\ (1.39)\\ (1.29)\\ (1.55)\end{array}$ cos with the teacher36391115141722171712 $\begin{array}{c} 1.98\\ (1.29)\\ (1.55)\end{array}$ cos with the teacher363911151417221717221727dent.3639111514172217171727 $\begin{array}{c} 4.57\\ (1.55)\end{array}$ unal contractor1623812111321194534 $\begin{array}{c} 3.70\\ (1.49)\end{array}$	I participate in class discussions where the teacher seems interested in new ways of solving problems.	7	6	٢	8	10	12	25	27	50	45	4.04 (1.24)	3.90 (1.30)
	I work on a group project.	16	14	20	28	31	35	22	17	11	7	2.93 (1.22)	2.75 (1.10)
	I work in cooperative learning groups.	18	22	12	15	21	24	28	25	20	15	3.19 (1.38)	2.94 (1.37)
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	I do hands-on activities in class.	19	21	16	20	20	21	25	25	20	14	3.10 (1.40)	2.90 (1.35)
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	I have individual conferences with the teacher about my work.	53	48	20	25	11	14	10	8	٢	5	1.98 (1.29)	1.99 (1.19)
2     4     5     4     5     6     9     11     79     75     4.57       16     23     8     12     11     13     21     19     45     34     3.70	One student explains subject material or assignments to another student.	36	39	11	15	14	17	22	17	17	12	2.74 (1.55)	2.47 (1.44)
16         23         8         12         11         13         21         19         45         34         3.70	I work on the same assignment as everybody in the class.	0	4	5	4	5	9	6	11	79	75	4.57 (0.96)	4.50 (1.03)
	I work alone on an individual contract or independent study.	16	23	8	12	11	13	21	19	45	34	3.70 (1.49)	3.29 (1.58)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (1-2 times a day) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Classrooms	
tudies	
al S	
Soci	
in S	
ods	
Ieth	
t N	
Pre-Assessmer	
of	
Use	
the	
of	
' Reporting	-
Students'	

How often does your social studies teacher use each of these techniques to find out what you already know <i>before</i>	Ne	Never (1)	1-2 times a grading period (2)	mes a period	1-2 t a mo	1-2 times a month (3)	1-2 t a w (2	1-2 times a week (4)	1-2 t a ở	1-2 times a day (5)	Mean* (Std Dev	Mean* (Std Dev)
beginning instruction?	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Gives me a pre-test.	33	38	13	18	23	20	23	17	L	L	2.57 (1.34)	2.39 (1.33)
Gives me example activities.	13	19	10	6	15	16	30	30	32	26	3.59 (1.37)	3.33 (1.44)
Has an individual conference with me.	62	55	17	22	10	12	7	8	4	4	1.73 (1.12)	1.84 (1.15)
Reviews my social studies portfolio.	48	50	16	18	13	13	15	10	6	6	2.22 (1.41)	2.09 (1.35)
Looks at my performance on a project I completed.	14	15	17	23	27	30	20	15	22	17	3.19 (1.33)	2.95 (1.30)
Looks at my performance in classroom activities.	10	12	6	11	12	14	28	26	40	36	3.79 (1.33)	3.62 (1.39)
*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (1-2 times a day)											~	

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (1-2 times a day) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Students' Perceptions of Opportunities Provided for Meeting Their Learning Needs in Social Studies Classrooms

How often does each of the following events happen in your social studies class?	Never (1)	ver )	1-2 ti grading ()	1-2 times a grading period (2)	1-2 t a mo (3	1-2 times a month (3)	1-2 times a week (4)	imes eek .)	1-2 times a day (5)	imes ay	Mean* (Std Dev)	an* Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I am allowed to skip an assignment because I already know the material.	91	88	4	4	2	4	1	2	2	3	1.21 (0.73)	1.29 (0.86)
I receive different assignments from the other students in the class.	62	74	٢	10	9	8	5	4	ю	4	1.46 (1.02)	1.55 (1.06)
I use different materials than other students in the class.	72	73	10	6	8	8	5	9	5	4	1.61 (1.15)	1.58 (1.12)
I work with other students who have interests similar to mine.	31	33	15	18	16	19	20	16	18	14	2.80 (1.51)	2.61 (1.44)
My teacher places me in a group with students who have the same abilities or skill levels as I do.	38	37	13	17	18	20	14	13	18	12	2.62 (1.53)	2.46 (1.41)
I work with mentors who share my particular interests.	56	57	10	11	12	14	12	10	10	6	2.09 (1.43)	2.04 (1.39)
There are learning centers in my classroom that I visit individually or with other students.	70	71	6	10	8	8	8	٢	9	5	1.70 (1.23)	1.65 (1.17)
I am given the opportunity to choose a class work assignment.	65	56	13	17	11	13	٢	8	9	9	1.76 (1.21)	1.92 (1.25)
I get to choose a project from a list provided by the teacher.	43	38	19	30	24	20	8	9	9	9	2.17 (1.24)	2.12 (1.15)
I can suggest to my teacher a project that I feel demonstrates what I have learned.	46	49	18	19	16	14	11	6	10	6	2.22 (1.39)	2.09 (1.33)
My class uses learning groups.	41	44	13	16	16	16	18	14	12	10	2.47 (1.46)	2.30 (1.41)
Membership in the learning groups in my social studies class changes.	44	48	17	17	17	15	13	10	6	6	2.25 (1.37)	2.15 (1.36)
I teach social studies to other students.	69	61	11	16	8	10	6	7	6	6	1.69 (1.21)	1.80 (1.21)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (1-2 times a day) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Ì	5
	Q
÷	g
F	

Engagement in Instructional Activities Reported by Students in Social Studies Classrooms

classyprepostprepostprepostprepostpreMhat I do in class is too difficult. $26$ $28$ $40$ $41$ $28$ $25$ $4$ What I do in class is too difficult. $26$ $28$ $40$ $41$ $28$ $25$ $4$ What I do in class is too easy. $15$ $14$ $27$ $26$ $33$ $34$ $17$ I am able to keep up with instruction. $1$ $2$ $4$ $4$ $10$ $12$ $28$ I am able to keep up with assignments. $2$ $2$ $2$ $4$ $4$ $10$ $12$ $28$ I am able to keep up with assignments. $2$ $2$ $2$ $4$ $4$ $10$ $12$ $28$ I have choices of what I learn about in class. $51$ $47$ $23$ $22$ $15$ $17$ $4$ I have choices of what I do in class. $34$ $37$ $26$ $26$ $28$ $24$ $6$ What I learn about in class is based on my interests. $34$ $37$ $26$ $26$ $28$ $24$ $6$ What I learn about in class are based on my interests. $34$ $37$ $26$ $28$ $24$ $6$ The teacher selects a theme or concept for me to study (such as "conflict" or "tragedy") and what I do in class $5$ $7$ <th>Now thinking about yourself and your teacher, how often does each of the following statements apply in this</th> <th>Never (1)</th> <th>ver )</th> <th>Rarely (2)</th> <th>ely ()</th> <th>Someti (3)</th> <th>Sometimes (3)</th> <th>Ofte (4)</th> <th>Often (4)</th> <th>Alwa (5)</th> <th>Always (5)</th> <th>Mean* (Std Dev)</th> <th>an* Dev)</th>	Now thinking about yourself and your teacher, how often does each of the following statements apply in this	Never (1)	ver )	Rarely (2)	ely ()	Someti (3)	Sometimes (3)	Ofte (4)	Often (4)	Alwa (5)	Always (5)	Mean* (Std Dev)	an* Dev)
26     28     40     41     28     25       15     14     27     26     33     34       1     2     4     27     26     33     34       1     2     4     12     11     12     11       2     2     2     4     10     12     11       2     51     47     23     22     15     17       olass.     51     47     23     24     17     19       or     31     37     26     26     28     24       my interests.     31     36     27     24     27     29       interests.     31     36     27     24     28     26       for me to study     15     18     13     12     24       hat I do in class     15     18     13     12     24       ass the end of     6     5     7     7     15     15	class?	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
15       14       27       26       33       34         1       2       4       4       12       11         2       2       2       4       10       12       11         2       2       2       2       4       10       12       11         class.       51       47       23       22       15       17       19         class.       51       43       21       23       22       15       17       19         my interests.       34       37       26       26       28       24       24         my interests.       31       36       27       26       28       26       26         for me to study       15       18       13       12       24       27       24       27         for me to study       15       18       13       12       24       26       26         for me to study       15       18       13       12       24       27       24       27         ass the end of       6       5       7       7       15       15       15	What I do in class is too difficult.	26	28	40	41	28	25	4	4	1	2	2.15 (0.90)	2.12 (0.94)
1       2       4       4       12       11         2       2       2       4       10       12       12         class.       51       47       23       22       15       17       19         class.       51       43       21       24       17       19       19         my interests.       34       37       26       26       28       24       19         interests.       31       36       27       24       28       26         for me to study       15       18       13       12       24       27       26         for me to study       15       18       13       12       24       27       26         ass the end of       6       5       7       7       15       15       15	What I do in class is too easy.	15	14	27	26	33	34	17	18	7	8	2.74 (1.13)	2.78 (1.13)
2 $2$ $2$ $2$ $4$ $10$ $12$ class. $51$ $47$ $23$ $22$ $15$ $17$ $49$ $43$ $21$ $24$ $17$ $19$ my interests. $34$ $37$ $26$ $26$ $28$ $24$ <i>interests.</i> $31$ $36$ $27$ $24$ $28$ $26$ <i>interests.</i> $15$ $18$ $13$ $12$ $24$ $27$ <i>interests.</i> $5$ $7$ $7$ $15$ $15$ <i>interests.</i> $6$ $5$ $7$ $7$ $15$ $15$	I am able to keep up with instruction.	1	6	4	4	12	11	29	31	54	52	4.32 (0.91)	4.26 (0.96)
51       47       23       22       15       17         49       43       21       24       17       19         34       37       26       26       28       24         31       36       27       24       28       24         dy       15       18       13       26       28       26         dy       15       18       13       12       24       27         f       6       5       7       7       15       15	I am able to keep up with assignments.	7	5	2	4	10	12	28	30	58	52	4.38 (0.90)	4.26 (0.95)
49       43       21       24       17       19         34       37       26       26       28       24         31       36       27       24       28       26         dy       15       18       13       12       24       27         iss       15       18       13       12       24       27         f       6       5       7       7       15       15	I have choices of what I learn about in class.	51	47	23	22	15	17	4	L	7	9	1.93 (1.20)	2.03 (1.22)
34     37     26     28     24       31     36     27     24     28     26       dy     15     18     13     12     24     27       iss     15     18     13     12     24     27       f     6     5     7     7     15     15	I have choices of what I do in class.	49	43	21	24	17	19	5	8	8	7	2.01 (1.24)	2.12 (1.24)
31         36         27         24         28         26           tudy         15         18         13         12         24         27           class         15         18         13         12         24         27           of         6         5         7         7         15         15	What I learn about in class is based on my interests.	34	37	26	26	28	24	9	8	9	5	2.23 (1.15)	2.19 (1.16)
udy 15 18 13 12 24 27 of 6 5 7 7 15 15	Activities I do in class are based on my interests.	31	36	27	24	28	26	6	6	6	5	2.32 (1.17)	2.24 (1.17)
of 6 5 7 7 15 15	The teacher selects a theme or concept for me to study (such as "conflict" or "tragedy") and what I do in class is related to that theme.	15	18	13	12	24	27	26	23	23	21	3.29 (1.34)	3.17 (1.36)
		9	5	٢	7	15	15	23	26	49	47	4.01 (1.22)	4.04 (1.16)
The teacher teaches materials so I do well on4557161625standardized tests.	The teacher teaches materials so I do well on standardized tests.	4	5	5	٢	16	16	25	24	50	49	4.11 (1.11)	4.04 (1.17)
The lessons and material the teacher chooses seem to 6 9 14 14 29 29 25 come right from the textbook.	looses seem	6	6	14	14	29	29	25	23	26	26	3.50 (1.20)	3.44 (1.23)

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting. *Perceptions about classrooms.* When asked the degree to which they agreed with statements concerning their learning in their social studies classroom, students tended to agree that class was a place where they learned things that were important to them, that they worked hard to make good grades, that they felt they were working to their potential, that they preferred learning activities that would aid them in remembering information for later testing times as well as activities in which new, creative, or very different ideas were encouraged, listened to, and discussed (Table 62). Students also agreed they worked best when it was for a grade, an honor, or a privilege, they were able to work well independently, they showed their best learning when they did a project or when they took multiple-choice tests, and they liked the opportunity to revise and improve their work before the final grade. Students indicated there was more to social studies than getting the right answer and that social studies classrooms. The students in the social studies classrooms were less likely than the other content areas to report their social studies teacher believed that there was a best right answer.

*Factors important in determining grades.* When asked the importance of particular factors in determining their grades, the majority of students indicated all the factors should be very important with the exception of how well they did when compared to other students (Table 63).

*Responsibility for determining grading criteria.* The final question asked of students pertained to who was responsible for determining the grading criteria in their social studies class. The majority of students reported they rarely or never decided on grading together with the teacher and they never decided alone how they would be graded (Table 64). Instead, the teacher was the main decision-maker, with the majority of students indicating at least sometimes the grading criteria were clearly explained to them.

#### **Teachers' Summary**

Student responses to many of the questions were similar regardless of subject area considered. Teachers' responses sometimes confirmed and sometimes differed from the pattern of responses of the students (Table 65 and 66).

The majority of students in all classrooms reported listening to the teacher lecture, working alone on drills, and working on the same assignment as other students daily. In addition, students reported working alone on individual contracts and participating in class discussions where the teacher seemed interested in new ways of solving problems at least weekly. The majority of students also reported never having individual conferences with the teachers.

Students' Perceptions of Their Social Studies Classroom

We are interested in how well each one of the following statements describes the way you feel about your social studies class.	Strongly Disagree (1)	ıgly gree )	Disagree (2)	gree ()	Agree (3)	()	Strongly Agree (4)	ngly ree	Mean* (Std Dev)	un* Jev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I find the work we do in social studies to be challenging.	15	16	35	38	41	37	6	10	2.44 (0.86)	2.40 (0.87)
I have to work hard to make good grades in social studies.	8	10	21	22	41	42	30	26	2.93 (0.91)	2.85 (0.92)
The pace of my social studies class is too slow for me.	21	21	53	52	16	18	10	6	2.15 (0.87)	2.14 (0.85)
Social studies class is a place where I learn things that are important to me.	10	6	15	17	46	46	30	28	2.97 (0.91)	2.93 (0.90)
I never learn anything new in social studies.	45	42	38	42	10	6	9	7	1.77 (0.87)	1.81 (0.86)
I feel as if I am working to my potential in social studies class.	9	9	17	17	45	50	31	26	3.01 (0.86)	2.96 (0.83)
I prefer learning activities in which information is given to me to be remembered for testing at a later time.	6	12	16	17	44	39	32	32	2.99 (0.91)	2.91 (0.98)
I prefer learning activities in which new, creative or very different ideas are encouraged, listened to and discussed.	4	5	6	11	42	43	45	42	3.29 (0.78)	3.20 (0.83)
Social studies is easy for me.	10	10	31	27	39	41	19	21	2.68 (0.90)	2.73 (0.91)
I struggle with the basic information and skills my social studies teacher presents.	37	36	42	41	15	15	L	8	1.92 (0.89)	1.95 (0.91)
I am eager to discuss ideas because I enjoy thinking about and responding to others' ideas.	11	12	20	21	44	40	25	27	2.82 (0.93)	2.82 (0.97)
*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.										

Table 62 (continued)

Students' Perceptions of Their Social Studies Classroom

We are interested in how well each one of the following statements describes the way you feel about your social studies class.	Strongly Disagree (1)	ngly gree )	Disagree (2)	gree ()	Ag (3	Agree (3)	Strongly Agree (4)	ıgly ree	Mean* (Std Dev)	un* Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
I work best when I work for a grade, an honor, or a privilege.	L	6	11	10	39	41	43	39	3.18 (0.89)	3.12 (0.92)
I am easily discouraged in social studies.	33	34	43	42	16	15	8	8	1.98 (0.90)	1.98 (0.91)
I am able to work well independently (without constant teacher attention or frequent direction).	5	4	8	6	49	50	38	37	3.20 (0.79)	3.20 (0.77)
I show my best learning when I do a project.	L	10	21	22	37	37	36	32	3.03 (0.91)	2.90 (0.96)
I show my best learning when I take a multiple-choice test.	L	6	16	20	40	40	37	32	3.07 (0.89)	2.94 (0.93)
I find projects too time-consuming and too hard.	27	23	43	39	19	23	12	15	2.15 (0.94)	2.30 (0.99)
My social studies teacher is interested in finding out what I know before she/he begins teaching.	13	14	18	20	46	43	23	23	2.89 (0.94)	2.75 (0.97)
I prefer to work with students who have interests in social studies like mine.	6	8	15	15	46	47	31	30	2.98 (0.90)	2.98 (0.88)
I enjoy doing projects.	12	16	19	22	38	36	31	26	2.87 (0.99)	2.71 (1.03)
I don't know how well I'm doing in social studies class unless I get a letter or a number grade.	12	11	27	26	37	39	24	24	2.73 (0.96)	2.76 (0.94)
*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.										

Table 62 (continued)

Students' Perceptions of Their Social Studies Classroom

We are interested in how well each one of the following statements describes the way you feel about your social	Stro Disa (]	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	gree )	Agree (3)	ree ()	Stro: Ag (2	Strongly Agree (4)	Mean* (Std Dev)	an* Dev)
studies class.	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Comments from my teacher are better than letter or number grades.	15	15	28	28	33	32	24	26	2.66 (1.00)	2.69 (1.01)
I like to be given the opportunity to revise and improve my work (such as written assignments, projects) before getting a final grade.	4	4	8	6	39	39	49	48	3.32 (0.80)	3.32 (0.79)
My social studies teacher thinks there is a best way to answer a question.	10	14	26	26	38	36	26	25	2.80 (0.94)	2.72 (0.98)
Most of the material I learned in social studies class I have studied before.	6	14	43	43	33	30	16	13	2.55 (0.86)	2.43 (0.89)
There is more to social studies than getting the right answer.	9	9	10	13	47	45	38	36	3.17 (0.82)	3.12 (0.85)
I liked social studies when I was younger, but now it's too hard for me.	33	31	46	46	11	14	10	6	1.97 (0.91)	2.02 (0.91)
I think that social studies has many applications in everyday life.	7	10	18	20	44	42	31	29	2.99 (0.88)	2.91 (0.94)
My social studies teacher grades fairly.	9	7	8	8	41	39	46	47	3.27 (0.83)	3.26 (0.86)
*Scale Range = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree)										

\*Scale Kange = 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Students' Perceptions of the Importance of Certain Factors in Determining Grades in Social Studies Classrooms

	;		ł	,	;			
How important do you think each of the factors listed below <i>should</i> be in determining your grade in your social	Not Importa (1)	Not Important (1)	Some Impe	Somewhat Important (2)	Very Importa (3)	Very Important (3)	Me (Std	Mean* (Std Dev)
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
How I do compared to other students in my social studies class	42	42	37	36	21	22	1.80 (0.78)	1.80 (0.78)
My individual improvement or progress over the last grading period	9	L	24	26	70	68	2.64 (0.60)	2.61 (0.61)
How hard I work in class	3	ю	17	21	81	76	2.78 (0.48)	2.72 (0.52)
Projects (such as a reported, dramatization or a model)	4	9	23	26	73	69	2.70 (0.54)	2.63 (0.59)
Assignments	2	Э	24	27	74	70	2.72 (0.51)	2.66 (0.54)
Tests	2	4	10	16	88	80	2.85 (0.43)	2.77 (0.50)
*Scale = 1 (Not Important) to 3 (Very Important)								

\*Scale = 1 (Not Important) to 3 (Very Important) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

Students	
$\mathbf{\tilde{z}}$	•
15	
ĕ	
or	
ĝ	
Ř	
as	
S	
E	
õ	
Sr	
as	
C	
S	
die	
τĭ	
Ś	
al	
. <u>5</u>	
Š	
u	
a	
ET:	
it	
Ü	
ы	)
lin	
ac	
J	
L (	
fc	
le	
ib	
SUG	
bC	
es	
R	
lal	
qu	
.2	
idi	
In	

How often do the following statements about grading apply to your social studies	Ne (]	Never (1)	Raı (2	Rarely (2)	Sometimes (3)	times ()	Ofi (4	Often (4)	Alw (2	Always (5)	Me (Std	Mean* (Std Dev)
class?	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
The teacher decides how we will be graded but doesn't share this with students.	22	21	25	27	27	25	13	14	13	13	2.70 (1.31)	2.73 (1.30)
The teacher decides how we will be graded and clearly explains this to students.	11	11	13	14	28	28	24	26	24	21	3.35 (1.29)	3.32 (1.27)
The teacher and students decide together how assignments or projects will be graded.	50	48	20	20	19	20	6	7	9	5	2.00 (1.22)	2.03 (1.20)
The students alone decide how they will be graded.	77	73	6	11	6	6	4	4	4	4	1.48 (1.04)	1.54 (1.04)
*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always)												

\*Scale Range = 1 (Never) to 5 (Always) Numbers in each cell represent percentage of students reporting.

## Middle School Classrooms: Teachers' Practices and Similar Students' Perceptions of Those Practices as Reported by the Majority of Teachers and Students

Teachers' reported practices	Student perceptions
Never use learning centers in their classrooms	Never visit learning centers in classrooms individually or with other students
<ul> <li>Varied instructional materials for the same lesson or in a given unit of study.</li> <li>Less than twice a year with advanced learners</li> <li>Monthly with struggling learners</li> </ul>	Never use different materials than other students in the class
Use of student choices about content, process, and/or product used twice a year or less	<ul> <li>Never given the opportunity to</li> <li>choose a class work assignment</li> <li>choose a project from a list provided by the teacher</li> <li>suggest to my teacher a project that I feel demonstrates what I have learned</li> <li>make choices of what I learn about in class</li> <li>make choices of what I do in class</li> </ul>
Weekly use of cooperative learning strategies	<ul><li>On a weekly basis,</li><li>I work in cooperative learning groups.</li><li>My class uses learning groups.</li></ul>
<ul> <li>Never use interest centers/groups (a learning center based on student interest)</li> <li>Never use flexible grouping based on student interest</li> </ul>	Never allowed to work with other students who have interests similar to mine
Never use adults as mentors	Never work with mentors who share their interests
<ul> <li>At least monthly adjustment of the length of assignment according to student needs</li> <li>At least weekly adjustment of depth of content according to student needs</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>I work on the same assignment as everybody in the class on a daily basis</li> <li>I never receive different assignments from the other students in the class</li> </ul>
Lecture, direct instruction, and/or discussion with the class as a whole used on a daily basis	<ul> <li>Daily the teacher lectures</li> <li>Daily note-taking occurs while the teacher lectures</li> </ul>

Table 65 (continued)

<u>Middle School Classrooms: Teachers' Practices and Similar Students' Perceptions of</u> <u>Those Practices as Reported by the Majority of Teachers and Students</u>

Teachers' reported practices	Student perceptions
<ul> <li>PREASSESSMENT</li> <li>Monthly use of a pre-test</li> <li>Weekly use of example activities</li> <li>Rarely have individual conferences</li> <li>Portfolios never used</li> <li>At least weekly observation of student responses and discussion</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>PREASSESSMENT</li> <li>Monthly use of pre-test</li> <li>Weekly gives me example activities</li> <li>Never has an individual conference</li> <li>Never reviews my portfolio</li> <li>Daily looks at my performance in classroom activities</li> </ul>
Textbooks important in determining the content taught	<ul> <li>The lessons and material the teacher chooses seem to come right from the textbook</li> <li>The teacher always teaches material so I can pass the end of unit/chapter tests</li> </ul>
Individual achievement relative to the rest of the class somewhat important when grading	How I do compared to other students in my class is only somewhat important
Individual improvement/progress over last grading period is important when grading	My individual improvement or progress over the last grading period is very important
Student effort is extremely important when grading	How hard I work in class is very important in determining my grade
<ul> <li>How often are criteria for grades in your classroom determined by the following factors?</li> <li>The teacher - often</li> <li>Students - sometimes</li> <li>Teacher and students together - sometimes</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>How often do the following statements about grading apply to your class?</li> <li>The teacher <i>sometimes</i> decides how we will be graded but doesn't share this with students</li> <li>Teacher and students together <i>never</i> determine how assignments or projects will be graded</li> <li>The students alone <i>never</i> decide how they will be graded</li> </ul>

# <u>Middle School Classrooms: Teachers' Practices and Dissimilar Students' Perceptions of Those Practices as Reported by the Majority of Teachers and Students</u>

Teachers' reported practices	Student perceptions
Learning contracts are never used	At least weekly I work alone on an individual contract or independent study
Use peers as tutors used at least weekly	I never teach other students
Weekly the whole group works on the same seat work	I work on the same assignment as everybody in the class daily.
At least monthly use of individual students working on independent assignments	<ul> <li>I work on the same assignment as everybody in the class on a daily basis</li> <li>I never receive different assignments from the other students in the class</li> <li>At least weekly I work alone on an individual contract or independent study</li> </ul>
At least monthly observation of student performance on project or product as a preassessment strategy	At least weekly the teacher looks at performance on project I completed as a preassessment strategy
Student questions/interests are important in determining the content they teach	<ul> <li>I never have choices of what I learn about in class</li> <li>I never have choices of what I do in class</li> <li>What I learn about in class is based on my interests only <i>sometimes</i></li> <li>Activities I do in class are based on my interests only <i>sometimes</i></li> </ul>

Teachers' responses also reflected the student responses regarding typical instructional practice in all subject area classrooms. The majority of teachers reported using learning contracts less than once per year and using independent studies only twice a year or less. Teachers also indicated using lecture, whole group and small heterogeneous groups working on the same assignment at least weekly, while individuals and small heterogeneous groups working on different assignments and small homogeneous groups working on the same assignment were used less often.

Students from all areas reported that teachers used example activities and performance on classroom activities to assess what they already knew prior to instruction at least weekly. However, the majority of students reported that they were never allowed to skip an assignment because they already knew the material, never received different materials or assignments from other students, and were never allowed choices in selecting a project or class work. Teachers agreed with students on the type of preassessment strategies used and the frequency of their use. Teachers also reported they never or rarely used student choices with advanced learners or struggling learners. However, teachers indicated they used varying materials based on students reading level, and adjusted the time, length, or depth of the assignment at least monthly for both groups of learners.

Students in all areas reported they were often or always able to keep up with the instruction and assignments. The majority of students reported the teacher often or always taught material so they could pass the end of chapter tests, and nearly half of the students reported lessons were often or always based directly on the textbook. Additionally, students indicated rarely or never were their interests considered in what they learned or activities they did, nor were they allowed choices about what they learn. Teachers agreed that the textbook was frequently used, however, in contrast to student responses, teachers believed students' interests were addressed. The majority of teachers indicated textbooks and student questions and interests were important or extremely important in determining the content they taught.

Most students agreed or strongly agreed they worked well independently; worked best for a grade, an honor, or a privilege; showed their best learning when they did a project or took multiple choice tests. In addition, students agreed or strongly agreed they preferred learning activities that would aid them in remembering information for later testing times, as well as activities where new, creative or very different ideas are encouraged, listened to, and discussed. Students in all content areas agreed or strongly agreed they were learning things that were important to them, they were working to their potential, and they preferred to work with students who shared similar interests. Furthermore, students agreed or strongly agreed they liked the opportunity to revise their work before the final grade, there was more to a subject than getting the right answer, but the teacher tended to think that there was a best way to answer a question. Teacher responses suggested there was not a match between the student's preferred learning style and the teaching style. In contrast to student preferences, teachers indicated rarely or never using flexible grouping based on student interest with advanced learners, and only sometimes with struggling learners. Teachers reported using projects to assess student achievement twice a month or less. Teachers also reported inconsistent use of multiple choice items, with 50% indicating using these items sometimes to never, while the other 50% used multiple choice items often or always.

The majority of students reported that the teacher was often or always the decision maker when it came to grades. However, a large percentage of students indicated the teacher in some instances clearly explained the grading criteria. Students from all areas indicated tests, assignments, projects, hard work, and individual improvement were all very important in determining their grade. In addition, students reported how they did compared to other students was not important. Teacher responses on grading issues tended to agree with the student responses. The majority of teachers reported themselves sole decision maker when it came to grades. Teachers also indicated tests, projects, homework, class participation and individual improvement were all

important or extremely important in determining grades. However, teachers reported effort was extremely important, while how the student did compared to the rest of the class was only somewhat important.

#### Discussion

The survey yielded large amounts of data concerning teachers' beliefs and practices prior to the implementation of the project's interventions as well as students' perceptions of their classrooms prior to and after implementation of treatments. The results provide a glimpse into what change agent's face when entering what appear to be typical middle school classrooms.

While the survey used for the intervention project was based on the national survey conducted in 1995, there were modifications to the survey that dealt specifically with the interventions of the feasibility of high-end learning study. This section will compare this project's middle school teachers' responses with the results obtained in the earlier NRC/GT study looking at academic diversity as well as other interesting and unique findings concerning teachers' classroom practices for the intervention study.

As in the earlier study, "positive" beliefs and practices are considered to be those that: (a) reflect an awareness of and sensitivity to differences in students' academic profiles; (b) demonstrate modifications in curriculum and instruction responsive to student differences in readiness, interest, and/or learning profiles; and (c) enhance the likelihood of curriculum and instruction responsive to academically diverse middle learners (Moon et al., 1995).

Conversely, beliefs and practices are considered negative if they (a) reflect lack of awareness of or sensitivity to differences in students' academic profiles; (b) are indicative of one-size-fits-all instruction in which most/all students are expected to complete the same learning tasks, presented in the same way, and over the same time span; and (c) diminish the likelihood of curriculum and instruction responsive to academically diverse middle school learners (Moon et al., 1995).

#### **Comparison With the 1995 Study Findings**

There appear to be several areas in which the current study's findings replicate what was previously found in the 1995 NRC/GT study. Consistent with the 1995 study findings, teachers report that learning contracts, tiered assignments, advanced organizers, computer programs focusing on basic skills or advanced understanding, curriculum compacting, learning centers, flexible grouping, or interest centers are rarely used in their middle school classrooms. Teachers in the current study also indicate that these options are not used with either advanced learners or struggling learners.

In contrast to the 1995 study findings, state curriculum standards, local curriculum guides, and key concepts and principles of core disciplines are considered the

three most important factors in determining instructional content taught by teachers. Previously, the 1995 study findings indicated state programs as having little influence on the delivery of instructional content. Instead focusing on complex open-ended questions and student questions and choices were the most important factors in determining content, with state curriculum standards and testing programs regarded as least important. Perhaps the findings of the current study reflect more of the national level initiatives focused on high academic standards and state tests that assess these standards.

In the 1995 study findings, teachers indicated that remedial learners had the most influence on their instructional decision-making, followed by gifted learners, special education learners, and culturally diverse learners. For this study, findings indicate that teachers consider the whole class as a single unit first, followed by average learners, learners with disabilities, gifted learners, and remedial learners, with culturally diverse learners rarely receiving consideration in making instructional decisions.

#### **Unique Findings From the Current Study**

Because of the nature of the interventions being implemented several areas were investigated with participating middle schools that were not considered in the 1995 national study. This section of the monograph will provide highlights from these unique areas.

The majority of teachers report using example activities and observations to modify the content of activities, types of products required of students, and student grouping arrangements; yet a large portion of teachers also indicate never tailoring an assignment for students or varying materials based on student readiness levels. Instead, lecture, direct instruction to the whole class using the state standards and local curriculum guides, is the predominant reported modality of teaching (46% daily; 98% at least weekly).

Teachers also indicate that lack of planning time, concerns about classroom management, and the range of student academic diversity are factors that hinder them in differentiating instruction. Lack of planning time and availability of assessment materials are factors a large portion of teachers considers as hindrances in implementing authentic assessments. State and district mandates are considered neither hindering nor helpful in differentiating instruction or implementing authentic assessments.

#### **Students' Perceptions of Their Classrooms**

In agreement with the teachers' responses, students indicated that more informal methods of pre-assessment (e.g., example activities, observations) rather than formal methods (e.g., pre-tests, individual conferences) were used as common pre-assessment techniques. Students also indicated, consistent with teachers' responses, that the instructional content of their classes was textbook driven and focused on student success for more formal assessments (e.g., end-of-unit tests, standardized tests). Students also indicated whole group instruction supported by note taking and all students working on

the same assignment as the predominant format of their classrooms. As one student aptly put it in the larger study when being interviewed about typical days:

You sit down and everybody is talking to each other until the bell rings. When the bell rings, he [teacher] shuts the door and you have to be quiet. He tells us what we are going to do for the rest of the day or the rest of the period. He gives us, like say, the lesson plan and then he gives us the worksheet and we do that and turn it in. If we are watching a movie it's all quiet and he makes us take notes on the movie and he always puts things up on the overhead and everybody is quiet and we have to copy what is on the overhead down on a sheet of paper. Other than that, it's pretty much the same: worksheets and copying notes. (Student interview, Y3, #3, p. 5)

#### Conclusions

Although this study provides only a glimpse into teachers' classrooms, several conclusions seem warranted.

- There appears to be room for improvement in developing teachers' skills in addressing academic diversity in middle school classrooms.
- Teachers' make little use of strategies (instructional or structural) that would enable the academic diversity of students to be better addressed.
- The influence of accountability through curriculum standards and testing programs appears to negatively effect teachers' willingness to or ability to acknowledge and address the academic diversity of middle school learners.

The degree that teachers' practices are narrow in scope at the pre-assessment, formative and summative phases of instruction have a strong hold and are persuasive in the school environment which may in fact be one of the biggest obstacles in moving teachers toward addressing academic diversity. Results from this study suggest that teachers practice traditional schooling that should be questioned and re-examined prior to them being able to consider an educational innovation such as differentiation of instruction and/or the use of differentiated authentic assessments for addressing the varying levels of student academic diversity in the middle school classroom. However, with the current emphasis on student achievement and the endorsement of differentiation in *Turning Points 2000: Educating Adolescents in the 21st Century* (Jackson & Davis, 2000), it is possible that middle schools will begin to make significant curricular modifications to address diversity in the classroom.

#### References

- Ames, N. L. (1998). *Middle-grades curriculum, instruction, and assessment*. Paper presented for the Office of Educational Research and Improvement on Early Adolescence, Washington, DC.
- Argetsinger, A. (1999, April 28). Maryland panel rethinks middle schools. *Washington Post*, p. B1.
- Beane, J. A. (1999). Middle schools under siege: Points of attack. *Middle School Journal*, 30(4), 3-9.
- Beane, J. A. (2001). Reform and reinvention. In T. S. Dickenson (Ed.), *Reinventing the middle school* (pp. xiiv-xxii). New York: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Brandt, R. (1998). *Powerful learning*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Callahan, C. M., Tomlinson, C. A., Moon, T. R., Brighton, C. M., & Hertberg, H. L. (in preparation). *Feasibility of high-end learning in the diverse middle school.*
- Callahan, C. M., Tomlinson, C. A., Reis, S. N., & Kaplan, S. N. (2000). TIMSS and high ability students: Message of doom or opportunity for reflection? *Phi Delta Kappan*, *81*, 787-790.
- Carnegie Council on Adolescent Development. (1989). *Turning points: Preparing American youth for the 21st century* (Abridged Version). Washington, DC: Author.
- Clark, D. C., & Clark, S. N. (2000). Developmentally responsive curriculum and standards-based reform: Implications for middle level principals. *NASSP Bulletin*, 84(615), 1-13.
- Clark, S., & Clark, D. (1993). Middle level school reform: The rhetoric and the reality. *Elementary School Journal*, *93*, 447-460.
- Council of Chief State School Officers. (2000). State student assessment programs annual survey, Spring 2001. Washington, DC: Author.
- Dickenson, T. S. (2001). Reinventing the middle school. New York: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Erickson, H. L. (1998). Concept-based curriculum and instruction: Teaching beyond the facts. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.

- Felner, R., Jackson, A. W., Kasak, D., Mulhall, P., Brand, S., & Flowers, N. (1997). The impact of school reform for the middle years. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 78, 528-32, 541-50.
- Gallagher, J., Harradine, C. C., & Coleman, M. R. (1997). Challenge or boredom? Gifted students' views on their schooling. *Roeper Review*, 19, 132-136.
- George, P. S. (2001). The evolution of middle schools. *Educational Leadership*, 58(4), 40-44.
- Goldsmith, L. T., & Kantrov, I. (2000). Evaluating middle grades curricula for high standards of learning and performance. *NASSP Bulletin*, 84(615), 30-39.
- Jackson, A. W., & Davis, G. A. (2000). *Turning points 2000: Educating adolescents in the 21st century*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Kulik, J. A., & Kulik, C. C. (1997). Ability grouping. In N. Colangelo & G. A. Davis (Eds), *Handbook of gifted education* (pp. 54-66). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Lando, B. Z., & Schneider, B. H. (1997). Intellectual contributions and mutual support among developmentally advanced children in homogeneous and heterogeneous work/discussion groups. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 41, 44-57.
- Lee, V. E., Smith, J. B., Perry, T. E., & Smylie, M. A. (1999). Social support, academic press, and student achievement: A view from the middle grades in Chicago. Improving Chicago's schools. A report of the Chicago Annenberg research project. Chicago: Consortium on Chicago School Research.
- Lipsitz, J., Jackson, A. W., & Austin, L. M. (1997). What works on middle-grades school reform. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 78, 517-19.
- Lipsitz, J., Mizell, M. H., Jackson, A. W., & Austin, L. M. (1997). Speaking with one voice: A manifesto for middle-grades reform. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 78, 533-540.
- Maker, C. J., & Nielson, A. B. (1995). *Curriculum development and teaching strategies* for gifted learners (2nd ed.). Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.
- Manning, M. L. (2000). Child-centered middle schools: A position paper. Association for Childhood Education International, 76, 154-59.
- McEwin, K., Dickinson, T., & Jenkins, D. (1996). *America's middle schools: Practices* and progress. A 25-year perspective. Columbus, OH: National Middle School Association.
- Midgley, C., & Edelin, K. C. (1998). Middle school reform and early adolescent wellbeing: The good news and the bad. *Educational Psychologist*, *33*, 195-206.

- Moon. T., Tomlinson, C. A., & Callahan, C. M. (1995). Academic diversity in the middle school: Results of a national survey of middle school administrators and teachers. (Research Monograph 95124). Storrs, CT: The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented, University of Connecticut.
- National Middle School Association. (1995). *This we believe: Developmentally responsive middle schools.* Westerville, OH: Author.
- Peterson, D. W. (2001, January). *On the road: In search of excellence in middle level education*. Paper presented at the Annual Winter Workshop of the Minnesota Association of Secondary School Principals, Minneapolis, MN.
- Plucker, J. A., & McIntire, J. (1996). Academic survivability in high-potential, middle school students. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 40, 7-14.
- Rogers, K. B. (1998). Using current research to make "good" decisions about grouping. *NASSP Bulletin*, 82(595), 38-46.
- Sapon-Shevin, M. (1996). Beyond gifted education: Building a shared agenda for school reform. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 19, 194-213.
- Stix, A. (2000). Bridging standards across the curriculum with portfolios. *Middle School Journal*, *32*(1), 15-25.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (1994). Gifted learners: The boomerang kids of middle school? *Roeper Review*, 16, 177-182.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2001). How to differentiate instruction in mixed-ability classrooms, (2nd ed.). Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Tucker, M. S., & Codding, J. B. (1998). Standards for our schools: How to set them, measure them, and reach them. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- VanTassel-Baska, J. (2000). Curriculum policy development for secondary gifted programs: A prescription for reform coherence. NASSP Bulletin, 84(615), 14-29.
- Westberg, K. L., Archambault, F. X., Dobyns, S. M., Salvin, T. J. (1993). The classroom practices observation study. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, *16*, 120-146.
- Wiggins, G., & McTighe, J. (1998). *Understanding by design*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Williamson, R. D., Johnston, J. H., & Kanthak, L. M. (1995). Agenda: The achievement agenda for middle level schools. *Schools in the Middle*, 5(2), 6-9.

# **Research Monograph**

The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented University of Connecticut 2131 Hillside Road Unit 3007 Storrs, CT 06269-3007 www.gifted.uconn.edu

> *Editor* E. Jean Gubbins

Production Assistant Siamak Vahidi

> *Reviewers* Scott Davie Christine Hill Susannah Richards

Also of Interest

State Policies Regarding Education of the Gifted as Reflected in Legislation and Regulation *A. Harry Passow and Rose A. Rudnitski* 

Residential Schools of Mathematics and Science for Academically Talented Youth: An Analysis of Admission Programs Fathi A. Jarwan and John F. Feldhusen

> The Status of Programs for High Ability Students Jeanne H. Purcell

Recognizing Talent: Cross-Case Study of Two High Potential Students With Cerebral Palsy Colleen Willard-Holt

The Prism Metaphor: A New Paradigm for Reversing Underachievement Susan M. Baum, Joseph S. Renzulli, and Thomas P. Hébert

## Also of interest from the Research Monograph Series

Attention Deficit Disorders and Gifted Students: What Do We Really Know? Felice Kaufmann, M. Layne Kalbfleisch, and F. Xavier Castellanos

Gifted African American Male College Students: A Phenomenological Study Fred A. Bonner, II

> Counseling Gifted and Talented Students Nicholas Colangelo

E. Paul Torrance: His Life, Accomplishments, and Legacy Thomas P. Hébert, Bonnie Cramond, Kristie L. Speirs Neumeister, Garnet Millar, and Alice F. Silvian

The Effects of Grouping and Curricular Practices on Intermediate Students' Math Achievement *Carol L. Tieso* 

Developing the Talents and Abilities of Linguistically Gifted Bilingual Students: Guidelines for Developing Curriculum at the High School Level *Claudia Angelelli, Kerry Enright, and Guadalupe Valdés* 

Development of Differentiated Performance Assessment Tasks for Middle School Classrooms Tonya R. Moon, Carolyn M. Callahan, Catherine M. Brighton, and Carol A. Tomlinson

Society's Role in Educating Gifted Students: The Role of Public Policy James J. Gallagher



The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented Research Teams

#### University of Connecticut

Dr. Joseph S. Renzulli, Director Dr. E. Jean Gubbins, Associate Director Dr. Sally M. Reis, Associate Director University of Connecticut 2131 Hillside Road Unit 3007 Storrs, CT 06269-3007 860-486-4676

Dr. Del Siegle

#### University of Virginia

Dr. Carolyn M. Callahan, Associate Director Curry School of Education University of Virginia P.O. Box 400277 Charlottesville, VA 22904-4277 804-982-2849

Dr. Mary Landrum Dr. Tonya Moon Dr. Carol A. Tomlinson Dr. Catherine M. Brighton Holly L. Hertberg

#### Yale University

Dr. Robert J. Sternberg, Associate Director Yale University Center for the Psychology of Abilities, Competencies, and Expertise 340 Edwards Street, P.O. Box 208358 New Haven, CT 06520-8358

Dr. Elena L. Grigorenko